

University of Kentucky UKnowledge

University of Kentucky Doctoral Dissertations

Graduate School

2009

INSIGHTS INTO EXPRESSION, CELLULAR LOCALIZATION, AND REGULATION OF SUPERNATANT PROTEIN FACTOR, A PUTATIVE REGULATOR OF CHOLESTEROL BIOSYNTHESIS

Elzbieta Ilona Stolarczyk University of Kentucky, estol2@email.uky.edu

Click here to let us know how access to this document benefits you.

Recommended Citation

Stolarczyk, Elzbieta Ilona, "INSIGHTS INTO EXPRESSION, CELLULAR LOCALIZATION, AND REGULATION OF SUPERNATANT PROTEIN FACTOR, A PUTATIVE REGULATOR OF CHOLESTEROL BIOSYNTHESIS" (2009). University of Kentucky Doctoral Dissertations. 696. https://uknowledge.uky.edu/gradschool_diss/696

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate School at UKnowledge. It has been accepted for inclusion in University of Kentucky Doctoral Dissertations by an authorized administrator of UKnowledge. For more information, please contact UKnowledge@lsv.uky.edu.

ABSTRACT OF DISSERTATION

Elzbieta Ilona Stolarczyk

The Graduate School University of Kentucky 2009

INSIGHTS INTO EXPRESSION, CELLULAR LOCALIZATION, AND REGULATION OF SUPERNATANT PROTEIN FACTOR, A PUTATIVE REGULATOR OF CHOLESTEROL BIOSYNTHESIS

ABSTRACT OF DISSERTATION

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in The Graduate School at the University of Kentucky

> By Elzbieta Ilona Stolarczyk

Lexington, Kentucky

Director: Dr. Todd D. Porter, Associate Professor, Pharmaceutical Sciences

2009

Copyright © Elzbieta Ilona Stolarczyk 2009

ABSTRACT OF DISSERTATION

INSIGHTS INTO EXPRESSION, CELLULAR LOCALIZATION, AND REGULATION OF SUPERNATANT PROTEIN FACTOR, A PUTATIVE REGULATOR OF CHOLESTEROL BIOSYNTHESIS

SPF (Supernatant Protein Factor) is a cytosolic protein that stimulates at least two enzymes in the cholesterol biosynthetic pathway: squalene monooxygenase and HMG-CoA reductase. The mechanism of action has not been established but may be related to lipid transfer between intracellular membranes.

There are three human genes for SPF: SEC14L2 (SPF1), SEC14L3 (SPF2) and SEC14L4 (SPF3). The present study differentiates these closely related genes by evaluating their tissue-specific and relative expression levels. SPF1 mRNA was found to be most abundant in liver, mammary gland and stomach. SPF2 showed negligible expression in all tissues tested; SPF3 expression pattern was similar to that of SPF1, but at 10-50-fold lower levels than SPF1.

A cDNA to SPF3 was cloned and, upon transfection into rat hepatoma cells, was shown to increase cholesterol synthesis by approximately 50%, similar to that obtained with SPF1. However, in contrast to SPF1, SPF3 did not stimulate squalene monooxygenase activity in microsomal preparations, suggesting that it acts primarily through activation of HMG-CoA reductase.

SPF possesses a lipid binding domain (Sec14) and a Golgi dynamics domain (GOLD). SPF resides in the cytosol and requires phosphorylation and the presence of Golgi in order to stimulate cholesterol synthesis. To determine if SPF associates with specific subcellular structures, cellular immunofluorescence studies were carried out. A phosphorylation-defective mutant, a protein lacking the GOLD domain, and the effect of protein kinase A-mediated phosphorylation of endogenous SPF were examined. No change in the subcellular location of SPF could be detected with either the phosphorylation mutant or the native SPF after protein kinase A activation. However, removal of the GOLD domain resulted in a protein that co-localized with large vesicular structures around nucleus.

Studies with rat hepatoma cells showed that the expression of the two rat SPF genes is upregulated in response to serum deprivation, and is potentiated by removal of glucose. Lipid/cholesterol availability was demonstrated to be at least one of the serum components that affected SPF transcript levels. The oxysterol receptor LXR was shown not to be involved in SPF gene regulation, implicating SREBP and/or PPAR α as the principal regulators of SPF gene transcription.

KEYWORDS: Supernatant Protein Factor, Cholesterol, Lipid Binding Domain, Golgi Dynamics Domain, Immunofluorescence

Elzbieta Stolarczyk

February 4, 2009

INSIGHTS INTO EXPRESSION, CELLULAR LOCALIZATION, AND REGULATION OF SUPERNATANT PROTEIN FACTOR, A PUTATIVE REGULATOR OF CHOLESTEROL BIOSYNTHESIS

Ву

Elzbieta Ilona Stolarczyk

Director of Dissertation

Dr. Todd Porter

Director of Graduate Studies

Dr. Janice Buss

February 4, 2009

RULES FOR THE USE OF DISSERTATIONS

Unpublished dissertations submitted for the Doctor's degree and deposited in the University of Kentucky Library are as a rule open for inspection, but are to be used only with due regard to the rights of the authors. Bibliographical references may be noted, but quotations or summaries of parts may be published only with the permission of the author, and with the usual scholarly acknowledgments.

Extensive copying or publication of the dissertation in whole or in part also requires the consent of the Dean of the Graduate School of the University of Kentucky.

A library that borrows this dissertation for use by its patrons is expected to secure the signature of each user.

<u>NAME</u>

<u>DATE</u>

DISSERTATION

Elzbieta Ilona Stolarczyk

The Graduate School University of Kentucky 2009

INSIGHTS INTO EXPRESSION, CELLULAR LOCALIZATION, AND REGULATION OF SUPERNATANT PROTEIN FACTOR, A PUTATIVE REGULATOR OF CHOLESTEROL BIOSYNTHESIS

DISSERTATION

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in The Graduate School at the University of Kentucky

> By Elzbieta Ilona Stolarczyk

Lexington, Kentucky

Director: Dr. Todd D. Porter, Associate Professor, Pharmaceutical Sciences

Lexington, Kentucky

2009

Copyright © Elzbieta Ilona Stolarczyk 2009

For My Friend Luis Hedian

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The following dissertation, while an individual work, benefited from the insights and direction of several people.

First, I would like to thank my mentor, Dr. Todd Porter, for his guidance and support throughout my doctoral work. He patiently provided the vision, encouragement and advice necessary for me to proceed through the doctoral program and complete my dissertation. Dr. Porter continually stimulated me to develop independent thinking and research skills, and greatly assisted me with writing. I would especially like to thank him for sharing his optimism and positive outlook, which I often lacked, and without which completion of my dissertation would be impossible. I am confident that I will continue to benefit from his influence in my career and personal life.

Next, I wish to thank the members of my dissertation committee, Dr. Daniel Tai, Dr. Peter Wedlund and Dr. Mariana Nikolova-Karakashian for their support and helpful suggestions throughout my studies. I would also like to thank Dr. Douglas Andres for agreeing to be my outside examiner for my dissertation defense.

Special thanks to Dr. Gregory Graf who has provided helpful insights as well as technical assistance critical for completing my research project.

In addition, I would like to thank Dr. Dejan Nikolic and my current and former colleagues in Dr. Porter's and Graf's laboratories: Dr. Lee Elmore, Dr. Li Li, Subhashis Banerjee, Nadezhda Sabeva and Eric Rouse for their technical assistance, support and friendship.

Finally, I would like to thank my family and friends for their faith in me and continuous support during my doctoral studies.

iii

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	111
LIST OF TABLES	VII
LIST OF FIGURES	VIII
CHAPTER 1 : INTRODUCTION	1
Why is cholesterol important?	1
Cholesterol biosynthetic pathway	
Stimulatory effect of supernatant fluid on cholesterol biosynthesis	6
Structural features of SPF	7
Three human SPF genes	11
Stimulation of HMG-CoA Reductase by SPF	11
Requirement for Golgi in SPF function	12
SPF activation by phosphorylation	13
Dose response curve for SPF	13
SPF-null mice	14
Possible Ligands for SPF	15
SPF and Vitamin E	15
A role for SPF in cancer	18
CHAPTER 2 : TISSUE-SPECIFIC EXPRESSION OF THREE HUMAN SPF HOMOLOGS	19
INTRODUCTION	19
MATERIALS AND METHODS	22
Cloning of cDNAs to SPF2 and SPF3	22
Multiple Tissue cDNA Panels	24
Multiple Tissue Expression Arrays	25
RT-PCR analysis of relative expression levels	26
RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	29
Sequence Alignments	29
Cloning of SPF2 and SPF3 cDNAs	36
Multiple Tissue cDNA Panels	36
Multiple Tissue Expression arrays	39

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER 3 : ABILITY OF THE SPF3 PROTEIN TO STIMULATE CHOLESTEROL SYNTHESIS 53

INTRODUCTION	53
MATERIALS AND METHODS Recombinant Protein Expression and Purification	55 55
Squalene monooxygenase assay	56
Cell culture	57
Transfections	57
Cholesterol synthesis assay	57
RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	59
Expression and purification of human recombinant SPF1 and SPF3 proteins	59
Stimulation of squalene monooxygenase activity by SPF3	60
Stimulation of cholesterol synthesis in rat nepatoma cells	62
CHAPTER 4 : INTRACELLULAR LOCALIZATION OF HUMAN SPF PROTEIN	71
INTRODUCTION	71
MATERIALS AND METHODS	75
Site directed mutagenesis by overlap-extension PCR	75
Cell culture	75
Plasmid transfections	75
Immunofluorescence	76
Isolation of primary hepatocytes	76
RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	78
Site-directed mutagenesis of SPF	78
Cellular localization of heterologously expressed SPF protein	79
Antibody specific for SPF protein	85
CHAPTER 5 : REGULATION OF SPF EXPRESSION IN RAT HEPATOMA CELLS	91
INTRODUCTION	91
MATERIALS AND METHODS	94
Materials	94
Cell culture	94
RT-PCR	94
RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	96
CHAPTER 6 : SUMMARY OF RESEARCH	102
REFERENCES	108

VITA11	12
--------	----

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1: Oligonucleotide probes used for hybridization to MTE arrays with their	
hybridization temperatures	26
Table 2.2: Gene-specific primers used in the MTC-PCR experiments	37
Table 2.3: Positioning and amount of all polyA+ RNAs loaded on Multiple Tissue	
Expression blots	45
Table 5.1: Gene-specific primers used in real-time PCR	95

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1: Cholesterol biosynthetic pathway
Figure 1.2: Conserved domains of SPF protein7
Figure 1.3: Crystal structure of human supernatant protein factor as a ribbon diagram8
Figure 1.4: Schematic representation of a few proteins from the Sec14 protein family. 10
Figure 1.5: Chemical structures of tocopherols and tocotrienols
Figure 2.1: Human SPF and SPF-like proteins
Figure 2.2: Cloning scheme for the pTYB11 Real1, Real2, and Real3 templates27
Figure 2.3: Multiple sequence alignment of the three human SPF mRNAs (sections 1-52).
Figure 2.4: Specificity of the SPF primers
Figure 2.5: PCR screen on Multiple Tissue cDNA panels for expression of SPF1, 2 and 3.
Figure 2.6: Human SPF1 tissue specific expression
Figure 2.7: Human SPF2 tissue specific expression
Figure 2.8: Human SPF3 tissue specific expression
Figure 2.9: Template for RT-PCR Standard Curve
Figure 2.10: Standard curves generated for each SPF separately from the same
template
Figure 2.11: Specificity of SPF primers used for RT-PCR
Figure 2.12 Relative expression levels of the three SPF transcripts in liver, stomach and
mammary gland, as determined from the RT-PCR experiments
Figure 3.1: SDS-gel electrophoresis of recombinant SPF1 and SPF3 proteins
Figure 3.2: Squalene monooxygenase activity in the presence of recombinant SPF1 and
SPF3
Figure 3.3: Detection of SPF1 and SPF3 proteins with rabbit Sec14l2 antibody

Figure 3.4: Stimulation of cholesterol synthesis in rat hepatoma cells upon transfection	
with SPF1/3 expression plasmids6	64
Figure 3.5: Expression levels of SPF1 and SPF3 in transfected rat hepatoma cells 6	57
Figure 3.6: Transfection efficiency of SPF1 and SPF3 expression plasmids as determined	
by immunofluorescent staining6	58
Figure 3.7: Specific activity of SPF1 and SPF3 proteins to stimulate cholesterol synthesis	•
	;9
Figure 4.1: Scheme for insertion of the HA tag into the SPF plasmids7	'9
Figure 4.2: SPF1-HA protein expressed in McARH7777 cells	0
Figure 4.3: SPF1-HA protein expressed in McARH7777 cells, treated with dbcAMP and	
brefeldin A 8	32
Figure 4.4: SPF1 and it mutants expressed in McARH7777 cells	\$4
Figure 4.5: Affinity-purified chicken SPF antibody shows significant background in	
immunofluorescent staining8	6
Figure 4.6: SPF protein is present in rat and mouse liver cytosol	57
Figure 4.7: Endogenous mouse SPF protein (red) localizes to the cytosol	8
Figure 4.8: SPF protein localizes to cytosol in mouse primary hepatocytes and does not	
relocate in response to various treatments	9
Figure 5.1: Serum removal results in an increase in the expression of SPF proteins in rat	
hepatoma cells; this effect is potentiated by removal of glucose	17
Figure 5.2: Effect of delipidated serum on HMG-CoA reductase and SPF gene expression	۱.
9	18
Figure 5.3: Sterol supplementation decreases SPF expression	19
Figure 5.4: LXR ligand does not change the effect of serum and glucose removal on SPF	
expression	00

Chapter 1 : INTRODUCTION

Why is cholesterol important?

It has been proposed that the availability of molecular oxygen gave rise to eukaryotic life and significantly impacted the evolution of species ¹. Konrad Bloch, who was awarded a Nobel prize for delineating the enzymatic steps in the cholesterol biosynthetic pathway, showed that it was very unlikely for squalene to become cyclized to lanosterol without molecular oxygen and even less likely for subsequent conversion of lanosterol to cholesterol¹. Therefore it has been postulated that availability of molecular oxygen made the synthesis of cholesterol possible. Bloch, impressed with the particular sequence of systematic enzymatically controlled reactions following cyclization of squalene to lanosterol, proposed that evolutionary pressure demanded the formation of cholesterol to satisfy the physical requirements of plasma membranes In fact, the influence of various sterols on membrane in eukaryotic cells. "microviscosity" was examined in vitro and a systematic increase in membrane microviscosity was found progressing from lanosterol to cholesterol¹. It was also postulated that certain membrane-related events unique to eukaryotes, such as endoand exo-cytosis, became possible due to the appearance of cholesterol. Taken together, cholesterol is viewed as a crucial molecule in the evolution of membranes and, moreover, eukaryotic life ^{1; 2}.

Cholesterol markedly influences plasma membrane thermomechanical properties ². As an amphipathic molecule, cholesterol is able to intercalate into the lipid bilayer with its small hydrophilic head group and increase lipid order in fluid membranes to maintain fluidity and alter the phase transition. Cholesterol also increases bilayer thickness and

1

decreases membrane permeability. Cholesterol also plays an important role in lateral organization of the membrane by formation of lipid rafts, which are areas of specific lipid-protein composition involved in signal transduction. The cholesterol molecule itself is involved in cellular signaling, in that certain proteins respond to cholesterol levels through their sterol sensing domains, to influence cholesterol synthesis and metabolism². In addition, early in development certain signaling molecules from the Hedgehog family of morphogens are covalently modified by cholesterol.

A variety of physiologically important molecules are derived from cholesterol: Vitamin D, which maintains calcium homeostasis; bile acids, which are necessary for solubilization and absorption of dietary fats; sex steroids responsible for sexual differentiation and maintenance of reproductive functions; and the hormones of the adrenal cortex: mineralocorticoids, involved in salt and water homeostasis, and glucocorticoids, regulators of growth, metabolism, and the response to stress and inflammation.

Apart from cholesterol, some intermediates of the pathway serve as precursors for the synthesis of various non-steroidal isoprenoids. For example, farnesyl or geranylgeranyl groups anchor certain proteins to the membrane (Ras, Rho, Rab etc.); dolichol takes part in glycoprotein synthesis; and ubiquinone and heme A are constituents of the respiratory chain complexes.

In higher eukaryotes cholesterol is either synthesized in cells, with liver and intestine being major sites of production, or is absorbed in the gut from food. Blood transports cholesterol in the form of lipoprotein particles. Cholesterol absorbed from food is transported from the small intestine to peripheral tissues and ultimately the liver as chylomicron particles. Exogenous and newly synthesized cholesterol constitutes the liver's pool of cholesterol. Hepatocytes utilize cholesterol by incorporating it into the plasma membrane and for bile acid synthesis. Free cholesterol is esterified, packaged into VLDL particles and secreted into the bloodstream. In blood, VLDL particles are reduced to more dense LDL particles and in this form cholesterol is distributed throughout the body. In peripheral tissues cholesterol is taken up by cells via LDL or scavenger receptors. Cells incorporate it into the plasma membrane and may use it for the synthesis of steroid hormones. Excess cholesterol is incorporated into HDL lipoproteins and for transport back to the liver. The liver is able to take up all lipoprotein particles: chylomicrons, LDL and HDL. Bile acids produced in the liver are secreted into the bile and stored in the gallbladder to be released into intestine to solubilize dietary lipids. Bile acids are then either reabsorbed and returned to liver or excreted. Excretion of bile acids is the only route of cholesterol removal from the organism.

Maintenance of a balanced lipid profile is crucial for health. Elevated levels of LDL and low level of HDL lipoproteins are associated with atherosclerosis and coronary heart disease, a major cause of death in western societies.

Cholesterol biosynthetic pathway

The cholesterol biosynthetic pathway is of major importance for animal and human physiology. It gives rise to cholesterol, steroidal derivatives and non-steroidal isoprenoids.

Cholesterol synthesis occurs in eukaryotic cells from the two carbon molecule acetate, esterified to coenzyme A, in a series of condensation reactions. In cytosol three molecules of acetyl-CoA are condensed to form 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-CoA (HMG-CoA) which is then reduced to form mevalonate. This reduction is catalyzed by HMG-CoA reductase and it is the principal regulatory step in the pathway. Subsequently, mevalonate is phosphorylated to form several active intermediates and then decarboxylated to form the 5-carbon isoprenoid isopentenyl pyrophosphate (IPP). IPP is

in equilibrium with its isomer dimethylallyl pyrophosphate (DMPP) and these two molecules condense to form geranyl pyrophosphate (GPP). GPP condenses with another molecule of IPP to yield farnesyl pyrophosphate (FPP), a 15-carbon molecule. Squalene synthase then catalyzes the condensation of two FPP molecules to yield squalene, a 30-carbon molecule that is subsequently oxidized to 2,3-oxidosqualene by squalene monooxygenase in presence of molecular oxygen and NADPH. This epoxidation of squalene is the first oxygen-requiring step in cholesterol synthesis, and is followed by a cascade of electron shifts resulting in cyclization, all catalyzed by oxidosqualene cyclase and yielding the characteristic steroid ring structure: lanosterol. Conversion of lanosterol to cholesterol involves 19 steps, including a series of reduction and demethylation reactions, all taking place in the membranes of endoplasmic reticulum.



Figure 1.1: Cholesterol biosynthetic pathway.

Stimulatory effect of supernatant fluid on cholesterol biosynthesis

The first report on the ability of "supernatant fluid" (i.e., the 100,000 x g supernatant fraction of a tissue homogenate, equivalent to the cell cytosol) to activate the cyclization of squalene to lanosterol appeared during an investigation on cholesterol biosynthetic pathway in the Konrad Bloch laboratory³. This cyclization occurs in two steps; first squalene monooxygenase epoxidizes squalene to 2,3-oxidosqualene, followed by cyclization to lanosterol catalyzed by oxidosqualene cyclase ^{3; 4}. It was shown with microsomal assays that the liver 100,000 x g supernatant fraction stimulates membrane-bound squalene monooxygenase. Subsequently it was determined that this supernatant fraction provides two essential components, one heat-stable and one heatlabile ⁵. The heat-labile component proved to be a protein, which was purified and termed Supernatant Protein Factor (SPF). The heat-stable components of the supernate could be replaced by anionic phospholipids (phosphatidylinositol, phosphatidylserine, phosphatidylglycerol) and FAD ⁶. Solubilized squalene monooxygenase, while enzymatically active, did not respond to SPF and phospholipids, and therefore it was concluded that intact membrane is required to observe this stimulation. The apparent requirement for an intact membrane suggested a substrate- or product-carrier function for SPF, but binding to substrate (squalene) or product (2,3-oxidosqualene) could not be shown ⁷. Later it was found that SPF also stimulates the subsequent step, conversion of squalene 2,3-epoxide to lanosterol, mediated by oxidosqualene cyclase⁸. In this light, SPF seemed to influence intramembrane events rather than act as a carrier protein. Presumably, together with anionic phospholipids, SPF affects some membrane properties or membrane-associated events which influence the activity of these enzymes ⁹. In 1980 Friedlander et al. ¹⁰ demonstrated that SPF facilitates the intramembrane transfer of squalene in *in vitro* preparations. The mechanism by which this cytosolic protein directs movement of lipophilic substrate across or between

bilayers remained obscure, but it was proposed that it must involve direct interaction with the surface of another membrane or particle ¹⁰.

Structural features of SPF

In 2000 a novel human 'tocopherol-associated protein' (TAP) was cloned, expressed, and characterized ¹¹, soon after the cloning of human SPF was reported ^{12; 13}. It wasn't recognized until later that TAP and SPF are in fact the same entity ¹³. Supernatant Protein Factor/SEC14-like protein 2/Alpha-Tocopherol-Associated Protein (SPF/Sec14l2/TAP) is a 403-amino acid protein found in the cytosol of mammalian cells. The determination of the SPF primary sequence allowed for sequence comparison studies; a BLAST alignment with the database of known protein sequences revealed conserved domains within Sec14l2 protein (SPF) as depicted in the schematic figure below (Fig.1.2)



Figure 1.2: Conserved domains of SPF protein.

Soon after cloning and expression of SPF, the three-dimensional structure was published (Fig. 1.3.)¹⁴.



Figure 1.3: Crystal structure of human supernatant protein factor as a ribbon diagram. The lipid binding cavity is shown in grey, the CRAL/TRIO_N domain in navy, the Sec14 domain in turquoise-green, and the GOLD domain in yellow-orange (as on the scheme in Fig. 1.2). Taken from reference ¹⁴.

Further sequence alignments with the database found presumed homologues in several species and various proteins that share the same domains. There are three highly similar SPF proteins in the human genome: hSPF1 (TAP1, Sec14-like 2 protein), hSPF2 (TAP2, Sec14-like 3 protein), and hSPF3 (TAP3, Sec14-like 4 protein). Two proteins in the rat genome also show high similarity: rSPF (rSec14I2) and p45 (rSec14I3, rat SPF-like protein), a 45-kDa secretory protein from rat olfactory epithelium.

Sec14-like proteins were named after their main protein module: **Sec14 domain** (smart00516). Sec14 is a conserved domain known to bind small lipid molecules, including phosphatidylinositol, retinol, and α -tocopherol. This domain is found in a number of secretory proteins, such as *S. cerevisiae* phosphatidylinositol transfer protein

(Sec14p), and multiple lipid-regulated proteins: Cellular Retinal Binding Protein (CRALBP), Tocopherol Transfer Protein (α -TTP), RhoGAPs, RhoGEFs, PTPMEG2, and others. The Sec14 domain of PTPMEG2 was found to contain motifs necessary for targeting to the secretory vesicles ¹⁵, which might be an additional function besides lipid binding that this domain possesses. The all- α N-terminal portion of this domain was recently annotated in the NCBI database as a separate protein module: CRAL/TRIO N domain (pfam03765); this domain is absent in some members of the Sec14 family, such as CGR-1. The carboxy-terminal part of Sec14-like proteins contains a β -strand-rich protein module, named the GOLD domain (for Golgi Dynamics) (pfam01105). This domain is proposed to mediate protein-protein interactions. The GOLD domain of the GCP60 protein was shown to interact with Golgi residual protein giantin ¹⁶. It is the main domain of members of the emp24/gp25L/p24 family, which are proteins involved in Golgi processing and secretion. P24 proteins are critical components of coated vesicles, bringing cargo forward from the endoplasmic reticulum to the Golgi. The GOLD domain is always found combined with a lipid-binding domain (CRAL/TRIO, Sec14, or OxB) or with membrane-association domains (PH, FYVE) ¹⁷⁻¹⁹. Interestingly, a recently characterized CGR-1 protein from C. elegans is the only other known protein that, like the SPF proteins, contains both Sec14 and GOLD domains. CGR-1 positively regulates Ras signaling during *C. elegans* vulvae development²⁰.



Figure 1.4: Schematic representation of a few proteins from the Sec14 protein family.

The availability of the SPF nucleotide sequence facilitated the cloning of a cDNA to SPF and expression of the recombinant protein. Recombinant, bacterially expressed SPF was able to stimulate the transfer of squalene and activity of squalene monooxygenase in microsomal preparations ^{12; 21}. Hepatoma cells transfected with a plasmid carrying the SPF cDNA expressed the recombinant human protein and showed a 2-3 fold increase in cholesterol synthesis, extending earlier studies with purified proteins in reconstituted systems ^{12; 22}.

Three human SPF genes

As noted above, there are three highly similar genes encoding SPF-like proteins in the human genome: SPF1, SPF2 and SPF3. The degree of identity to SPF1 at the protein level is 77% for SPF2 and 70% for SPF3, as shown in Fig. 1.4. The degree of identity to SPF1 at the mRNA level is 66% for SPF2 and 59% for SPF3 (full alignment of these transcripts is shown in Fig. 2.1). The SPF protein that has been the most studied so far is SPF1 (NP_036561), also referred to as SEC14-like 2, tocopherol-associated protein (TAP), or simply SPF. Human SPF2 (NP_777635) is also called SEC14-like 3, and SPF3 (NP_777637.1) is SEC14-like 4.

Stimulation of HMG-CoA Reductase by SPF

Studies in the 1970's and 1980's indicated that SPF stimulated the conversion of squalene to lanosterol. This conversion can be broken down to epoxidation of squalene to 2,3-oxidosqualene catalyzed by squalene monooxygenase, and cyclization of oxidosqualene to lanosterol catalyzed by oxidosqualene cyclase. As mentioned earlier, SPF was shown to stimulate both enzymes. Later, studies with hepatoma cells transfected with SPF showed that the increase in cholesterol synthesis when measured with [¹⁴C]-mevalonate was less than that obtained with [¹⁴C]-acetate ²³. This unexpected finding suggested that part of the SPF stimulation was at or upstream of HMG-CoA reductase, the enzyme that generates mevalonate. To explore this possibility, terbinafine, an inhibitor of squalene monooxygenase, was used to block the conversion of squalene to cholesterol in SPF-transfected cells; under these conditions the synthesis of squalene was increased when measured from [¹⁴C]-acetate and was unchanged when measured with [¹⁴C]-mevalonate. This finding further indicated a stimulatory effect of

SPF on mevalonate synthesis. There are only 3 steps in the pathway between acetate and mevalonate: the condensation of two acetate molecules catalyzed by β ketothiolase, followed by synthesis of 3-hydroxy-3-methyl-glutaryl-CoA (HMG-CoA) by HMG-CoA synthase, and reduction of HMG-CoA mediated by HMG-CoA reductase. A stimulatory effect on HMG-CoA reductase was confirmed in microsomal assays by measurement of mevalonate synthesis from HMG-CoA in presence or absence of SPF protein ²³. Although it was not investigated if β -ketothiolase or HMG-CoA synthase is also affected by SPF, it was suggested that HMG-CoA reductase is the main target, as this is the main regulatory enzyme of the pathway ²³.

Requirement for Golgi in SPF function

Knowledge of SPF structural motifs has allowed for structure-function studies to be undertaken. Deletion of the GOLD domain resulted in a protein that was no longer able to stimulate cholesterol synthesis ²². The GOLD domain has been suggested to be involved in interaction with Golgi, and therefore it was argued that an interaction of SPF with Golgi was necessary for SPF stimulatory effect. This suggestion was supported by studies with brefeldin-A, which disrupts Golgi structures: The stimulatory effect of SPF on cholesterol synthesis was abolished when Golgi were disrupted with this agent ²². Moreover, washout of brefeldin-A, which allows for Golgi reassembly, resulted in a regain of SPF activity. This clearly demonstrated that SPF requires Golgi for its function, although the nature of the interaction between SPF and Golgi remains to be elucidated.

SPF activation by phosphorylation

It was observed in our laboratory that addition of ATP to microsomes increases the stimulatory effect of SPF on squalene monooxygenase ²¹. This finding was further explored by treatments with a variety of protein kinase inhibitors and protein kinases themselves. It was concluded that both protein kinase A and C are capable of SPF phosphorylation. Cell culture studies with dibutyryl-cAMP, a PKA stimulator, confirmed that SPF needs to be activated by PKA to achieve its full activity ²¹. Cell-permeable protein kinase A inhibitor 14-22 amide was further able to prevent this activation of SPF. Phosphorylation appeared to increase the SPF stimulation of both squalene monooxygenase and HMG–CoA reductase. Moreover, sequence analysis of SPF revealed the presence of a putative protein kinase A (PKA) phosphorylation site within the coding sequence. Substitution of the serine in position 289 with alanine resulted in a protein unable to stimulate cholesterol synthesis in cell culture when compared with wild-type protein ²².

Dose response curve for SPF

In vitro assays showed that the amount of SPF used in the assay is critical. SPF activity increases with an increase in the amount of protein present, reaching its maximum at 0.8 µg per incubation, and then quickly declining, resulting in total loss of stimulation. It was shown that the SPF activation curve is similar for both enzymes, squalene monooxygenase and HMG–CoA reductase.

These two observations of similar behavior of SPF led to the suggestion that the mechanism of stimulation is similar for both enzymes. Since SPF stimulates at least three enzymes, HMG-CoA reductase, squalene monooxygenase, and oxidosqualene

cyclase, it can be argued that the mechanism by which SPF acts is through a general, membrane-dependent event.

SPF-null mice

Despite the many possible roles for SPF in cellular and organismal biology, SPF (-/-) null mice did not show an abnormal phenotype, and developed normally ²⁴. Notably, plasma lipids levels were unchanged despite elevated levels of HMG-Co A synthase and squalene monooxygenase in liver. However, during fasting plasma cholesterol levels decreased significantly in SPF-null mice, but not in wild-type mice. Fasting decreased hepatic cholesterol synthesis in both wild-type and SPF-null animals, but with a greater reduction in SPF-null mice. The decrease in cholesterol synthesis during fasting was accompanied by a pronounced decrease in the expression of cholesterolgenic enzymes: HMG-CoA synthase, HMG-CoA reductase and squalene monooxygenase in both wild-type and SPF-null mice. Interestingly, in fasted wild-type mice, the expression of SPF mRNA and protein was elevated. Since PPARα is known to play a role in hepatic response to fasting ^{25, 26}, PPARα-null mice were subjected to fasting and did not show an increase in SPF expression during fasting is dependent on PPARα.

The data from SPF-null mice strongly suggests that SPF is upregulated upon fasting to compensate, at least partially, for the decrease in cholesterol synthesis. The reason for this compensatory increase is not apparent. Treatment with fibrates, which are PPAR α agonists, also resulted in upregulation of SPF protein expression. The same treatments in PPAR α -null mice did not elevate SPF, indicating a PPAR α dependency. Fibrates are used to lower plasma triglyceride levels; here it was shown that administration of fibrates to SPF-null mice resulted in significant reduction in plasma cholesterol levels as

well, suggesting that coadministration of a fibrate and an SPF antagonist, if one can be discovered, could be beneficial for improving the plasma lipids profile ²⁴.

Possible Ligands for SPF

Since SPF stimulates microsomal squalene monooxygenase and appears to promote intermembrane transfer of squalene, it was postulated early on that SPF is a squalene transfer protein. However, multiple attempts to show squalene binding were unsuccessful, or showed only weak affinity, likely not sufficient for direct transfer of squalene ²⁷.

The sequence similarity of SPF to the yeast phosphatidylinositol transfer protein Sec14p suggested that phosphatidylinositol might be a ligand for SPF. *Saccharomyces cerevisae* Sec14p binds phosphatidylinositol (PI) and phosphatidylcholine. In fact, SPF binds to PI with affinity of ~216 nM ²⁷, which is the greatest reported binding affinity of any ligand tested with this protein. Despite containing the Sec14 domain, the lipid-binding pocket of SPF is larger than that of Sec14p. That leaves a possibility that a larger lipid molecule, perhaps one of the phosphorylated forms of phosphatidylinositol, might be a physiological ligand for SPF.

SPF and Vitamin E

Using radiolabeled α -tocopherol as 'bait', a 46-kD protein was isolated from the cytosol of bovine liver in 1999. It was named α -tocopherol-associated protein (TAP) ²⁸. As noted earlier, subsequently it was found that TAP is identical to SPF ¹³. Since then, many reports showing the ability of TAP to bind various forms of vitamin E have been

published ^{11; 27; 29-31}. TAP is closely related to α -tocopherol transfer protein (TTP), the principal tocopherol binding/transport protein in the cell []. However, in TTP-null mice plasma alpha-tocopherol levels are low but levels of liver SPF are not altered, suggesting that SPF is not directly involved in α -tocopherol homeostasis ³².

The term Vitamin E describes a family of tocols and tocotrienols, including α -, β -, γ -, δ tocopherols, which can be distinguished by differently methylated chromanol headgroups. Tocotrienols can also have differently methylated headgroups, but in contrast to tocopherols, they have three unsaturated bonds in the phytyl tail. The only naturally occurring stereoisomer of α -tocopherol is RRR- α -tocopherol (2R, 4'R, 8'R- α tocopherol). This is also the most important physiological form of Vitamin E ³³. SPF/TAP was reported to bind to tocopherols, tocotrienols and tocoquinones with various affinities ^{27; 29; 31; 33}. Among the tocols, the best binding affinity was reported with γ tocopherol, followed by β -tocopherol and α -tocopheryl quinone, an oxidized form of α tocopherol ^{11; 27}. Binding affinity to tocotrienols was not determined.

Despite numerous efforts, it is still unclear what the physiological ligand for SPF is, a characteristic problem for Sec14 proteins. The possibility exists that all these molecules are ligands for SPF under different conditions, or in different cell types, and they may also result in different downstream effects ¹⁹.



 $\begin{array}{l} \alpha \text{-tocopherol} \ (\mathsf{R}_1{=}\mathsf{CH}_3, \ \mathsf{R}_2{=}\mathsf{CH}_3) \\ \beta \text{-tocopherol} \ (\mathsf{R}_1{=}\mathsf{CH}_3, \ \mathsf{R}_2{=}\mathsf{H}) \\ \gamma \text{-tocopherol} \ (\mathsf{R}_1{=}\mathsf{H}, \ \mathsf{R}_2{=}\mathsf{CH}_3) \\ \delta \text{-tocopherol} \ (\mathsf{R}_1{=}\mathsf{H}, \ \mathsf{R}_2{=}\mathsf{H}) \end{array}$

Figure 1.5: Chemical structures of tocopherols and tocotrienols.

Is SPF a transcriptional regulator?

As mentioned above, SPF was purified from bovine liver using α -tocopherol as a bait, and there are several reports of SPF binding to vitamin E; whether this link to vitamin E is relevant to the stimulatory effect on cholesterol synthesis is unclear ¹³. Interestingly, in COS-1 cells, SPF moved from the cytosol to the nucleus in response to α -tocopherol treatment, and α -tocopherol-dependent transcriptional activation was demonstrated ³⁴, raising the question: is SPF a transcription factor? Indeed, α -tocopherol has been shown to regulate the transcription of various genes. α-Tocopherol downregulates transcription of the cholesterol scavenger receptors SR-A and CD36, and upregulates the expression of α -TTP protein, and thus may regulate its own homeostasis ¹³. In addition, α -tocotrienol and y-tocotrienol were shown to inhibit cholesterol synthesis via posttranscriptional inhibition of HMG-CoA reductase with y-tocotrienol being much more potent than α -tocotrienol ³⁵. This effect was later shown to be due to the tocotrienol stimulation ubiquitination and degradation of HMG-CoA reductase ³⁶. A general inhibitory effect of α -tocopherol on most cholesterolgenic enzymes was described recently³⁷. The mechanism of this inhibition was attributed to the modulation of SREBP-2 processing, preventing the SREBP-2 mature form to reach the nucleus, in a manner analogous to that of sterols $^{36;37}$. In general it appears that actions of α -tocopherol are in opposition to those of SPF, which leads to the hypothesis that α -tocopherol binding to SPF, if it occurs, might prevent the stimulatory effect of SPF on cholesterol synthesis. However, a study from our laboratory failed to demonstrate an effect of α -tocopherol on the ability of SPF to stimulate squalene monooxygenase ³⁸, and therefore a link between SPF, Vitamin E, and cholesterol synthesis, if it exists, remains to be elucidated 13

A role for SPF in cancer

Epidemiologic studies indicated that vitamin E has a protective effect against prostate cancer ³⁹. Since SPF was shown to be linked to vitamin E, the effect of SPF on prostate cancer was investigated. Indeed SPF, as α -tocopherol-associated protein (TAP), was shown to inhibit the growth of prostate cancer cells in cell culture ⁴⁰. Two separate mechanisms were identified: First, facilitation of vitamin E uptake and mediation of its antiproliferative effect; and second, an effect independent of vitamin E, based on its suppression of PI3K/Akt signaling, a major survival pathway in prostate cancer ⁴⁰. Immunohistochemical analysis of tissues from patients that underwent prostatectomy showed that expression of SPF was reduced in areas of malignancy compared with normal or benign areas. A significant reverse correlation was also found between SPF expression and aggressiveness in malignancy. Also, a high number of SPF-positive cells correlated with a lower incidence of recurrence after surgery. These interesting findings pointed to SPF as a predictor of cancer disease progression and recurrence ⁴¹.

Copyright © Elzbieta Ilona Stolarczyk 2009

Chapter 2 : TISSUE-SPECIFIC EXPRESSION OF THREE HUMAN SPF HOMOLOGS

INTRODUCTION

There are three homologous SPF genes in humans: hSPF1, hSPF2 and hSPF3. All three genes are located on chromosome 22. Protein and mRNA identity between these three SPFs is shown in Fig. 2.1.



	SPF1/SPF2	SPF1/SPF3	SPF2/SPF3
mRNA	66	59	61
Full length protein	77	70	70
CRAL_TRIO_N domain (protein)	84	80	75
Sec14 domain (protein)	71	65	63
GOLD domain (protein)	84	75	84

Figure 2.1: Human SPF and SPF-like proteins. The table displays the percent identity between these three SPFs at the mRNA, protein, and domain level.
The best characterized SPF protein to date is SPF1. Much less is known about the expression and function of the two other SPF-like proteins: SPF2 and SPF3. SPF1 was discovered in the liver cytosolic fraction as a factor that stimulated squalene monooxygenase³. Many years later, when the mRNA sequence of SPF was reported, several studies were carried out to determine which tissues express this gene. It was reported that, in addition to liver, SPF transcripts could be detected in small intestine, brain, lung and skin¹²; however, at that time the additional SPF-like genes had not been discovered, and so the possibility of multiple gene transcripts was not addressed. Later studies by another group identified prostate as a site of SPF1 expression ¹¹, and *Kempna* et al. ³¹ isolated cDNAs to all three SPF genes from human lung cDNA library and reported the expression of all three transcripts in liver, lung, whole blood and skin; expression of SPF2 was lowest of the three genes in these tissues. Later, another group confirmed expression of SPF2 in liver, but not in lung ⁴². Recently, brain and adrenal gland were identified as additional sites of all three SPF transcripts presence ⁴³. Moreover, SPF3 was found in ovary, testis, epithelial duct cells of several glands and endothelial cells of small arteries ⁴³.

The reported discrepancies in the tissue-specific expression of the SPF genes may result from the use of probes and primers that were not optimized to distinguish between these three closely related transcripts. Given the great degree of similarity between these transcripts, special attention should be put into the design of gene-specific probes that will detect only the transcript of interest, without crossreacting with transcripts from the homologous genes. To address this need and to unify the expression data for all three SPF genes, I designed gene-specific oligos for each SPF transcript, so as to optimize the signal detection and specificity and allow analysis of the expression pattern of all three genes in multiple tissues concurrently. Also, for the first time, the relative levels of each transcript were to be analyzed in selected tissues so as to gain insight into the relative abundance of each SPF transcript.

Experimental Rationale

There are three homologous SPF genes in human. There were several attempts to establish tissue-specific expression pattern for corresponding transcripts ^{11; 12; 31}, however I felt they did not exhibit enough precautions to fully differentiate between these highly similar transcript sequences. To address these potential short-comings, the expression pattern of three SPF transcripts was assessed with use of highly specific probes designed for each SPF transcript. A broad range of tissues was screened concurrently so as to assess the tissue specific expression pattern of each of these genes. In addition, the relative levels of all SPF transcripts in selected tissues was determined by RT-PCR. We hypothesize that conclusions drawn from this expression data would be useful in designing further studies aimed at elucidating the role or roles of the various SPF genes in cellular and organismal physiology.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Cloning of cDNAs to SPF2 and SPF3

Amplification: To amplify SPF2 and SPF3 coding sequences, sequence-specific primers were designed in such a way that they would incorporate an *Ndel* restriction site at the start codon and an *Xho*I restriction site immediately before the stop codon. For SPF2 the 5'-catatgAGCGGCCGAGTTGGAGAC-3' 5'primers and were ctcgagGACAGGGGTGAGCTCCTTATC-3' 5'and for SPF3 they were catatgAGCAGCCGAGTCGGGGAC-3' and 5'-ctcgagCTGTGTGTGGGGGGGGGGTCTC-3'. Incubation mixtures (50 µl) contained: 1 µg of human lung cDNA library (Clontech), SPF3 Ndel> and SPF3 Xhol< primers (1 μ M each), 2.5 U of *Pfu* Turbo[®]DNA polymerase (Stratagene), dNTP mix (0.5 mM each), 1x Pfu buffer, and water. PCR cvcling parameters were: 5 minutes at 95°C for initial denaturation, followed by 35 cycles of: denaturation for 1 minute at 95°C, annealing for 1 minute at 64°C, extension at 72°C for 90 seconds, and final extension at 72°C for 10 minutes. The PCR product was analyzed by gel electrophoresis on a 1% agarose gel containing ethidium bromide for DNA visualization.

Subcloning into TOPO: the PCR product was subcloned into Zero Blunt®TOPO® vector (Invitrogen). The TOPO cloning reaction consisted of 4 μ l of PCR product, 1 μ l of Zero Blunt®TOPO® vector, and 1 µl of salt solution (0.2 M NaCl, 0.01 M MgCl) combined in a small tube and incubated for 7 minutes at room temperature. For transformation, 1-4 µl of the TOPO cloning reaction was added to TOP10 chemically competent *E.coli* cells, mixed gently, and incubated on ice for 15-30 minutes. The cells were heat-shocked for 45 seconds at 42°C and placed back on ice. LB media (250 μ l) was added to the cells and the tube was shaken gently at 37°C for 1 hour. From 50-200 μl of each transformation was spread on a prewarmed selective agar plate (kanamycin for TOPO Blunt) and incubated overnight at 37°C. The next day 6-12 colonies were picked for analysis. Analyzing Positive Clones: Colonies were cultured overnight in LB medium with kanamycin. Plasmid DNA was isolated by miniprep (Promega). Plasmids were analyzed by restriction analysis with restriction sites used for cloning (Ndel, Xhol) or EcoRI. The restriction digestion reaction was performed by mixing 1-2 μ g of plasmid DNA with 2 units of *NdeI* and 2 units of *XhoI* in 1xNEBuffer #4 at total volume of 25 μ l. Digestion reactions were incubated for 1-3 hours at 37°C and analyzed by gel electrophoresis on 1% agarose gels to visualize the size of the insert. The band containing the insert of expected size (1200 bp) was cut out of the gel, placed in a 1.5 ml tube with a filter, and purified in a microfuge for 5 minutes at 5000 x g.

Cloning into bacterial expression vector: The pTYB2 vector (New England Biolabs) was digested with *Ndel* and *Xhol* restriction enzymes and ligation of the insert into the vector was performed as follows. Purified insert and digested vector were combined together with an excess of the insert at a molar ratio of 3:1 in a 20-µl reaction containing 0.1-1 U of T4 DNA ligase (Invitrogen) and 1x ligase buffer. The mixture was incubated at room temperature for 1 hour followed by transformation and analysis of

positive clones as described above. Positive clones were sent to a commercial firm (Davis Sequencing, Davis, CA) for sequencing.

Cloning into mammalian expression vector pc3.1DNA(-): The complete coding sequence of the SPF3 cDNA was amplified by *Pfu* polymerase, as described earlier, with the use of primers incorporating *Nde*I and *Xho*I restriction sites at the N- and C-termini. The reverse primer additionally incorporated a stop codon prior to the *Xho*I restriction site. The amplified sequence was ligated into the Zero Blunt TOPO vector, plasmid DNA purified, and the insert was released with *Nhe*I and *Xho*I restriction enzymes. The insert was purified by agarose gel electrophoresis and ligated into pc3.1DNA(-) vector (Invitrogen). Ligation conditions were as described above.

Multiple Tissue cDNA Panels

Gene-specific primers were selected by visual inspection, comparing the three SPF sequences for regions of divergence. (These primers are shown in Table 2.1.) For optimization the primers were first tested on each of the three SPF cDNAs. The vectors containing these sequences were: pTYB4SPF1 and pTYB2SPF3 for the full-length SPF1 and SPF3 cDNAs, and ZeroBluntTOPOSPF2600 for the 600-bp fragment of the SPF2 cDNA. Various polymerases and temperature cycling conditions were tested until the optimal result was obtained with *Taq* Polymerase, using a manual 'hot start' protocol. In this protocol the PCR Master Mix was prepared without *Taq* Polymerase, the reactions were mixed with 5 µl of the cDNA sample in total volume of 50 µl and heated to 75°C for 1 minute, and then *Taq* polymerase was added and thermal cycling started. Cycling conditions were: 95°C for 3 minutes, followed by 30 cycles of: 95°C for 45 seconds, 55°C for 30 seconds, 72°C for 90 seconds, followed by 10 minute extension at 72°C. PCR products were then analyzed by gel electrophoresis with staining with ethidium bromide.

Multiple Tissue Expression Arrays

The oligonucleotide probes used in this study were selected from the proximal 3' untranslated region of each mRNA. Each probe was fifty nucleotides long and had three biotin moleties at the 5'end. The sequences of the probes are shown below in Table 2.3. Hybridization to the MTE blot was performed according to the manufacturer's instructions (BD Biosciences). Sheared salmon testis DNA was denatured by heating at 90-100°C for 5 min, then quickly chilling on ice. Hybridization solution was prepared by mixing BD ExpressHyb Solution (BD Biosciences) with heat-denatured sheared salmon testis DNA. The membrane was prehybridized in hybridization solution with continuous agitation for 30 minutes at 42°C. Each oligonucleotide probe was denatured as described above for salmon testis DNA and mixed with hybridization solution, at a final concentration of 150 ng/ml. Hybridization was carried out overnight with continuous agitation at the temperature indicated in Table 2.1. The membrane was washed 5 times for 20 minutes with Wash Solution 1 (0.3 M NaCl, 30 mM NaCitrate•2H₂O, 1% SDS) at the hybridization temperature. The membrane was incubated with constant agitation for 8 minutes in Blocking Buffer (SpotLight[™] Hybridization & Detection Kit, BD Biosciences), then Streptavidin-HRP conjugate was added and incubated for 15 minutes. The membrane was washed 4 times for 2 minutes with 1x Wash Buffer (BD Biosciences, Clontech), transferred to another container and incubated for 5 minutes with Substrate Equilibration Buffer (BD Biosciences, Clontech), after which the membrane was incubated with the mix of Luminol/Enhancer Solution and the Stable Peroxide Solution (BD Biosciences, Clontech) for 5 minutes and exposed in the Kodak 1D[™] Imager for 30-60 seconds. The picture was analyzed with the Kodak 1D[™] Imager's software; dots were analyzed as Region of Interest areas (ROIs) and their net intensities were graphed. Each membrane was blotted with one probe only. The membrane could not be reblotted because stripping was not efficient in removing the probe, despite moderating the stripping conditions.

25

Table 2.1: Oligonucleotide probes used for hybridization to MTE arrays with theirhybridization temperatures.X=biotin.

Gene	Probe	Hybridization temperature (°C)
SPF1	5'- TTGACAGGGAGACACTGAGGGGGGCCAGGCCTGCTATAGG AGAAXXXXGG-3'	63
SPF2	5'- ACAGAGAAATCAAAGGGTTAGGAGGTCTCTGAGAAATGA GGGAGXXXXCC 3'	60
SPF3	5'- TGAAGGGGTTGGAGTGCACAGGTAGAGGTGGCTGGGGTC TXXXXTCACT-3'	63

RT-PCR analysis of relative expression levels

Construction of a Standard-Curve Template: For the RT-PCR studies it was necessary to construct a template containing the three corresponding cDNA segments of each SPF mRNA. This template would then be used to generate a standard curve for analysis of expression of the three SPF genes in each tissue. Short ~200-bp segments from SPF1 and SPF3 transcripts were amplified by PCR from a liver single-stranded cDNA library created from liver total RNA by reverse transcription. The primers used to select these segments were: 5'-CTCACCTGCAGTGATCCTGGCA-3' and 5'-GGGGCCAGGCCTGCTATAG-3' for SPF1, 5'-tgtacaATGGGAACCTCACCTG-3' and 5'-ggtaccTTAGGAGGTCTCTGAGAA-3' for SPF2, 5'-actagtAGCCTCACCTGCCTCCAGG-3' and 5'-gtaccaGTGCACAGGTAGAGGTGGCTG-3' for SPF3. These 3 cDNA segments were labeled Real1, Real2 and Real3, subcloned into the ZeroBluntTOPO or TOPOTA vector and then cloned into pTYB11 vector to serve as a template for RT-PCR (see Fig. 2.2, below).



Figure 2.2: Cloning scheme for the pTYB11 Real1, Real2, and Real3 templates.

Reverse Transcriptase Reaction: First-strand cDNA synthesis was performed using SuperScript II Reverse Transcriptase (Invitrogen). In a nuclease-free tube, 200 ng of random primers, 1 ng-5 µg total RNA (Clontech), and 1 µl of dNTP mix (10 mM each) were combined in total volume of 12 µl in diethylpyrocarbonate-treated water. The mixture was heated to 65°C for 5 minutes, quickly chilled on ice, briefly centrifuged, and 4 µl of 5x First-Strand Buffer, 2 µl of 0.1M DTT, 1 µl RNaseOUT (Invitrogen), and 200 units of SuperScript II Reverse Transcriptase were added. The reaction was incubated at 25°C for 10 min, followed by 50 min at 42°C and then inactivated by incubation at 70 °C for 15 minutes. Synthesized single-stranded cDNA (sscDNA) was quantified, aliquoted and stored in -80°C.

Real-Time PCR: Gene-specific primers for real-time PCR were designed by visual inspection or by using ABI Prism Primer Express software (Applied Biosystems). For SPF1 5'-5'-TGCAGTGATCCTGGCATCTATG-3' thev were: and TGAGGCTTTGTCTGGAAGCAG-3', yielding an amplicon of 108 bp; for SPF2: 5'-TCAGAGGCCGGCGTCTATGT-3' and 5'-GTGAGCTCCTTATCATATTTCTGCAT-3' (amplicon of 129 bp); for SPF3: 5'-AGCCTCACCTGCCTCCAGG-3' and 5'-CATCGCCTTGAGACTCTGCAG-3' (amplicon of 146 bp). Each 20- μ l PCR reaction contained 0.2 μ g of single-stranded cDNA or template, gene-specific primers (200 nM each), 3 mM MgGl dNTP mix (200 μM each), 1.25 unit of AmpliTag Gold (Applied Biosystems), 0.2 units of AmpEraseUNG to prevent product carryover, and 1x SYBR Green PCR buffer. A standard curve was created for each pair of gene-specific primers with 10-fold dilutions of template (pTYB11 Real1, Real2, and Real3). Cycling conditions were: 2 minutes at 50°C to activate AmpEraseUNG, initial denaturation for 10 minutes at 95°C, followed by 40 cycles of: denaturation for 15 seconds at 95°C and 1 minute of annealing/extension at 58°C. In order to detect nonspecific amplification, dissociation curves were established for each PCR product or PCR products were analyzed by gel electrophoresis.

28

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Sequence Alignments

Measurement of mRNA levels was chosen as the first means for assessing expression of the three human SPF genes. First, the mRNA sequences of three SPFs were aligned with use of multiple sequence alignment tool AlignX (VectorNTI, Invitrogen). This alignment revealed the regions of highest similarity and those that were less conserved (Fig. 2.3). SPF1 and SPF2 mRNAs were 66% identical, SPF1 and SPF3 mRNAs were 59% identical, while SPF2 and SPF3 mRNAs were 61% identical.

											Section 1
	(1)	1	1	10	2	0	30	0	.40		56
NM_012429	— (t)	CCCU	ACUCCO	SCCUCT	ICGGGA	UCCUU	UAAGA	GGCGGG	GCUUG	GCUGCCA	GCUCCGCG
NM_174975	(1)										
NM_174977	(1)										
Consensus	(1)										
											— Section 2
	(57)	57		70		80		90		100	112
NM_012429	(57)	GCCC	GGGCA	AAAGGO	UGGGA	CUUUA	cu <mark>cc</mark> e	GG <mark>U</mark> GG(re <mark>gog</mark> a	. <mark>GGA</mark> CGA <mark>G</mark>	n <mark>cne</mark> ne <mark>c</mark> n
NM_174975	(1)									GGUCAGG	G <mark>CUG</mark> A- <mark>C</mark> A
NM_174977	(1)					AC.	AACCA	GGCGG	CAGCGG	AU <mark>ACAAG</mark>	GC
Consensus	(57)						cc	GG GG	C GCG	GGACAAG	GCUG C
									150		- Section 3
	(113)	113	,120	-	130		140		150		168
NM_012429	(113)	CAU				CGCCU				AUCCCCG	GGUUGAG
NM_174975	(15)	AACU				CORDA	UCCCC	CAUCA		AAGCCCCC	AGCCAG
Conconcut	(20)	CA U	CCCCIII	secec	c co	CGRC	000000	CCCCA		Allegee	
consensus	(113)	CA U	033000	39090	0 00	CONC	CGC	CCCCR	0000	Rodecee	Section 4
	(169)	169		190		190		200		210	224
NM 012429	(169)	CCAC	Gallear	aciacian a	CACHO	GGCGR	U <mark>CUGA</mark>	SCCCC	a cacao	ARCACC	CAUTIGGCC
NM 174975	(100)	-cac	aligar	sceed	GAGUU	GGAGA	CUGA	scccc		GCAGAGA	
NM 174977	(81)	-CAC	CAUGA	SCAGO	GAGU	GGGGA	CUGA	GCCCC	CAGCAG	CAGGAAG	ce <mark>cueec</mark> c
Consensus	(169)	CAC	CAUGA	scecc	GAGUC	GG GA	CCUGA	GCCCC	AAGCAG	AGGAGG	C CUGGCC
	,										- Section 5
	(225)	225	230		240		250	2	260	270	280
NM 012429	(225)	AAGU	UUCGG	3A <mark>G</mark> AAU	UCCA	GGAUG	UGCUG	CCGGC	CUGCC	GAAUCCA	GAUGA <mark>C</mark> UA
NM_174975	(124)	A <mark>A</mark> GU	UCCGA(JAAAA	GUCCA	.GGA <mark>UG</mark>	UGCUU	ccu <mark>sco</mark>	CUGCC	CAACCCU	GAUGA <mark>U</mark> UA
NM_174977	(136)	AGGU	UCCGGG (3A <mark>G</mark> AA	CUCCA	<mark>GGA</mark> CC	uecu <mark>e</mark>	CC CAU	A <mark>CUGCC</mark>	C <mark>AAU</mark> GCU	gauga <mark>c</mark> ua
Consensus	(225)	AAGU	UCCGG	SAGAAC	GUCCA	GGAUG	UGCUG	CC GC(CUGCC	CAAUCCU	GAUGACUA
											— Section 6
	(281)	281	- 2	290	,3	00	,31	10	,32)	336
NM_012429	(281)	<mark>បប</mark> ប	cuccu	C G U U G	;GCU <mark>C</mark> C	GAGC C.	a <mark>gaa</mark> g	C <mark>UU</mark> CG/	AC <mark>C</mark> UGC	AGAAGUC	G <mark>GA</mark> G <mark>G</mark> CCA
NM_174975	(180)	UUUC	CUUCU?	A <mark>CG</mark> CU0	Fecu <mark>c</mark> c	GAGCU	C <mark>G</mark> G <mark>A</mark> A	U <mark>UUU</mark> GJ	AC UUGC	AGAAGUC	G <mark>GAG</mark> GCUU
NM_174977	(192)	cuuc	cuccu	SC G C U G	ecuec	GAGCU	C <mark>GAA</mark> A	CUUUGI	AC <mark>C</mark> UGC	AGAAAUC	C <mark>GA</mark> A <mark>G</mark> A <mark>CA</mark>
Consensus	(281)	UUUC	cuccu	SCGCUG	GCUCC	GAGCU	CGAAA	CUUUGI	ACCUGC	AGAAGUC	GGAGGCCA
					-						— Section 7
	(337)	337		35	0	,360)	,370		,380	392
NM_012429	(337)	UGCU	CCGGA	AGC AUG	UGGAG	UUCCG	AAGC	AAAAG	SACAUU	GACAACA	UCAUUAGC
NM_174975	(236)	0GCU	CCGCA	GUACA	UGGAG	000006	CAAGA	CCAUG	AUAU	GACCAUA	COUGAU
NM_174977	(248)	UGCU	CCGAA	S <mark>UCAC</mark>	UGGAG	UUCCG	GAAG C	AACAA	SACCUG	GACAACA	OUG <mark>OCA</mark> CA
Consensus	(337)	UGCU	CCG A	AGCACI	LOGGAG	OCCG	GAAGC	MAAAG	JACAUU	GACAACA	OC UUA

												 Section 8
	(393)	393	400	1	410		420		430			448
NM_012429	(393)	UGG	CAGCCUC	CAGAG	GU <mark>G</mark> AU(CAA	AGUA	UCUGU	AGGG	iguaug	UGUGG	icua <mark>u</mark> ga
NM_174975	(292)	UGG	CAGCCCC	CAGAG	GU <mark>G</mark> AU0	CA <mark>G</mark> A	AGUA	CAUGC	UGGGG	GCCUG	UGUGG	icua <mark>u</mark> ga
NM_174977	(304)	UGG	CAGCCC	CU <mark>GAG</mark>	GUCAUC	CAGO	UGUA	GACU	G <mark>GG</mark> U	ig <mark>uc</mark> υυ	UGUGG	GUAC GA
Consensus	(393)	UGG	CAGCCCC	CAGAG	GUGAU	CAGO	AGUA	U UGUG	C GGGG	GUCUG	UGUGG	GCUAUGA
												Section 9
	(449)	449		460		470		480		490		504
NM_012429	(449)	CCUC	G <mark>GAU</mark> GGC	UGCCC	AGUCU	GUAC	GACA	UNADUG	GACC	I <mark>CU</mark> G <mark>GA</mark>	G <mark>CC3</mark>	AGGGUC
NM_174975	(348)	CCG	J <mark>GAU</mark> GGC	:06000	CGUGU	sg <mark>u</mark> au	GACA	UCAUU0	G <mark>GC</mark> C?	A <mark>CU</mark> UGA	UCCC2	<mark>AGGG</mark> GU
NM_174977	(360)	CUAC	C <mark>GA</mark> AGGC	:UGCCC	U <mark>GU G</mark> U	/C <mark>UU</mark>	ACAI	UCAUU0	G <mark>G</mark> U <mark>C</mark> (CUCGA	C <mark>CC</mark> CC	AGGG <mark>UC</mark>
Consensus	(449)	CC.	GAUGGC	UGCCC	GUGUG	GUAC	GACA	UCAUU	GGCC	CU GA	UCCCA	AGGGUC
												Section 10
	(505)	505	510		520		530		540		550	560
NM_012429	(505)	USCI	JGUUCUC	AGCCU	CCAAAA	AGGA	CCUG	CUGAG	ACCAL	IG <mark>AUG</mark> C	GG <mark>G</mark> AC	UGUGAG
NM_174975	(404)	UGCI	JC <mark>UUC</mark> UC	AGU <mark>C</mark> A	CCAAC	AGGA	CCUG	CUCAAC	ACCA2	16 <mark>AU</mark> GA	gg <mark>g</mark> ac	UGUGAG
NM_174977	(416)	UCC	JGCUGUC	AGCCU	CCAAG	CAGGA	UA <mark>UG</mark> /	A <mark>UC</mark> C <mark>G</mark> (; <mark>a</mark> agco	SC <mark>AU</mark> C <mark>A</mark>	AA <mark>G</mark> U	UGUGAG
Consensus	(505)	UGCU	JGUUCUC	AGCCU	CCAAG	CAGGA	CCUG	CUCAGO	GACCAR	AGAUGA	GGGAC	UGUGAG
												Section 11
	(561)	561	5	70	58	0		590	6	00		616
NM_012429	(561)	CUG	UUU <mark>U</mark> UGC	'A <mark>gag</mark>	UGUGC	CAC	AGAC (CACA <mark>A</mark>	GUU	🔀 <mark>G</mark> A G G	AAGG <mark>U</mark>	IG <mark>GAGA</mark>
NM_174975	(460)	CGC2	AUC <mark>C</mark> UGC	A <mark>U</mark> GAG	UGUG <mark>A</mark>	CUGC	A <mark>G</mark> AC	AG <mark>AG</mark> A	G <mark>g d</mark> ag	g <mark>ga</mark> ag	AAG <mark>A</mark> U	JU <mark>GAGA</mark>
NM_174977	(472)	CUG	UGUUGC	AUGAG	UGUGA	s <mark>C</mark> UG <mark>C</mark>	BAAC	UC <mark>AG</mark> A/	A <mark>g</mark> c <mark>u</mark> go	GC <mark>AG</mark> G	AAG <mark>A</mark> U	IC <mark>GAGA</mark> U
Consensus	(561)	CUG	CU CUGO	AUGAG	UGUGA	CUGC	AGAC	AGAA	ACCOCC	GGAGG	AAGAU	J GAGAC
												Section 12
	(617)	617		630	0	640)	65	0	660)	672
NM_012429	(617)	CAU	ACC <mark>AU</mark> A	A <mark>UUU</mark> A	UGAC <mark>U</mark>	CGAG	igg <mark>g</mark> at	UU <mark>GGC(</mark>	CUC <mark>AA</mark> G	GCAUCU	CUGGA	A G C C U G
NM_174975	(516)	CAU	G <mark>UGAU</mark> G	A <mark>u</mark> au	UGAC <mark>U(</mark>	UGAG	igg <mark>ol</mark> a	U <mark>GG</mark> GA(CU <mark>G</mark> AA	CACUU	CUGGA	AACCUC
NM_174977	(528)	GGC	GC <mark>UGAU</mark> C	G <mark>U</mark> G <mark>U</mark> U	<mark>UGAC</mark> AI	JG <mark>GA6</mark>	GG <mark>G</mark> CI	U <mark>G</mark> A <mark>GC</mark> (CU <mark>G</mark> AA <mark>B</mark> UC	ACACC <mark>U</mark>	G <mark>UGG</mark>	A <mark>gcc</mark> a <mark>g</mark>
Consensus	(617)	CAU	C UGAUG	AU UU	UGACUG	G GAG	GGGCI	UGGGCC	CUGAAA	+CACCU	CUGGA	AGCCUG
												Section 13
	(673)	673	680		690		700		710			728
NM_012429	(673)	CUG	J <mark>GGAG</mark> GC	C <mark>UA</mark> UG	iga <mark>gagi</mark>	JUUCU	CUGC	L GUU	GAG <mark>G</mark>	AAUU.	AUCCO	: <mark>ga</mark> a <mark>ac</mark> a
NM_174975	(572)	UG <mark>G</mark>	JA <mark>GA</mark> A <mark>G</mark> I	IG <mark>UACC</mark>	AGG <mark>AGI:</mark>	10 C 🛛 U	GGC	C <mark>UCC</mark> UI	I <mark>GA</mark> A <mark>G</mark> I	GAAUU	ACC C2	GAGAC
NM_174977	(584)	CUG	JG <mark>GAG</mark> GU	IC <mark>UA</mark> CC	:AG <mark>AGI</mark>	10 <mark>00</mark> 0	U A G C	A <mark>u</mark> cc <mark>u</mark> (G <mark>GAAG</mark> (AAUU	A <mark>UCC</mark> I	J <mark>GAG</mark> ACC
Consensus	(673)	CUG	JGGAGGU	CUYCC	AGGAGU	00000	GC1	AUCCUI	JGAAGJ	LAAAUU	AUCC	GAGACC
												Section 14
	(729)	729		740		750		760		770		784
NM_012429	(729)	CUG	AACGUO	: <mark>UUUU</mark>		JAAAG	CCCC	CAAACI	16000	C <mark>U</mark> GUG:	GCCU	UAACCU
NM_174975	(628)	CUG/	AGUUCA	UGCUC	An <mark>n c e n</mark> o	G <mark>AA</mark> AG	CUAC	AAACI	1600 <mark>C</mark>	C <mark>U</mark> GUG	GGCU.	VC AACC U
NM_174977	(640)	CUG)	AAGAA <mark>U</mark> U	UAA <mark>U</mark> I	IG <mark>UU</mark> A <mark>U</mark> I	CGAG	ic <mark>cc</mark> c,	a <mark>aaaci</mark>	100000	CCC <mark>GUG</mark>	GCUU	CAAC ^{UU}
Consensus	(729)	CUC	AAG U	0 00	GUUGUU	JAAAG	CCCC	CAAACI	IGUUCO	CUGUG	GCCUA	CAACCU

											\$	ection 15
	(785)	785	790		800	1	310		820	8	30	840
NM_012429	(785)	CAUC	AAACCO	UUCCU	GAGU	JAGGA <mark>C</mark>	AC <mark>U</mark> CG	UAAGA	AGAUC	AUGGU	CUGG	<mark>JA G</mark> C A <mark>A</mark>
NM_174975	(684)	C A <mark>U</mark> G	AA <mark>GC</mark> CA	VUUC <mark>C</mark> U	IGAGU	BAGGA <mark>C</mark>	AC <mark>U</mark> CG	C <mark>A</mark> GA	AAAUU	AUUGU	SU <mark>UGG(</mark>	<mark>JA</mark> A <mark>A</mark> U <mark>A</mark>
NM_174977	(696)	GGUC	AA GU <mark>C</mark> 0	S <mark>UUC</mark> A <mark>U</mark>	IGAGU	<mark>BAGGA</mark> G	ACA <mark>CG</mark>	C <mark>A</mark> GGA	AGAUU	IG <mark>U G</mark> A <mark>U</mark> U	JCUGG	<mark>BAGA</mark> C <mark>A</mark>
Consensus	(785)	CAUC	AAGCC	UUCCU	IGAGU	JAGGAC	ACUCG	CAGGA	AGAUU	AUGGU	CUGGG	JAGA A
											<u> </u>	ection 16
	(841)	841	8	50	,8	60	8	70	8	80		896
NM_012429	(841)	AUUG	GAAG <mark>G</mark> A	<mark>GGUUL</mark>	UACUG	AAAC A	JAUCA	GCCU	GACCA	GUGCO	UG <mark>UG(</mark>	<mark>AGU</mark> A <mark>U</mark>
NM_174975	(740)	ACUG(gaag <mark>g</mark> a	AGGUU	r <mark>u</mark> geue	AAACU	AUCA	GUCCU	<mark>ga</mark> gg <mark>a</mark>	ACUGCO	UGCCC	CAGUUU
NM_174977	(752)	ACUG(GAAGC <mark>A</mark>	G AGC	UGACI	AAAU <mark>U</mark> UAAA	AUCA	(G <mark>CCC</mark> C	GACCA	GCUGCO	UG <mark>UG(</mark>	AGUUU
Consensus	(841)	ACUG(GAAGGI	GG UU	rugeue	GAAACU	CAUCA	GCCCU	GACCA	GCUGCO	UGUG	GAGUUU
											s	ection 17
	(897)	897		,91	0	920		,934)	,940		952
NM_012429	(897)	GGGG	SCACC	UGACU	IGACCO	UGAUG	3A <mark>AAC</mark>	CCCAA	G <mark>UG</mark> CA	ABUCCA	AGAU	ACUA
NM_174975	(796)	GGGG	SCACC	UGACU	IGACCO	AGAUG	5 G <mark>AAC</mark>	CCCAA	A <mark>UG</mark> UU	UAACCA	AGAU	U <mark>AACUA</mark>
NM_174977	(808)	GGGG	GACC /	UGACU	IGACCO	CGAUG	3C <mark>AAC</mark>	CCCAA	G <mark>UG</mark> CC	UGACCA	AGAU	AACUA
Consensus	(897)	GGGG	GCACCA	AUGACU	IGACCO	GAUG	5 AAC	CCCAA	GUGC	UAACCA	AGAU	CAACUA
											s	ection 18
	(953)	953	960		970		980	1	,990			1008
NM_012429	(953)	CGGG	GG <mark>U</mark> GA(AUCCO	CAGG	AG <mark>UA</mark> U	JAUGU	IG <mark>CG</mark> AG	ACCAG	GUGA <mark>A</mark> A	A <mark>CAGC</mark>	AGUA <mark>U</mark> G
NM_174975	(852)	UGGC	GG G G A C	SA <mark>UC</mark> CO	CANG	JC AUG	JACGU	IG <mark>CG</mark> GG	A <mark>C</mark> CAG	GUGAA	ACUC/	AGUAC <mark>G</mark>
NM_174977	(864)	UGGG	GG <mark>U</mark> GA <mark>(</mark>	GUGCO	CAAGI	GCUAC	JACCU	IG <mark>UG</mark> C <mark>G</mark>	AG <mark>CAG</mark>	GUGAG	CUBC)	AGUA <mark>U</mark> G
Consensus	(953)	UGGG	GGUGA	AUCCO	CAAGP	A CUA I	JACGU	IGCG G	ACCAG	GUGAAG	SC GCI	AGUAUG
											S	ection 19
	(1009)	1009		1020		1030		,1040		1050		1064
NM_012429	(1009)	AACA	CAGCG	I <mark>G</mark> CAGA	UUUC	CGUGG	:UC <mark>C</mark> U	ICCCAC	CAAGU	IGGA <mark>GU</mark> A	UGAG/	AUCCUC
NM_174975	(908)	AGCA	CUCGGU	7 <mark>6</mark> CAGA	UCAA	CG <mark>C</mark> GG	CUCAU	ICA <mark>CAC</mark>	CA <mark>A</mark> GU	IGGA <mark>AU</mark> A	CGAG	<mark>AUCCU</mark> A
NM_174977	(920)	AGCA	C <mark>ACG</mark> A0	GUCCG	UGGG <mark>(</mark>	ce <mark>c</mark> ee	CUC <mark>C</mark> U	IC <mark>C</mark> UG	CAGGU	IGGA <mark>G</mark> A <mark>A</mark>	CGAG	<mark>AUCCU</mark> G
Consensus	(1009)	AGCA	CACGGU	JGCAG3	U 0	CCCCG	cuccu	ICCCAC	CAAGU	IGGAGUI	(CGAG)	AUCCU
											s	Section 20
	(1065)	1065	1070		1080		1090		1100	1	110	1120
NM_012429	(1065)	UUCC	CUGGCI	JG <mark>U</mark> GU(CUCAG	GUGGC	AGUU <mark>U</mark>	AUG <mark>UC</mark>	AGAUG	GAGCGG	SAUG <mark>U</mark> I	U <mark>GG</mark> U <mark>UU</mark>
NM_174975	(964)	UUUC	CA <mark>GGCT</mark>	JGC <mark>GU</mark> U	r <mark>cuca</mark> s	GUGGC;	<mark>AGUU</mark> C	UCAUC	UGAUG	ig <mark>u</mark> gc <mark>g</mark> g	ACAU	GGCUU
NM_174977	(976)	UUCC(c <mark>eect</mark>	Je <mark>u</mark> eue	CUCAG	SGUGGC;	AGUU <mark>U</mark>	GCUUC	AGAUG	ie <mark>u</mark> eeee	3ACAU	GGCUU
Consensus	(1065)	UUCC	C GGCI	JGUGU	CUCAG	GUGGC	AGUUU	C UC	AGAUG	GUGCGG	SACAU	CGGCUU
											\$	ection 21
	(1121)	1121	1	130	1	140		150	1	160		1176
NM_012429	(1121)	UGGG.	AUUUUU	CUGAF	GACCE	AGAUG	<mark>GG</mark> A <mark>GA</mark>	GAGGC	AGCGG	GC AG GG	GAGA	JGAC <mark>A</mark> G
NM_174975	(1020)	CGGA	συσσα	CUGAR	GACCE	AGAUG	3G <mark>G</mark> GA	GCGAC	AGC GG	GC AG GG	GAGA	JGAC <mark>A</mark> G
NM_174977	(1032)	UGGG	GUUUUU	CUGAJ	GACCI	AGAUG	зс <mark>с</mark> дл	IC ACC	<mark>AG</mark> A <mark>G</mark> U	I <mark>GC</mark> UA <mark>G6</mark>	GAGAI	JGAC GG

							—— Section 22
(1177)	1177	,1°	190	1200	,1210	,1220	1232
NM_012429(1177)	AGGU	GCUGCCCAAC	<mark>CAG</mark> A <mark>G</mark> GUA	CAACUCCO	CACCUGGUC	C C <mark>U</mark> GAAGAU	IGGGACCUC
NM_174975(1076)	AUGU	U <mark>CU</mark> ACCCACC	CAG <mark>C</mark> GCUA	U <mark>AACG</mark> CCC	AC <mark>A</mark> UGGU <mark>G</mark>	CCCGA <mark>G</mark> GAU	IGGGAACCUC
NM_174977 (1088)	AGGU	GCUGCCCAGC	CAG <mark>C</mark> GCUA	CAAUGCCC	AC <mark>AUGGU</mark> G	CC <mark>U</mark> GA <mark>G</mark> GAU	IGGGA <mark>GCCUC</mark>
Consensus (1177)	AGGU	GCUGCCCAGC	CAGCGCUA	CAACGCCC	ACAUGGUG	CCUGAGGAU	IGGGA CCUC
							—— Section 23
(1233)	1233	1240	1250	,126	0 ,10	270	1288
NM_012429 (1233)	ACCU	GCAGU <mark>GA</mark> UC <mark>C</mark>	U <mark>GGC</mark> A <mark>UCU</mark>	AUGUCCU	CGGUUUGA	CAACACCUA	CAGCUUCAU
NM_174975(1132)	ACCU	GCUCA <mark>GAGG</mark> C	C <mark>GGC</mark> GUCU	AUGUCCU	A <mark>CG<mark>C</mark>UU<mark>C</mark>GA</mark>	CAACACCUA	UAGCUUUGU
NM_174977 (1144)	ACCU	GCCUCC <mark>AGGC</mark>	U <mark>GGC</mark> GUCU.	AUGUCCU	CG <mark>CUU</mark> CGA	CAACACCUA	CAGCCGG <mark>AU</mark>
Consensus (1233)	ACCU	GC GAGGC	UGGCGUCU	AUGUCCUG	GCGCUUCGA	CAACACCUA	CAGCUU AU
							— Section 24
(1289)	1289	1300		310	,1320	1330	1344
NM_012429 (1289)	U <mark>CAU</mark>	GCCAAGAAG <mark>G</mark>	UC AAU <mark>UU</mark> C.	AC <mark>U</mark> GUGG <i>I</i>	reen <mark>c</mark> onec	UUCCAGACA	AAGCCUCAG
NM_174975(1188)	C <mark>CA</mark> C	GCCAAGAAG <mark>G</mark>	UCA <mark>GC</mark> UUC.	AC <mark>AGUGG</mark>	leen <mark>c</mark> cnec	UCCCUGACG	A <mark>G</mark> GG <mark>C</mark> AU- <mark>G</mark>
NM_174977 (1200)	G <mark>CAU</mark>	<mark>gccaagaag</mark> c	UCA <mark>GC</mark> UAC.	AC <mark>U</mark> GUGGJ	reene <mark>cnec</mark>	UUCCCGACA	A <mark>GGCCUC</mark> UG
Consensus (1289)	CAU	GCCAAGAAGG	UCAGCUUC	ACUGUGG#	reenconec	UUCC GACA	AGGCCUC G
							—— Section 25
(1345)	1345	1350	1360	1370	1380	139	90 1400
NM_012429(1345)	AA <mark>GA</mark>	G <mark>A</mark> AGA <mark>UG</mark> AAA	CAG <mark>CU</mark> G <mark>GG</mark>	G <mark>GC</mark> AGG <mark>C</mark>	CCCC GAAA	UAACACCU	CUCCUAUAG
NM_174975(1243)	C <mark>A</mark> GA	- <mark>AAUAUGAUA</mark>	A <mark>GG</mark>	A <mark>GC</mark> – – <mark>UC</mark> F	ACCCCUG		IC <mark>U</mark>
NM_174977 (1256)	<mark>A</mark> G <mark>GA</mark>	G <mark>a</mark> c <mark>c</mark> cugc <mark>a</mark> g	<mark>a</mark> gu <mark>cu</mark> caa	<mark>GGC</mark> GA <mark>U</mark> G <mark>7</mark>	<mark>\</mark> GA <mark>CC</mark> C	<mark>U</mark>	ICCCAACA-
Consensus (1345)	AAGA	GAAGAUGAAA	A CU GG	GGC UCA	fcccc	υ	ICUCC A A
							—— Section 26
(1401)	1401	,1410	1420		430	,1440	1456
NM_012429(1401)	CAGC	CC <mark>TGGCCCC</mark> CCC	CAGUGU		AAUUUCUA	CCCUUGU <mark>A</mark> GU <mark>A</mark> GU	G <mark>C</mark> AG <mark>UC</mark> AU <mark>U</mark>
NM_174975(1274)	- <mark>AG</mark> G	<mark>VGGCUCCC</mark>	0 <mark>0</mark> <mark>0</mark> 0	UCAGA	HACE <mark>U CU</mark> A	A <mark>CCCUU</mark> UG	UUUU CUGU
NM_174977 (1300)	C <mark>AG</mark> U	ga <mark>agacocc</mark> a	G <mark>C</mark> CACC <mark>U</mark> C	UACCUGU	CAC <mark>UCC</mark> AA	CCCUUCAD	ACCCACCCC
Consensus (1401)	CAGG	UGGCCCCC	UCA UC	UCCCUGUG	AACUCCUA	CCCCUU A	C CUC U
							—— Section 27
(1457)	1457		470	1480	,1490	,1500	1512
NM_012429(1457)	UUCG	C <mark>A</mark> C <mark>A</mark> A <mark>CC</mark> CUG	AAG <mark>CCCA</mark> A	AG <mark>A</mark> AA <mark>CUG</mark>	<mark>iG-</mark> GC <mark>UG</mark> GA	G <mark>G</mark> A <mark>CAG</mark> A	CCUCAGGAG
NM_174975(1324)	<mark>UU</mark>	- <mark>AUA</mark> U <mark>CCU</mark> A <mark>C</mark>	AC <mark>UCCC</mark> UC	c <mark>c</mark> ucc <mark>cu</mark> a	A-AA <mark>U</mark> UGA	υυ- <mark>ο</mark> υυ <mark>λο</mark> υ	I <mark>CCUC</mark> CU <mark>GA</mark> C
NM_174977 (1356)	UCUC	ACC <mark>CCU</mark> G <mark>C</mark>	CU <mark>UCCCA</mark> G	G <mark>CA</mark> GGG <mark>UG</mark>	<mark>GUGCU</mark> GGA	GGU <mark>G</mark> G <mark>C</mark> UGC	AGAG <mark>AG</mark> CCA
Consensus (1457)	UU G	A A CCU C	A UCCCA	CA CUG	GCUGGA	G G CAG	CCUCAGGA
							—— Section 28
(1513)	1513	1520	1530	,1540	0 ,18	550	1568
NM_012429 (1510)	- <mark>CU</mark> U	UCAUUUCA	GUUAGGCA	G <mark>AG</mark> G <mark>AAG</mark>	AGC GACUGC	AG <mark>UGGG</mark> U <mark>C</mark> U	CC <mark>GUGUCUA</mark>
NM_174975 (1375)	ປ <mark>ິດປ</mark> ິດ	UG <mark>ACG</mark> UU <mark>A</mark>	GUG <mark>AGU-</mark> A	C <mark>AG</mark> A <mark>AAG</mark> A	AGA <mark>U</mark> GC	<mark>CC<mark>VGG</mark>G</mark>	
NM_174977 (1410)	CUUG	UCCC <mark>ACGUC</mark> A	CCAUUUCA	UCUC <mark>A</mark> UUQ	BU <mark>AG</mark> G <mark>CU</mark> CA	CC <mark>UGG</mark> CA <mark>C</mark> A	GU <mark>G-G</mark> C <mark>C</mark> A <mark>A</mark>
Consensus (1513)	CUG	UC ACGUCA	GU AGUCA	AG AAGA	AGAG CUGC	CCUGGG C	GGCA

										— Section 29
(1569)	1569		1580		1590		1600		1610	1624
NM_012429(1563)	UCA-	- <mark>AA</mark> UA <mark>C</mark> O	UAAG(G <mark>agu</mark> c <mark>c</mark>	C <mark>CAG</mark> G	AG <mark>C</mark> UG	GCUGG	CC <mark>AU</mark> C	gu <mark>ga</mark> u <mark>ag</mark>	GAUCUG <mark>UC</mark>
NM_174975(1414)	- A <mark>A</mark> -	- <mark>AA</mark> CU <mark>C</mark> F	UCUA(U <mark>GU</mark> GG	U <mark>C</mark> AG-	AU <mark>C A</mark> A	GAAAG	GU <mark>AU</mark> -	– – <mark>GA</mark> G <mark>AG</mark>	GCACAACC
NM_174977 (1465)	G <mark>CA</mark> G	GAAGGG	CCAC	CA <mark>GU</mark> GC.	AU <mark>AG</mark> -	CCCAU	I <mark>GCUG</mark> A	ag <mark>au</mark> u	CA <mark>GA</mark> C <mark>AG</mark>	G <mark>AAC</mark> C-UC
Consensus (1569)	CA	AA C	UCA (CAGUGC	CAG	A CA	GCUGG	UA :	GA AG	GAAC UC
										— Section 30
(1625)	1625	1630	1	1640	.1	650		660	1670	1680
NM 012429(1617)	UGUC	CUGUAA	CUGU	G <mark>CCAA</mark> C	UUCAC	CUGUC	CAGGG	ACAGC	GAAGCUG	GGGGGUGGC
NM 174975 (1463)	u	<mark>U</mark> GG <mark>Z</mark>	GG <mark>GU</mark> 2	ACCAAG	g <mark>u</mark> ugo	A- <mark>G</mark> AA	G <mark>AG</mark> GA	AAAAG	C <mark>AAG6</mark>	GUAAA
NM 174977 (1519)	U	<mark>U</mark> UCO	CUGU	J <mark>CCCAG</mark>	AGA <mark>A</mark> U	rec <mark>e</mark> ec	UGA <mark>GA</mark>	AUGAG	AACGCUG	AAGAUGAU
Consensus (1625)	U	υz	CUGU	CCAAG	U AC	GC	AGGA	A AAG	AAGCUG	G G UGA
										— Section 31
(1681)	1681	.16	90	,170	0	.171	10	,172	0	1736
NM 012429 (1673)	GGGG	GGCAUCU	ACCA	C A <mark>GG G</mark> U	G <mark>GCA</mark> G	CAGGG	AA <mark>AA</mark> A	AUUA	GA <mark>AAA</mark> GG	G <mark>UGAA</mark> AG <mark>A</mark>
NM_174975(1507)	gg	<mark>CA</mark> AGA	AGU	<mark>GG</mark> GU	<mark>guca</mark> u	IG <mark>A</mark> AAC	UC <mark>AA</mark> U	AUA <mark>AA</mark> U	<mark>gcaaa</mark> a-	- <mark>UGAA</mark> UCC
NM_174977 (1569)	CCAC	UC <mark>CA</mark> CU6	; <mark>A</mark> ·	<mark>GG</mark> AU	G <mark>G</mark> GUC	CUGCU	r <mark>u</mark> gc <mark>a</mark> g	AAGCU	GCCCUU-	-UCACCCA
Consensus (1681)	GG G	CAG	A	GGGU	GGCA	CAG	U AA	AA UA	GCAAA	UGAA CA
										- Section 32
(1737)	1737		175	0	.1760)	1770)	1780	1792
NM_012429(1729)	UGG	GACUUA <mark>/</mark>	(CACUUC.	AGG <mark>GA</mark>	AGUCA	GCUGC	CGGG	AGAA <mark>ACU</mark>	TUG <mark>CU</mark> C <mark>C</mark> UA
NM_174975(1554)	CCUA	GCCUUU08	UCCU	CA <mark>C</mark> CUA	CCCUA	AGGCA	GGUGU	GUAUG	C <mark>U</mark> UG <mark>A</mark> AU	uc <mark>cuuc</mark> c <mark>e</mark>
NM_174977 (1618)	UCUU	GACAAG	UCC-2	AG <mark>CC</mark> AC	CC <mark>A</mark> G	ACUCA	CCCAU	IGCC <mark>UG</mark>	G <mark>U</mark> GUU <mark>C</mark> C	A <mark>GCUUC</mark> A <mark>G</mark>
Consensus (1737)	UCU	GACUU A	UCC (CACCUC	CC GA	AGUCA	GCUGU	IG UG	U ACU	UGCUUC G
										— Section 33
(1793)	1793	1800		1810		1820		1830		1848
NM_012429(1781)	A <mark>AUG</mark>	AACAC-7	UAAGI	J <mark>UUAG</mark> A	UCG <mark>CA</mark>	AUGAG	G-AG <mark>U</mark>	AGCAG	GG <mark>∐</mark> AG <mark>C</mark> L	GGUUGC
NM_174975(1610)	U <mark>AU</mark> G	GC <mark>UGUG</mark>	GCAA	CUUGGG	UU <mark>G</mark>	<mark>GA</mark> G	A-CAU	AUCUA	A <mark>AU</mark> C <mark>CUU</mark>	UUUACU
NM_174977 (1673)	GGGG	UG <mark>UGCG</mark> U	GUU	CU <mark>UAG</mark> G	UCCUG	UG <mark>GA</mark> C	AUCAC	AGCUU	CAGGCCU	GAAGAGCA
Consensus (1793)	AUG	UGCGF	GA	CUUAGG	UCG	GAG	A CAU	AGCU	AU CCU	IG GU C
										— Section 34
(1849)	1849		1860		1870		1880		1890	1904
NM_012429(1833)	UAG <mark>A</mark>	G <mark>U</mark> UA <mark>C</mark> G	UGGGG	G <mark>AUCA</mark> G	AAACU	UUCC	AAACA	A <mark>UU</mark> U <mark>UU</mark> A	GCACU <mark>G</mark> A	G <mark>GC</mark> UGG
NM_174975 (1659)	UCCA	C <mark>UCC</mark> CUA	UAUAI	J <mark>AGU</mark> AG.	AUGCU	ICA <mark>GU</mark> G	UAUAU	UUG <mark>U</mark> G	<mark>GCA</mark> U <mark>UG</mark> A	A <mark>UGG</mark>
NM_174977 (1729)	GAGA	AGCCCUG	UUCU	CU <mark>GC</mark> AU	G <mark>UA</mark> GG	AG <mark>GUC</mark>	AGCAG	igg <mark>gU</mark> g	GGC AG <mark>G</mark> C	CCAGCUGG
Consensus (1849)	UAGA	UCCCUG	υ	AGC AG	AUACU	IC GUC	AA A	UUGUG	GCA UGA	GCUGG
										- Section 35
(1905)	1905	1910		1920	,1	930	11	940	,1950) 1960
NM_012429(1887)	G <mark>GU</mark> A	GCUUUU	CUU	JUC <mark>CCA</mark>	GGU	<mark>CU</mark>	IC <mark>AG</mark> G <mark>A</mark>	GGUGG	C <mark>C</mark> UG <mark>A</mark> GU	CAGCACAC
NM_174975(1711)	A <mark>G</mark> GA	CCAGAA	GUAG	3GUG <mark>C</mark> A	<mark>ggu</mark> ga	<mark>CU</mark>	C <mark>A</mark> ACA	GCUGU	a <mark>c</mark> auga <mark>t</mark>	U <mark>AGGA</mark> GG-
NM_174977 (1785)	A <mark>G</mark> GC	AGCUGG	UGAG	3GUC <mark>C</mark> U	<mark>GGU</mark> UC	CAG <mark>C</mark> A	G <mark>AGC</mark> A	CUGGG	GCCCAUC	CAAGUUUG
Consensus (1905)	AGGA	. C U 0	G AG	GUCCA	GGU	CU	CAGCA	G UGG	C A U	CAGGA

										Section 36
(1961)	1961	,197	0	1980		1990		2000		2016
NM_012429 (1938)	AU <mark>C</mark> U	UCCCA <mark>CU</mark>	CG <mark>GUAG</mark>	AC AGG	: <mark>UG</mark> CC	UC <mark>U</mark> C	- <mark>C</mark> CU <mark>C</mark> A	CUUUGA	GACUI	JUG <mark>GCA</mark> A
NM_174975(1763)	AG <mark>C</mark> -	<mark>cu</mark>	A <mark>UG</mark> UG <mark>G</mark>	GGUGGI	U	<mark>U</mark> U	- <mark>C</mark> A <mark>GCA</mark>	CCUUG-	<mark>gac</mark> a(3GA <mark>GCA</mark> G
NM_174977 (1841)	UUCU	G <mark>CC</mark> AC <mark>C</mark> A	CU <mark>G</mark> G <mark>A</mark> U	GGAAA	UU <mark>G</mark> GA	AA <mark>U</mark> GGi	∖ <mark>C</mark> U <mark>G</mark> GG	CG <mark>UGG</mark> U	GGCUC	CAC <mark>GC</mark> CU
Consensus (1961)	AUCU	CC CU	CUGUAG	GGAGG	U G	U	C GCA	C UUG	GACU	GCA
										Section 37
(2017)	2017		2030		2040		2050	,206	30	2072
NM_012429 (1992)	cucc	- <mark>UGG</mark> GC <mark>C</mark>	ACACGG	C	UGCCU	CUUUG	AUUA <mark>C</mark> U	A <mark>UGA</mark> U	UGUC/	AG <mark>U</mark> GA <mark>C</mark> U
NM 174975 (1804)	AU GU	G <mark>UGG</mark> U <mark>G</mark> G(3 <mark>GUUG</mark> G	A	UCUCU	ucugg	AGAC CO	AGACAA	U-UCP	AG <mark>U</mark> <mark>C</mark> U
NM_174977 (1897)	AA <mark>U</mark> AA	UCCCA <mark>GC</mark>	A <mark>GUUU<mark>G</mark></mark>	GGAGG	U <mark>G</mark> AG <mark>U</mark>	UGGGC	AGA <mark>UC</mark> A	CCUG <mark>AG</mark>	A-UC/	AGGAGUU
Consensus (2017)	AU	UGG GC	AGUUGG	- C	UG CU	U UGG3	AGA C	A UGA	U UCA	AGU CU
										Section 38
(2073)	2073	2080		2090	2	100	21	10		2128
NM_012429 (2043)	CAG-	AGCUUC <mark>CI</mark>	UGG <mark>GA</mark> C	UUCG <mark>G</mark>	JUACCC	A <mark>CC</mark> C <mark>G</mark> (C – <mark>U G U</mark> U	UCCCAU	GC AA	ACAAAGC
NM_174975 (1853)	cc	AGA <mark>UU</mark> UCI	UGGC <mark>A</mark> -		UGG <mark>C</mark> U	GU <mark>CU</mark> U	J- <mark>UG</mark> AG	GG <mark>CC</mark> CC	AGC C7	ACAAAG-
NM_174977 (1952)	CGGG	ACCAGCCI	UGG <mark>G</mark> CA	ACAU <mark>G</mark>	AAA <mark>DUG</mark> AAA	.c <mark>ccus</mark> i	JCUCUA	CUAA <mark>A</mark> A	AUAC <mark>/</mark>	AAAAUU
Consensus (2073)	CG	AGCUUCC	UGGGA	GG	JUG C	CCUGI	J UGU	CUCCA	A ACA	ACAAAG
										Section 39
(2129)	2129		2140	,21	50	216	0	2170		2184
NM_012429 (2097)	-GCC	AGGGAA-	A <mark>UG</mark> A <mark>C</mark> C	CACA	<mark>G</mark> G <mark>GA</mark>	UCGCA	GCU <mark>G</mark> C-	•AG <mark>GGA</mark> G	GGC <mark>C</mark>	AGG G <mark>AGG</mark>
NM_174975 (1899)	-GCC	AC	A <mark>UG</mark> C <mark>C</mark> U	CU	<mark>6</mark> 8	UAG <mark>G</mark> A	GCU <mark>G</mark> C-	UAC <mark>AU</mark>	<mark>C</mark> ?	AGG <mark>C</mark> UUU
NM_174977 (2008)	AGCC	G <mark>GG</mark> C <mark>A</mark> UG	G <mark>UG</mark> G <mark>C</mark> G	UG <mark>CA</mark> CO	U <mark>G</mark> UA <mark>A</mark> :	UCC <mark>C</mark> A	3CU <mark>AC</mark> U	I <mark>C</mark> A <mark>GG<mark>A</mark>G</mark>	GCUG <mark>7</mark>	AGG <mark>CAGG</mark>
Consensus (2129)	GCC	AGG A	AUG C	C CA	G GA	UCGCA	GCUGC	C GGAG	G C7	AGGCAGG
										Section 40
(2185)	2185	2190	,220	00	2210)	2220		2230	2240
NM_012429(2147)	-U <mark>U</mark> G	G <mark>GG</mark> G <mark>U</mark> G <mark>G</mark>	3 <mark>A</mark> GUG <mark>A</mark>	AU <mark>GCU</mark> A	AA <mark>AGC</mark>	AGA <mark>U</mark> C	SUCCAG	<mark>U</mark> GCCC <mark>U</mark>	UUUC-	<mark>A</mark> G <mark>UGC</mark>
NM_174975(1938)	- <mark>GU</mark> C	UGAC <mark>UU</mark> G	C <mark>AC</mark> G <mark>C</mark> U	ICA <mark>GCU</mark> U	JCCCAC	CC- <mark>UA</mark>	AC <mark>CCA</mark> C	UDCCC <mark>U</mark>	UG <mark>U</mark>	<mark>UGC</mark>
NM_174977 (2064)	AGAA	UC GC UUG	U <mark>ac</mark> c <mark>ca</mark>	GGAGG	GG <mark>AG</mark> G	UUG <mark>UA</mark>	<mark>gu</mark> gag <mark>o</mark>	UGAGAU	C <mark>GU</mark> GQ	CC <mark>R</mark> C <mark>UGC</mark>
Consensus (2185)	GU	UGGCUUG	AC CA	GCU	AGC	UAC	JUCCAC	UGCCCU	UGU	A UGC
										Section 41
(2241)	2241	225	0	2260		2270		2280		2296
NM_012429 (2200)	UA-C	CG <mark>GCCU</mark> C	UCAC	CA <mark>AGC</mark> A	\ <mark>G</mark> U <mark>CC</mark> U	CCAUGI	JG <mark>AGC</mark> A	ACCCCG	AGAC/	AAAUG
NM_174975(1987)	AC-A	UAGCUUA	<mark>ປດ</mark> ບບ	UU <mark>AG</mark> G-	GACUU	UCCUG	SA <mark>AGC</mark> A	AAGGC-	AGUC/	ACAUCUG
NM_174977 (2120)	ACUC	CAGCCUG	3 <mark>6</mark> CA <mark>AC</mark>	AG <mark>AG</mark> C	AGACU	CCGUC	CUAA	CAAAC-	AAACA	AAACAAA
Consensus (2241)	AC C	CAGCCU	UG AC	AGC	G CCU	CC UGI	J AGCA	AA C	AGACA	AAA AUG
										Section 42
(2297)	2297		2310		2320		2330	,234	10	2352
NM 012429(2253)	CU	AGUGGG.	AUC AAG	AGAGC7	GCACU	CGGAG	NGGG	UGUUUG	CCAGI	JCUG <mark>A</mark> GU
NM 174975 (2038)	GCAU	AUCAUA	AUAAAG	AAAACA	ACUA-					
NM_174977 (2175)	CAAA	CAAAUAA	AGAAAG	AACAU	J <mark>G</mark> G <mark>AC</mark> A	UGGAG	AGG UG	GGCCUG	G <mark>CA</mark> U	3GGU <mark>A</mark> AC
Consensus (2297)	C AU	AA A	AUAAAG	AAAACA	GCAC	GGAG	AGG G	G UG	CA	A

									— Section 43
(2353)	2353	2	360	2370	2	380	2390		2408
NM_012429 (2305)	GUC	cece	GUGCC	C <mark>GCCA</mark> AC	CCCUUCC	UG- <mark>A</mark> CU	gacc <mark>ug</mark> ag	C <mark>AA</mark> G <mark>G</mark> U	CUU <mark>A</mark> CUAA
NM_174975 (2065)									
NM_174977 (2231)	CAU	AGAG	GAAA?	A <mark>GCCA</mark> UG	CUCAGCCU	UCC <mark>A</mark> GU	UGAG <mark>UG</mark> G	UAACGA	CUGAGUCU
Consensus (2353)	0 0	GGG	}G	GCCA	с с	UAU	UG 0	G AA G	CUAU
									— Section 44
(2409)	2409		24	20	2430	2440	2	450	2464
NM_012429 (2360)	GCAG	UCCC	Ancora	U <mark>GUG</mark> GGA	IGG <mark>C</mark> AUG <mark>C</mark> A	ACGCGU	GCAGGGA0	G <mark>UUC</mark> AGG	nec <mark>c</mark> ee <mark>n</mark> c
NM_174975 (2065)	0.000	0000							
NM_174977(2287) Conconsus(2409)	CRO	GGAR	10000	AGUGACC	uc <mark>c</mark> ecu <mark>c</mark> e	ACACCU	ec e en		CAACAUUU
Consensus (2403)	C-MG	,	00.0	. 000		AC C 0	00 0 0A	000	Section 45
(2485)	2465	2470	\ \	2480	2490	\	2500	2510	2520
NM 012429(2416)	GGCC	HAGO	CAGG	CHGGAGG	CCCCCC	, G <mark>CA</mark> GGA	secoloci	AAAGGO	CCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCCC
NM 174975 (2085)									
NM 174977 (2342)	AGC	J <mark>UU</mark> GG	JUUCU	UUGGCAG	CUGCAC	-CAUUC;	AUGG <mark>C</mark> UG	AUAUAC	UACAGUC
Consensus (2465)	GC	UG	0	UGG G	ic c c	CA	G C	A A C	G G
									- Section 46
(2521)	2521		2530	2	540	2550	256)	2576
NM_012429 (2472)	C <mark>C</mark> UC	CUC <mark>G</mark> C	A <mark>G</mark> ACU	IA <mark>G</mark> GG <mark>GCU</mark>	G <mark>G</mark> GGG <mark>C</mark> GG	CC <mark>A</mark> CAG	ACGG <mark>C</mark> C <mark>UC</mark>	GAAACC	AC <mark>A</mark> GC <mark>CCU</mark>
NM_174975 (2065)									
NM_174977 (2395)	U <mark>G</mark> AA	ACA <mark>G</mark> G	sn <mark>e</mark> cno	u <mark>e</mark> cu <mark>ecu</mark>	A <mark>G</mark> AAA <mark>C</mark> AC	CA <mark>A</mark> A	C <mark>C</mark> AUC	UU <mark>A</mark> G <mark>A</mark> UU	AA <mark>A</mark> CU <mark>CCU</mark>
Consensus (2521)	G	G	G	G GCU	G C G	C A	C U(AA:	A A CCU
									— Section 47
(2577)	2577			2590	2600	26	510	2620	2632
NM_012429 (2528)	UACO	CCAA	NUCCC7	CGAGCCC	CG <mark>CC</mark> AACG	AACCAC	A <mark>GGUG</mark> C <mark>U</mark> G	GCUUU	AGA <mark>G</mark> AACA
NM_174975 (2065)									
NM_174977 (2446)	AAAO	CCA0		CGAGGCA	.00 <mark>00</mark> 0600	CCAACU	eeue u	AGCAG	AUU <mark>O</mark> GC
Consensus (2577)	A	CCA	U CCA	CGAG C	66		GGOG O	G .	Section 48
									- 0000001140
(2833)	2633	2	840	2650		660	2670		2688
(2633) NM 012429(2584)	2633 UGG6	2 IAAGG	640 CGGCC	2650 CCAGACC	usscasa	660 ACGCCIII	2670	GAGCCA	2688 GGCCCCGG
(2633) NM_012429 (2584) NM_174975 (2065)	2633 UGGG	2 SAAGG	640 CGGCC	2650 CCAGACC	uggeggge	660 ACGCCU	2670 UUCCCUCF	GAGCCA	2688 GGCCCCGG
(2633) NM_012429 (2584) NM_174975 (2065) NM_174977 (2500)	2633 UGGG	2 BAAGG	640 CGGCC	2650 CCAGACC	200000000	660 ACGCCU	2670 UUCCCUCF	GAGCCA	2688 GGCCCCGG
(2633) NM_012429 (2584) NM_174975 (2065) NM_174977 (2500) Consensus (2633)	2633 UGGG	2 BAAGG	640 CGGCC	2650 CCAGACC	UGGCGGGA	660 ACGCCU	2670 UUCCCUC#	GAGCCA	2688 GGCCCCGG
(2633) NM_012429 (2584) NM_174975 (2065) NM_174977 (2500) Consensus (2633)	2633 UGG0	2 JAAGG	640 CGGCC	2650 CCAGACC	2 UGGCGGGF	660 ACGCCU	2670 UUCCCUC7	GAGCCA	2688 GGCCCCGG
(2633) NM_012429 (2584) NM_174975 (2065) NM_174977 (2500) Consensus (2633) (2689)	2633 UGGG 2689	2 SAAGG	640 CGGCC 27	2650 CCAGACC	20066C6666P	660 ACGCCU 2720	2670 UUCCCUCA	GAGCCA	2688 GGCCCCGG - Section 49 2744
(2633) NM_012429 (2584) NM_174975 (2065) NM_174977 (2500) Consensus (2633) (2689) NM_012429 (2640)	2633 UGG0 	2 FAAGG	640 3CGGCC 27 JGGGAF	2650 CCAGACC	2710 2710	660 ACGCCU 2720 CUGAGG	2670 UUCCCUCA GAGCUCAG	730	2688 GGCCCCGG - Section 49 2744 GGCCAGGC
(2633) NM_012429 (2584) NM_174975 (2065) NM_174977 (2500) Consensus (2633) (2689) NM_012429 (2640) NM_174975 (2065)	2633 UGG0 	2 JAAGG	640 3CGGCC 27 JGGGAF	2650 CCAGACC 00 GCUCAUC	2710 2710	660 ACGCCU 2720 CUGAGG	2670 UUCCCUCA GAGCUCAG	GAGCCA	2688 GGCCCCGG
(2633) NM_012429 (2584) NM_174975 (2065) NM_174977 (2500) Consensus (2633) (2689) NM_012429 (2840) NM_174975 (2065) NM_174977 (2500)	2633 UGGG 2689 CCCC	2 BAAGG	640 3CGGCC 27 JGGGAA	2650 CCAGACC 00 GCUCAUC	2710 2710	2720 CUGAGG	2670 UUCCCUCA GAGCUCAG	730	2688 GGCCCCGG
(2633) NM_012429 (2584) NM_174975 (2065) NM_174977 (2500) Consensus (2633) (2689) NM_012429 (2640) NM_012429 (2640) NM_174975 (2065) NM_174977 (2500) Consensus (2689)	2633 UGG0 2689 CCCC	2 BAAGG	27 1000000 27 10000	2650 CCAGACC 00 NGCUCAUC	2710 2710	2720 CUGAGG	2670 UUCCCUCA GAGCUCAG	730	2688 39000006
(2633) NM_012429 (2584) NM_174975 (2065) NM_174977 (2500) Consensus (2633) (2689) NM_012429 (2640) NM_174977 (2500) NM_174977 (2500) Consensus (2689)	2633 UGG0 2689 CCCC	2 BAAGG	27 1000000000000000000000000000000000000	2650 CCAGACC 00 AGCUCAUC	2710 2710	660 ACGCCU 2720 CUGAGG	2670 UUCCCUCA GAGCUCAG	16AGCCA 730 76GCAAA	2688 GGCCCCGG
(2633) NM_012429 (2584) NM_174975 (2065) NM_174977 (2500) Consensus (2633) (2689) NM_012429 (2640) NM_012429 (2640) NM_174975 (2065) NM_174977 (2500) Consensus (2689)	2633 UGGG 2689 CCCC	GUCU	27 JGGGAP	2650 CCAGACC	2710 2710	660 ACGCCU 2720 CUGAGG	2670 UUCCCUCA GAGCUCA	16AGCCA 730 76GCAAA	2688 GGCCCCGG
(2633) NM_012429 (2564) NM_174975 (2065) NM_174977 (2500) Consensus (2633) (2689) NM_012429 (2640) NM_012429 (2640) NM_174975 (2065) NM_174977 (2500) Consensus (2689)	2633 UGGG 	GUCU	27 JGGGAP	2650 CCAGACC 00 IGCUCAUC	2710 2710	2720 2720	2670 UUCCCUCA GAGCUCAG	730 666CAAA	
(2633) NM_012429 (2584) NM_174975 (2065) NM_174977 (2500) Consensus (2633) (2689) NM_012429 (2640) NM_174977 (2500) Consensus (2689) (2745)	2633 UGGG 2689 CCCC 2745	2750	27 JGGGA7	2650 CCAGACC 00 IGCUCAUC 2760	2710 2710 2770 22770	660 ACGCCU 2720 CUGAGG	2670 UUCCCUCA GAGCUCAG 2780	2790	2688 GGCCCCCG
(2633) NM_012492(2584) NM_174975 (2065) NM_174977 (2500) Consensus (2633) (2689) NM_012429 (2640) NM_174977 (2500) Consensus (2689) (2745) NM_012429 (2696) NM_012425 (2066) NM_012425 (2066)	2633 UGGG 2689 CCCC 2745 UAGC	2750 2750	27 JGGGAP	2650 CCAGACC 00 IGCUCAUC 2760 AAGGGGCC	2710 2710 2770 2770 2770 2770	660 ACGCCU 2720 CUGAGG CACGGGC	2670 UUCCCUCA 2 GAGCUCA GAGCUCAC 2780 CCUCUGCC	1999 1730 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 19	2688 GGCCCCCGG
(2633) NM_012429 (2584) NM_174975 (2065) NM_174977 (2500) Consensus (2633) (2689) NM_012429 (2640) NM_174977 (2500) Consensus (2689) (2745) NM_012429 (2696) NM_174975 (2005) NM_174972 (2506) NM_174972 (2506)	2633 UGGG 2689 CCCC 2745 UAGC	2750 2750	27 1000000000000000000000000000000000000	2650 CCAGACC 00 IGCUCAUC 2760 AAGGGGGC	2710 2710 2770 2770 2770 2770	660 ACGCCU 2720 CUGAGG	2670 UUCCCUCA GAGCUCAG 2780 CCUCUGCC	1730 1730 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 19	2688 GGCCCCCGG
(2633) NM_012429 (2584) NM_174975 (2065) NM_174977 (2500) Consensus (2633) (2689) NM_012429 (2640) NM_174975 (2065) NM_174977 (2500) (2745) NM_012429 (2696) NM_174975 (2065) NM_174977 (2500) Consensus (7245)	2633 UGGG 2689 CCCC 2745 UAGC	2750 27750	27 10000 AP	2650 CCAGACC 00 NGCUCAUC 2760 AAGGGGCC	2710 2710 2770 2770 2770 26A6GCUG	660 ACGCCU 2720 CUGAGG	2670 UUCCCUCA GAGCUCAG GAGCUCAG 2780 CCUCUGCC	1730 1730 1966CAAA 1966CAAA 19790 19790	2688 GGCCCCGG
(2633) NM_012429 (2584) NM_174975 (2065) NM_174977 (2500) Consensus (2633) (2689) NM_012429 (2640) NM_174975 (2065) NM_174977 (2500) Consensus (2695) NM_012429 (2695) NM_174977 (2500) Consensus (2745)	2633 UGGG 2689 CCCC 2745 UAGC	2750 GC GG.	27 JGGGGAP	2650 CCAGACC 00 NGCUCAUC 2760 AAGGGGGCC	2710 2770 2770 2770 2770 26A6GCUG	660 ACGCCU 2720 CUGAGG	2670 UUCCCUCA GAGCUCAG GAGCUCAG 2780 CCUCUGCC	1730 1730 1966CAAA 1966CAAA 19790 1980 1990	2688 GGCCCCGG
(2633) NM_012429 (2584) NM_174975 (2065) NM_174977 (2500) Consensus (2633) (2689) NM_012429 (2640) NM_174975 (2065) NM_174977 (2500) Consensus (2689) (2745) NM_012429 (2696) NM_012429 (2696) NM_174977 (2500) Consensus (2745) NM_174977 (2500) Consensus (2745)	2633 UGGG 2689 CCCC 2745 UAGC 2801	2750 2750	2810	2650 CCAGACC 00 IGCUCAUC 2760 AAGGGGGCC	2710 2710 UUGCGAAG 2770 CGAGGCUG	2720 CAC66660	2670 UUCCCUCA 2 GAGCUCAG 2780 CCUCUGCC	1999 1730 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 1999 19	2688 GGCCCCGG
(2833) NM_012429 (2584) NM_174975 (2065) NM_174977 (2500) Consensus (2633) (2689) NM_012429 (2640) NM_174977 (2500) Consensus (2699) NM_012429 (2696) NM_012429 (2696) NM_174977 (2500) Consensus (2745) NM_174977 (2500) Consensus (2745) NM_012429 (2752)	2633 UGGG 2689 CCCC 2745 UAGC 2801 AUCC	2750 GCGG.	277 JGGGAP ACCGG 2810 CUGGG	2650 CCAGACC 00 	2710 2710 2770 2770 2770 2770 26A5GCUG 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20	2720 CAC6666 2830 GGAAAAU	2670 UUCCCUCA GAGCUCAG 2780 CCUCUGCC 2840 JUAACCAA	1999 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990	2688 GGCCCCGG
(2833) NM_012429 (2584) NM_174975 (2065) NM_174977 (2500) Consensus (2633) (2689) NM_012429 (2640) NM_174977 (2500) Consensus (2689) (2745) NM_012429 (2696) NM_174975 (2065) NM_174975 (2065) NM_174975 (2065) NM_012429 (2752) NM_012429 (2752) NM_012429 (2752) NM_174975 (2065)	2633 UGGG 2689 CCCC 2745 UAGC 2801 AUCC	2 5AAGG :GUCU 2750 GCGG.	277 JGGGAP ACCGG 2810 CUGGG	2650 CCAGACC CCAGACC CCAGACC CCCCACAC CCCCCACAC CCCCACAC CCCCCACAC CCCCCACAC CCCCCACAC CCCCCC	2710 2770 UUGCGAAG UUGCGAAG CGAGGCUG CGAGGCUG CGCUGUUA	2720 2720 CUGAGG CUGAGG CACGGGG 2830 GGAAAAU	2670 UUCCCUCA GAGCUCAG 2780 CCUCUGCC 2780 CCUCUGCC 2840 JUAACCAA	1999 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990	2688 GGCCCCGG
(2633) NM_012429 (2584) NM_174975 (2065) NM_174977 (2500) Consensus (2633) (2689) NM_012429 (2640) NM_174975 (2065) NM_174977 (2500) Consensus (2689) (2745) NM_012429 (2696) NM_174977 (2500) Consensus (2745) NM_012429 (2655) NM_012429 (2625) NM_012497 (2505) NM_174977 (2505) NM_174977 (2505)	2633 UGGG 2689 CCCCC 2745 UAGC 2801 AUCC	2 3AAGG CGUCU 2750 GCGG CGGC	277 JGGGAA ACCGG 2810 CUGGG	2650 CCAGACC CCAGACC CCAGACC CCCACC CCCAGACC CCCACCA	2710 2710 UUGCGAAG 2770 CGAGGCUG CGAGGCUG CGCUGUUA	2720 CACGGGG CACGGGG 2830 GGAAAAU	2670 UUCCCUCA GAGCUCAG GAGCUCAG CCUCUGCC CCUCUGCC 2840 JUAACCAA	1730 1730 1966CAAA 2790 AGAACGO	2688 GGCCCCGG
(2633) NM_012429 (2584) NM_174975 (2065) NM_174977 (2500) Consensus (2633) (2689) NM_012429 (2640) NM_174975 (2065) NM_174977 (2500) Consensus (2745) NM_012429 (2665) NM_174977 (2500) Consensus (2745) NM_012429 (2752) NM_012429 (2752) NM_174977 (2500) Consensus (2801) NM_012429 (2752) NM_174977 (2500) Consensus (2801)	2633 UGGG 2689 CCCCC 2745 UAGC 2801 AUCC	2 3AAGG CGUCU 2750 GCGG CGGCG	277 JGGGAP ACCCGG 2810 CUGGG	2650 CCAGACC 00 NGCUCAUC 2760 AAGGGGGCC 28 UUUACAAC	2710 2710 UUGCGAAG UUGCGAAG 2770 CGAGGCUG CGAGGCUG	660 ACGCCU 2720 CUGAGG CACGGGC	2670 UUCCCUCA GAGCUCAG GAGCUCAG CCUCUGCC CCUCUGCC 2840 JUAACCAA	1730 1730 1966CAAA 2790 AGAACGO	2688 GGCCCCGG
(2033) NM_012429 (2584) NM_174975 (2065) NM_174977 (2500) Consensus (2633) (2689) NM_012429 (2640) NM_174975 (2065) NM_174977 (2500) Consensus (2745) NM_012429 (2696) NM_174977 (2500) Consensus (2745) NM_012429 (2752) NM_012429 (2752) NM_012497 (2500) Consensus (2801)	2633 UGGC 2689 CCCC 2745 UAGC 2745 UAGC	2 3AAGG 	277 JGGGAP ACCGG	2650 CCAGACC 00 GCUCAUC 2760 AAGGGGGCC 28 UUUACAAC	2710 2710 UUGCGAAG 2770 CGAGGCUG CGCUGUUA	2720 CAC66660	2670 UUCCCUCA 2 GAGCUCAG 2780 CCUCUGCC 2840 JUAACCAA	130 1730 1996 CAAA 1997 AGAACGO 1997 AGAACGO	2688 GGCCCCGG
(2833) NM_012429 (2584) NM_174975 (2065) NM_174977 (2500) Consensus (2633) (2689) NM_012429 (2640) NM_174977 (2500) Consensus (2689) NM_174977 (2500) Consensus (2745) NM_012429 (2655) NM_174977 (2500) Consensus (2745) NM_012429 (2752) NM_174977 (2500) Consensus (2801) (2857)	2633 UGGG 2689 CCCCC 2745 UAGC 2801 2801 2801 2807	2750 2750 CGGCC	2867_	2650 CCAGACC 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 0	2710 2710 2770 2770 2770 2770 2770 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20 20	2720 CACGGGC CACGGGC 2830 GGAAAAU	2670 UUCCCUCA 2 GAGCUCAG 2780 CCUCUGCC 2840 JUAACCAA	1999 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990 1990	2688 GGCCCCGG
(2833) NM_012429 (2584) NM_174975 (2065) NM_174977 (2500) Consensus (2633) (2689) NM_012429 (2640) NM_174975 (2065) NM_174977 (2500) Consensus (2689) NM_012429 (2696) NM_174975 (2065) NM_174975 (2065) NM_174975 (2065) NM_174975 (2065) NM_174975 (2065) NM_174977 (2500) Consensus (2801) (2857) NM_012429 (2808)	2633 UGGG 2689 CCCCC 2745 UAGC 2801 AUCC 2801 VUCA	2 3AAGG :GUCU :GUCU 	2887 2887 2887 2887 2887 300 2887 300 300 300 300 300 300 300 30	2650 CCAGACC CCAGACC CCAGACC CCCCAGACC CCCCACAC CCCCCACAC CCCCCACAC CCCCCACAC CCCCCACAC CCCCCC	2710 2710 UUGCGAAG UUGCGAAG CGAGGCUG CGAGGCUG CGCUGUUA	2720 2720 CUGAGG CACGGGC 2830 GGAAAAU	2670 UUCCCUCA GAGCUCAG 2780 CCUCUGCC 2000 2840 JUAACCAA	1730 1730 1966CAAA 1966CAAA 1966CAAA 1967ACGC	2683 GGCCCCGG
(2633) NM_012429 (2584) NM_174975 (2065) NM_174977 (2500) Consensus (2633) (2689) NM_012429 (2640) NM_174975 (2065) NM_174977 (2500) Consensus (2689) (2745) NM_012429 (2696) NM_174977 (2500) Consensus (2745) NM_012429 (2665) NM_174977 (2500) Consensus (2801) (2857) NM_012429 (2808) NM_174975 (2065) NM_174975 (2065) NM_174975 (2065)	2633 UGGG 2689 CCCCC 2745 UAGC 2801 AUCC 2801 AUCC 2857 UUCA	2750 ccccc	640 GGGGCC 277 JGGGAF ACCGG 2810 CUGGG 2867 GCA 	2650 CCAGACC COMBINE BOO BIGCUCAUC COMBINE COMBINE 2760 AAGGGGGCC 28 UUUACAAC	2710 2710 UUGCGAAG UUGCGAAG CGAGGCUG CGAGGCUG CGCUGUUA	660 ACGCCU 2720 CUGAGG CACGGGC	2670 UUCCCUCA GAGCUCAG GAGCUCAG CCUCUGCC CCUCUGCC 2840 JUAACCAA	1730 1730 1996	2688 GGCCCCGG
(2633) NM_012429 (2584) NM_174975 (2065) NM_174977 (2500) Consensus (2633) (2689) NM_012429 (2640) NM_174975 (2065) NM_174977 (2500) Consensus (2745) NM_012429 (2665) NM_174977 (2500) Consensus (2745) NM_012429 (2752) NM_012429 (2752) NM_012429 (2752) NM_012429 (2752) NM_012429 (2752) NM_012429 (2655) NM_012429 (2655) NM_174977 (2500) Consensus (2857) NM_012429 (2857) NM_012429 (2858) NM_174977 (2500)	2633 UGGG 2689 CCCCC 2745 UAGC 2801 AUCC 2801 AUCC 2867 UUCA	2 3AAGG 	2810 2810 2867 2867 300 2867 300 300 300 300 300 300 300 30	2650 CCAGACC 00 NGCUCAUC 2760 AAGGGGGCC 28 UUUACAAC	2710 2710 UUGCGAAG UUGCGAAG 2770 26AGGCUG 26AGGCUG	660 ACGCCU 2720 CUGAGG CACGGGC	2670 UUCCCUCA GAGCUCAG 2780 CCUCUGCC 2840 JUAACCAA	130 1730 1969CAAA 2790 AGAACGO	2683 GGCCCCGG

Figure 2.3: Multiple sequence alignment of the three human SPF mRNAs (sections 1-**52).** NM_012429, human SPF1 mRNA, 2752 bp; NM_174975, human SPF2 mRNA, 2065 bp; NM_144977, human SPF3 mRNA, 2500 bp. This multiple sequence alignment was created with use of the sequence comparison algorithm AlignX of Vector NTI Advance10 (Invitrogen). The SPF gene thought to correspond to the most widely characterized SPF is NM_012429. Sections 11, 13, 14 and 18 are annotated to show the primers used for

the Multiple Tissue cDNA Arrays, as described below. Sections 25 and 26 are annotated to show the oligonucleotide probes used for hybridization to Multiple Tissue Expression arrays, as described below.

Cloning of SPF2 and SPF3 cDNAs

The coding sequence for SPF1 was already available in our lab and had been cloned into the pTYB4 vector (New England Biolabs, Inc.). I was unable to amplify the full-length cDNA for SPF2 from human liver or small intestine cDNA libraries, despite a variety of reaction conditions and multiple primer pairs tested. Only a ~600 bp fragment (302-882 bp of the corresponding mRNA) was able to be amplified from a human small intestine cDNA library, and it was subsequently cloned into the Zero Blunt TOPO vector.

The SPF3 cDNA was amplified from a human lung cDNA library with sequence-specific primers derived from the published transcript sequence (NM_174977). The sequence of the polymerase chain reaction (PCR) product was determined and confirmed to be identical with SPF3. This PCR product was cloned into the Zero Blunt TOPO shuttle vector (Invitrogen), plasmid DNA was isolated, the insert was released with *Nde*I and *Xho*I, purified, and cloned into the bacterial expression vector, pTYB2 (New England Biolabs, Inc.).

Multiple Tissue cDNA Panels

The expression of the three SPF genes was first analyzed by PCR using gene-specific primers on a set of first-strand cDNAs generated from 8 human tissues (MTC I panel, Clontech). The tissues analyzed were: heart, brain, placenta, lung, liver, skeletal muscle, kidney and pancreas. Gene-specific primers for each sequence were designed and the specificity of each primer-pair was tested by PCR on cDNA templates for each SPF cDNA

available in the laboratory. Multiple primer-pairs were tested and the best specificity was obtained with the following primers, as shown in Table 2.2.

Gene	Primers	PCR	Annotation in
		product size	Fig 2.2
	Fw: 5'-CCACCAGACCACAAAGTTG-3'		in red
SPF1	Rv: 5'-GGCTTTAACAACAAAAAGACG-3'	~200 bp	in Sections 11&14
	Fw: 5'-CAGAGACCCTGAAGTTCATG-3'		in green
SPF2	Rv: 5'-CACGTACATGGACTTGGGG-3'	~260 bp	in Sections 13/14 & 18
	Fw: 5'-GTTGCATGAGTGTGAGCTGC-3'		in blue
SPF3	Rv: 5'-CAGGTAGTAGCTCTTGGGC-3'	~420 bp	in Sections 11&18

Table 2.2: Gene-specific primers used in the MTC-PCR experiments.

These primer-pairs were highly specific for their cognate cDNAs, as shown in Fig. 2.4. With the confirmed specificity of these gene-specific primers, the expression pattern of the three SPF genes in tissues from a Multiple Tissue cDNA panel (MTC) was examined (Fig. 2.5). SPF1 appeared to be expressed in all tissues, as, despite the smear, a band of ~200bp can be seen in placenta, pancreas, brain, liver and kidney. A band is less evident in lung, heart and muscle, but from this experiment expression cannot be definitively ruled out. Improved PCR results or another approach would be needed to rule out this

possibility. For SPF2 no distinct band of ~260 bp was observed in any tissue. However, the smearing pattern on the gel appears to be different for different tissues and this may be due to some nonspecific binding of primers, or there might be some product which is not visible due to the smearing. With SPF3 a clear result indicating no expression in any of the tissues, except for pancreas, was obtained. In general, the inability to obtain a clean PCR product in these tissues with these primers prevented the unambiguous interpretation of these results, and therefore the outcome of this experimental approach was deemed unsatisfactory.



Figure 2.4: Specificity of the SPF primers. Gel electrophoresis of the PCR products obtained with A, SPF1-specific primers; B, SPF2-specific primers; C, SPF3-specific primers. In each panel the lanes are as follows: lane 1, 500-bp DNA ladder; lane 2, PCR product with SPF1 as a template; lane 3, PCR product with SPF2 as a template; lane 4, PCR product with SPF3 as a template.



Figure 2.5: PCR screen on Multiple Tissue cDNA panels for expression of SPF1, 2 and 3. Gel electrophoresis of the PCR products obtained with each set of primers is as follows: A, lane 1, 500-bp DNA ladder; lane 2, glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (G3PDH) PCR product (1000 bp) from control cDNA provided by the manufacturer; lanes 3-11, PCR products obtained with SPF1 primers on different tissue cDNA templates; lanes 12-20, PCR products obtained with SPF2 primers. The DNA templates are indicated above each lane. B, lane 1, 500-bp DNA ladder; lane2, empty; lanes 3-10, PCR products obtained with SPF3 primers on different tissue cDNA templates, as indicated above the figure.

Multiple Tissue Expression arrays

Because of the inconclusive results obtained with the MTC-PCR approach described above, hybridization of gene-specific probes to Multiple Tissue Expression (MTE) arrays was chosen as an alternative approach to assess tissue expression patterns. MTE arrays consist of a nylon membrane with immobilized polyA⁺ RNA from 75 different human tissues (Table 2.3), allowing the screening of a broad range of tissues in a single experiment. Moreover, the probes for this experiment were designed to the 3'untranslated regions of the mRNAs, which share much less identity between SPF genes than do the coding regions. Therefore, these probes were expected to overcome the problems encountered with primer specificity in the earlier MTC-PCR experiments. The probe sequences used in these experiments are indicated in Fig 2.3 in Sections 25 and 26, and are listed in Table 2.2. Probes were hybridized to the MTE arrays as described in Materials and Methods (see below). After hybridization the signal from the mRNA dots was analyzed and net intensities were determined. As shown in Figure 2.6, for the SPF1 transcript the strongest signal was obtained in mammary gland (F9), stomach (B5) and liver (A9). The signal from trachea (H7), prostate (E8) and testis (F8) was weaker but noticeable. There was no distinguishable signal from either SPF2 or SPF3 in this experiment (Figures 2.7 and 2.8).

High expression of SPF1 in liver was not surprising, as it is a main site of cholesterol biosynthesis. Similarly, prostate and testis are also sites of cholesterol and sex hormone Moreover, high expression of SPF1 in liver and prostate has been svnthesis. demonstrated by others ¹¹. Mammary gland, especially during lactation, is a site of intensive lipid uptake, de novo biosynthesis, transport and excretion; the expression of SPF1 in this tissue is consistent with a role for this protein in cholesterol synthesis and/or processing. The basis for expression of SPF in trachea and stomach is less evident, but suggests that SPF may have additional functions not yet recognized. It should be noted that polyA⁺ RNA was prepared from the whole organs without distinguishing specific cell-types within the organ, and it is possible that SPF is important in particular cell-types within an organ. Indeed, there are reports demonstrating the presence of SPF in endothelial cells of various organs or tissues, consistent with a model in which SPF serves as a transporter protein and may be involved in lipid absorption or secretion events ⁴³. Further investigation on cell-type specificity of expression within various tissues and cell types will be needed to elucidate such functions.

MTE arrays were normalized to the expression levels of eight different housekeeping genes to make possible the quantification of signal and conclusions regarding relative transcript abundance in different tissues. For this reason different amounts of mRNA (from 37 to 1127 ng per dot) were loaded on each blot to account for differences in transcriptional activity of different tissues (Table in Fig 2.3). Graphs in Figures 2.6-8 display net signal intensity obtained from each tissue after hybridization with each probe. The results displayed are one-time measurements, as the probes could not be stripped from the blots effectively. Due to the high cost of each blot, the hybridizations were performed only once for each probe. For this reason the results were not treated as quantitative and further conclusions on relative transcript abundance in different tissues cannot be made from these data. Similarly, the results from each blot cannot be compared to each other as the blotting was performed at different times with different probes and there is no control that would allow for comparison between blots. Therefore the relative levels of each transcript in a single tissue cannot be determined from these data and another approach had to be undertaken to answer this question.



Figure 2.6: Human SPF1 tissue specific expression. Multiple Tissue Expression (MTE) Array probed for presence of SPF1 gene.



Figure 2.7: Human SPF2 tissue specific expression. Multiple Tissue Expression (MTE) Array probed for presence of SPF2 gene.



Figure 2.8: Human SPF3 tissue specific expression. Multiple Tissue Expression (MTE) Array probed for presence of SPF3 gene.

Table 2.3: Positioning and amount of all polyA+ RNAs loaded on Multiple TissueExpression blots.

Position	Tissue	ng/dot
A1	whole brain	130
B1	cerebral cortex	204
C1	frontal lobe	124
D1	parietal lobe	205
E1	occipital lobe	153
F1	temporal lobe	205
G1	postcentral gyrus of cerebral cortex	146
H1	pons	113
A2	cerebellum left	227
B2	cerebellum right	339
C2	corpus callosum	252
D2	amygdala	156
E2	caudate nucleus	216
F2	hippocampus	170
G2	medulla oblongata	149
H2	putamen	175
A3	substantia nigra	140
B3	accumbens nucleus	119
C3	thalamus	142
D3	pituitary gland	309
E3	spinal cord	142

A4	heart	376
B4	aorta	77
C4	atrium, left	253
D4	atrium, right	190
E4	ventricle, left	345
F4	ventricle, right	374
G4	interventricular septum	506
H4	apex of the heart	352
A5	esophagus	100
B5	stomach	491
C5	duodenum	161
D5	jejunum	422
E5	ileum	190
F5	ileocecum	176
G5	appendix	158
H5	colon, ascending	183
A6	colon, transverse	130
B6	colon, descending	124
C6	rectum	147
A7	kidney	340
B7	skeletal muscle	270
C7	spleen	188
D7	thymus	146
E7	peripheral blood leukocyte	185
F7	lymph node	254

H7	trachea	189
A8	lung	158
B8	placenta	520
C8	bladder	183
D8	uterus	158
E8	prostate	237
F8	testis	386
G8	ovary	153
A9	liver	1030
В9	pancreas	1127
C9	adrenal gland	245
D9	thyroid gland	188
E9	salivary gland	548
F9	mammary gland	101
A10	promyelotic leukemia, HL-60	39
B10	Hela S3	95
C10	K-562, chronic myelogenous leukemia	69
D10	MOLT-4, lymphoblastic leukemia	42
E10	Raji, Burkitt's lymphoma	54
F10	Daudi, Burkitt's lymphoma	37
G10	SW480, colorectal adenocarcinoma	57
H10	A549, lung carcinoma	43
A11	fetal brain	101
B11	fetal heart	238
C11	fetal kidney	284

D11	fetal liver	237
E11	fetal spleen	249
F11	fetal thymus	183
G11	fetal lung	239
A12	yeast total RNA	
B12	yeast tRNA	
C12	E.coli rRNA	
D12	E.coli DNA	
E12	Poly r(A)	
F12	human Cot-1 DNA	
G12	human DNA	100
H12	human DNA	500

Real-Time Polymerase Chain Reaction (RT-PCR) with the use of a standard curve was employed to assess the relative levels of expression of three SPF transcripts in selected tissues. First, the template for the standard curve was created by cloning a short segment of each SPF cDNA into the single vector (Fig. 2.9). A series of template dilutions was prepared and the standard curve for each SPF gene was generated (Fig. 2.10).



Figure 2.9: Template for RT-PCR Standard Curve. A segment of each SPF cDNA was cloned into the pTYB11 vector.



Figure 2.10: Standard curves generated for each SPF separately from the same template.

Gene-specific primers were designed for each transcript and the specificity of these primer pairs was confirmed by standard PCR (Fig.2.11).



Figure 2.11: Specificity of SPF primers used for RT-PCR. Gel electrophoresis of the PCR products obtained with SPF1-specific primers, SPF2-specific primers, SPF3-specific primers on SPF1, SPF2 and SPF3 templates; NTC- no template control (water). For each pair of primers only a band for specific template was obtained, indicating no crossreactivity with the other two SPFs.

The expression of each SPF mRNA transcript relative to the other two SPF transcripts was determined with RNA from liver, stomach, and mammary gland; these tissues were selected because the MTE blots indicated that all three SPF transcripts were present in these tissues. First, total RNA was reverse-transcribed to a single-stranded cDNA template and the expression of each SPF transcript was measured by real-time PCR with gene-specific primers. The quantity of each transcript in these three tissues then was determined with use of the standard curve. As anticipated from the MTE hybridization results, the SPF1 transcript was most abundantly expressed in these tissues (Fig. 2.12).



Figure 2.12 Relative expression levels of the three SPF transcripts in liver, stomach and mammary gland, as determined from the RT-PCR experiments.

In liver, SPF1 mRNA was ~20 fold higher than SPF3 mRNA, followed by very low levels of SPF2 mRNA. Liver was the only tissue where SPF2 mRNA was detectable. In stomach and mammary gland the trend was similar, with SPF1 mRNA levels higher than SPF3 levels by ~5 fold in stomach and ~70 fold in mammary gland (Fig. 2.11).

Summarizing, SPF expression was most evident in liver, stomach, and mammary tissue, with levels in liver being at least 50-fold higher than those found in other tissues. My

studies further show that, of the three SPF transcripts, SPF1 is the most abundant, followed by approximately 20-fold lower expression of SPF3 and negligible expression of SPF2. Although I had hoped to uncover differential expression of these genes in various tissues suggestive of functional differences, the expression patterns did not support this hypothesis. In all tissues where SPF was present, SPF1 expression dominated, suggesting that SPF2 and SPF3 were either non-functional, of marginal importance, or were expressed only in specific conditions or developmental stages. Further studies will be needed to identify any such conditions.

Copyright © Elzbieta Ilona Stolarczyk 2009

Chapter 3 : ABILITY OF THE SPF3 PROTEIN TO STIMULATE CHOLESTEROL SYNTHESIS

INTRODUCTION

Homology is defined as similarity between two sequences or structures that is attributed to their shared evolutionary history. There are two types of homologous genes: orthologs and paralogs. Homologous sequences are referred to as orthologs if the point of divergence was a speciation event. Otherwise they are paralogs of one another, which is the case for the three human SPF genes. A common paradigm in proteomics is that structure defines function. Functional assignment is often made based on sequence or structural similarity; i.e., if a hypothetical protein is similar in sequence or structure to a known protein, it is often provisionally assigned that same function. It is thought that orthologs are more likely than paralogs to retain the same function, because the events that give rise to paralogs, such as gene duplication and horizontal gene transfer, provide opportunity for diversification of function through the relaxation of selective pressure ^{44; 45}.

Experimental Rationale

Although it is clear that SPF1 can stimulate squalene monooxygenase *in vitro* and cholesterol synthesis when expressed in cultured hepatoma cells ¹², it is not known if SPF2 and SPF3 possess the same stimulatory properties. Based on the high degree of sequence similarity between these gene sequences, I hypothesized that SPF2 and SPF3 might also stimulate cholesterol synthesis. However, as noted above, homology does not necessarily imply functional equivalence. Therefore, this hypothesis should be

tested experimentally. To do so I chose microsomal assays and hepatoma cell culture as experimental test systems.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Recombinant Protein Expression and Purification

Recombinant protein was purified with use of the IMPACT (Intein Mediated Purification with an Affinity Chitin-binding Tag) protein purification system (New England Biolabs). The pTYB2 vector used for cloning is a fusion vector in which the C-terminus of a cloned protein is fused to the intein tag followed by chitin binding domain. The pTYB2 vector containing the SPF3 coding sequence (pTYB2 SPF3) was transformed into E.coli ER2566 competent cells carrying T7 RNA polymerase gene. Cells were grown at 37°C in 4 liters of LB medium containing 100 μ g/ml ampicillin. When the OQ₀₀ of the culture reached 0.6-0.8, protein expression was induced with IPTG at a final concentration of 0.5 mM. Cells were incubated overnight at constant agitation at room temperature. On the next day the cells were harvested by centrifugation at 5,000 x g for 10 minutes at 4°C. The cell pellet was resuspended in 100 ml of ice-cold Column Buffer (20 mM Tris-HCl, 500 mM NaCl, 1 mM EDTA, pH 8.0). Cells were divided into 20-ml portions and lysed by sonication on ice with 10-second bursts for a total of 5 minutes. A cleared lysate was obtained by centrifugation at 10,000 x g for 1 hour at 4°C. To reduce viscosity, lysates were treated with DNase for 30 minutes on ice. Cleared lysates were loaded onto the chitin column at 0.5 ml/min at 4°C. The column was washed with 10 bed-volumes of Column Buffer at 2 ml/min. On-column self-cleavage of the chitin-bound intein tag was induced by incubating column overnight in Column Buffer containing 50 mM βmercaptoethanol and eluting the next day with Column Buffer. Eluted protein was then concentrated, the protein concentration was measured by the Bradford assay and its quality and purity was checked by SDS-gel electrophoresis, followed by Coomassie blue staining. Protein was aliquoted and stored at -80°C.
Squalene monooxygenase assay

Preparation of the liver microsomal fraction: Rats were killed by decapitation, the liver excised, and microsomes were prepared by standard procedures ²¹. In brief, the liver was minced thoroughly with scissors, transferred into 2 volumes of ice-cold homogenization buffer (100 mM Tris-HCl buffer at pH 7.4, containing 0.1 mM EDTA) and homogenized using a Potter-Elveham homogenizer. All subsequent steps were carried out at 4°C. The samples were centrifuged at 10,000 x g for 20 min, and the pellet was discarded and the supernate was centrifuged at 100,000 x g for 60 min. The upper, lipid layer was removed and the cytosolic supernatant fraction collected. The microsomal pellet was resuspended with ice-cold homogenization buffer and recovered by 100,000 x g centrifugation for 60 min. The microsomal fraction was resuspended at ~20 mg of protein/ml in homogenization buffer and the cytosolic fraction (100,000 x g supernate) diluted to ~20 mg of protein/ml. The protein content was determined by Bradford assay with Coomassie Plus Reagent (Pierce). Aliquots were stored at -80°C.

Squalene Monooxygenase Assay: Microsomal squalene monooxygenase activity was determined with rat liver microsomes (400 μ g/incubation) in a final volume of 0.2 ml as described previously ²¹. Radiolabeled ¹⁴C-squalene was synthesized by SRI International (Menlo Park, CA) and used at 7 mCi/mmol. In brief, 200 μ g of microsomal protein, 30 μ M FAD, 40 μ M [¹⁴C]squalene, 10 μ g of phosphatidylglycerol, and 0.3 mM AMO 1618 (Calbiochem) to inhibit oxidosqualene cyclase in 200 μ l of 20 mM Tris-HCl buffer, pH 7.4, with 1 mM EDTA. Reactions were started by the addition of 1 mM of NADPH and placed in a 37°C water bath. After 1 h the incubation volume was brought to 1 ml with water and the reactions were stopped by the addition of 0.5 ml of 10% KOH in methanol. The tubes were capped, lipids were saponified at 80 °C for 1 h and then extracted with 3 ml of petroleum ether. The solvent layer was removed by centrifugal evaporation, the lipids resuspended in 50 μ l of petroleum ether and spotted onto silica thin-layer plates. Lipids were fractionated with 5% ethyl acetate in hexane, visualized with iodine vapor stain, and quantified by electronic autoradiography (Packard Instant Imager). The ability

of SPF to stimulate squalene monooxygenase was determined by adding 0.8 µg of purified recombinant protein, unless indicated otherwise. Triton X-100 at 0.1% was used as a reference for maximal activation of microsomal squalene monooxygenase.

Cell culture

McARH7777 rat hepatoma cells were cultured in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (Gibco) supplemented with 1x Penicillin-Streptomycin mixture (Invitrogen) and 10% Fetal Bovine Serum (Invitrogen).

Transfections

The day before transfection, cells were plated onto glass coverslips at the density 5×10^4 cells per cm². On the next day plasmid DNA was transfected into cells with use of Fugene 6 (Roche Diagnostics). Plasmid DNA was mixed with Fugene 6 reagent in serum-free medium at a ratio of 1 µg:5 µl, and complexes were allowed to form for 30 min at room temperature. The medium on the cells was replaced with antibiotic-free medium with 10% FBS and the transfection mixture was added dropwise to the cells. Cells were assayed 48 hours post-transfection.

Cholesterol synthesis assay

Cholesterol synthesis was measured 48 hours post transfection as follows. The media was replaced and ¹⁴C-acetate at 1 μ Ci/35 mm well was added and cells were incubated for 3 hours at 37°C. The media was removed, the cells were washed with PBS, and 1 ml of water was added and the cells were released by scraping. Cells were lysed by sonication in a water bath for 1 minute, after which 3 ml of a chloroform:methanol (2:1) mixture was added to each tube and the mixture was vortexed vigorously 5-10 times.

The lower fraction containing lipids was transferred into a new tube and the solvent was evaporated under liquid nitrogen. Samples were resuspended in 50 μ l of a chloroform: methanol mixture and spotted onto silica thin-layer plates. Lipids were fractionated with petroleum ether:ethyl ether:acetic acid (60:40:1), cholesterol was identified by co-chromatography of authentic standard visualized by iodine-vapor staining, and quantified by electronic autoradiography (Packard Instant Imager).

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Expression and purification of human recombinant SPF1 and SPF3 proteins

Following the cloning of SPF3 into pTYB2 vector, as described in Chapter 2, the SPF1 and SPF3 proteins were expressed in *E.coli* strain ER2566 and purified following the protocol for intein-fusion proteins with the IMPACT system (New England Biolabs, Inc.). Because a full-length SPF2 cDNA could not be cloned, it was not possible to generate and test this putative protein. The pTYB vectors are designed specifically for purification with the IMPACT system, which attaches a self-splicing element (intein) followed by a chitin binding domain to the carboxy-terminus of the expressed protein, which allows for binding to a chitin affinity column. The expressed protein is then released with β -mercaptoethanol, which promotes intein self-splicing and release of protein. The cleaved, purified protein retains four extra amino acids at the C-terminus: Leu-Glu-Pro-Gly. The concentration of recombinant proteins was measured with use of the BCA protein assay (Pierce) and the purity was analyzed by SDS electrophoresis followed by Coomassie Blue staining (Fig. 3.1).



Figure 3.1: SDS-gel electrophoresis of recombinant SPF1 and SPF3 proteins.

Stimulation of squalene monooxygenase activity by SPF3

The ability of the recombinant human SPF1 protein to stimulate squalene monooxygenase activity by approximately 2-fold in microsomes has been reported ²¹. Maximal stimulation was achieved with 0.8 μ g of recombinant protein in a 200- μ l incubation, while higher concentrations were inhibitory ^{8; 21; 46}. Therefore, a range of concentrations was tested with the SPF3 recombinant protein (Fig. 3.2). Triton X-100, which is strongly stimulatory to this enzyme *in vitro*, was included as a positive control. Consistent with previous reports, recombinant SPF1 protein stimulated the activity of squalene monooxygenase by ~2 fold. Statistical analysis by one-way ANOVA showed that this stimulation is statistically significant (p < 0.05). In contrast, SPF3 protein was unable to stimulate squalene monooxygenase activity across the range of concentrations or needs other conditions, or cofactors not supplied in microsomal assay to stimulate squalene monooxygenase. To address this possibility, the ability of SPF3 to increase cholesterol synthesis in mammalian cell culture was tested.



Figure 3.2: Squalene monooxygenase activity in the presence of recombinant SPF1 and SPF3. Radiolabeled 2,3-oxidosqualene formation from squalene was visualized and

measured by electronic autoradiography (Packard Instant Imager). A) Radiolabeled 2,3oxidosqualene visualized on a thin-layer chromatography (TLC) plate. B) Quantitative analysis of radiolabeled 2,3-oxidosqualene formation.

Stimulation of cholesterol synthesis in rat hepatoma cells

Cloning

In order to express the SPF3 protein in rat hepatoma cells, its cDNA had to be cloned into the mammalian expression vector pc3.1DNA(-) (Invitrogen). [The SPF1 cDNA had been cloned into this vector earlier ²³] The full-length SPF3 coding sequence was amplified from pTYB2SPF3 vector with the use of primers incorporating *Nde*I and *XhoI* restriction sites at the termini. The reverse primer incorporated a stop codon prior to the restriction site. The amplified sequence was ligated into the Zero Blunt TOPO vector, plasmid DNA purified, and the insert released with *Nhe*I and *XhoI* restriction enzymes. The insert was then purified and ligated into the mammalian expression vector pc3.1DNA(-) vector.

Characterization of an antibody for quantitation of SPF3

To assess expression levels of SPF1 and SPF3 proteins after transfection into the hepatoma cells, an antibody detecting both proteins was needed. Rabbit polyclonal hSec14l2 antibody (GenWay) was previously tested on immunoblots and in immunofluorescence and showed a very good signal and the ability to detect the human, rat and mouse SPF proteins. To address the question of whether this SPF1 antibody also recognizes the SPF3 protein, 50-250 ng of each protein was fractionated by SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis, followed by electrophoretic transfer for immunoblotting. Band intensities were measured and plotted against the protein amount. It was found that rabbit hSec14l2 antibody (GenWay) detects both SPF1 and SPF3, although it has approximately 3-fold better sensitivity for SPF1 (Fig. 3.3).



Figure 3.3: Detection of SPF1 and SPF3 proteins with rabbit Sec14l2 antibody. A) Immunoblot of SPF1 and SPF3 recombinant proteins probed with rabbit polyclonal Sec14l2 antibody (GenWay, Inc). B) Semi-quantitative analysis of immunoblot.

HA epitope cloning

To achieve more comparable results, site-directed mutagenesis was employed to insert an hemagglutinin (HA) epitope at the C-terminus of SPF1 and SPF3 (this cloning procedure is described in Chapter 4). In subsequent experiments, rabbit polyclonal HAprobe (Y11) antibody (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc.) was used to compare protein expression levels.

Cholesterol synthesis assay with SPF1 and SPF3

Rat hepatoma cells were transfected with SPF1, SPF3, or vector plasmid with Fugene6 transfection reagent (Roche) on day 0. On day 2 *de novo* cholesterol synthesis from ¹⁴C-acetate was measured in a 3 h window. Results from 3 separate experiments are shown below (Fig. 3.4).



Figure 3.4: Stimulation of cholesterol synthesis in rat hepatoma cells upon transfection with SPF1/3 expression plasmids. White bars: control (lacZ-transfected cells); red bars, SPF1-transfected cells; blue bars, SPF3-transfected cells. Each value represents the mean \pm S.E. of one experiment carried out in triplicate. Statistical analysis was performed with one-way ANOVA followed by Tukey's Multiple Comparison Test; a single asterisk (*) indicates a significant difference from the control with *p*<0.05; a double asterisk (**) indicates a *p* value <0.01.

As can be seen from this set of experiments, SPF3 was just as effective as SPF1 in stimulating cholesterol synthesis in transfected hepatoma cells. This result is in contrast to the lack of stimulation obtained with SPF3 in microsomal squalene monooxygenase

assays (Fig. 3.2). To ensure that SPF3 expression in these cells was comparable to that of SPF1 in SPF1-transfected cells, mRNA and protein levels were determined in cells transfected with each plasmid. As shown in Fig. 3.5, mRNA and protein expression levels varied significantly between experiments, probably reflecting transfection efficiency. Within an experiment generally similar levels of expression were obtained for both proteins, suggesting that SPF1 and SPF3 proteins have similar synthesis/degradation profiles. Moreover, protein levels correlated reasonably well with mRNA levels within each experiment for each expression construct, again suggesting that the differences in protein levels between experiments largely reflected transfection efficiency rather than differences in transcription, translation, or mRNA or protein stability for either protein.





Figure 3.5: Expression levels of SPF1 and SPF3 in transfected rat hepatoma cells. Data are taken from three separate experiments. A) RNA levels assessed by RT-PCR; B) protein levels as determined from semiquantitative analysis of immunoblot images (shown below the graph). Proteins were probed with an antibody against the HA epitope (Y11); β actin was probed with a mouse anti β -actin antibody. Intensities of the bands were quantified with use of ImageJ software (NIH, MD) and expressed as the ratio of HA tag signal/ β actin. C) Correlation of RNA and protein levels.

To assess the transfection efficiency of these plasmids, immunofluorescent staining of transfected cells was employed, using an antibody that recognizes the added HA epitope of each protein. Representative pictures are shown in Fig. 3.6. In these experiments transfection efficiencies were uniformly low (< 10%), but did not differ greatly between experiments or between plasmids. Moreover, the intensity of the staining did not differ between the plasmids, suggesting that both proteins were equally well expressed in these cells. In experiment #1 roughly ~1% of cells expressed SPF1 and ~3% expressed SPF3; in experiment #2 ~4% cells expressed SPF1 and ~8% expressed SPF3; in experiment #3 ~1% of cells expressed SPF1 and ~6% expressed SPF3. In general, higher transfection efficiencies yielded higher mRNA and protein expression levels, and largely correlated with the expression the corresponding SPF protein: Experiment 2 showed relatively high transfection efficiency for both plasmids, and the highest protein and mRNA levels as assessed by immunoblotting and RT-PCR, respectively; Experiment 3 showed the greatest difference in transfection efficiency between the two plasmids, and also the greatest difference in SPF protein expression levels.



Figure 3.6: Transfection efficiency of SPF1 and SPF3 expression plasmids as determined by immunofluorescent staining. Red, HA tag; blue, DAPI nuclear stain. Representative pictures from three separate experiments. In experiment #1 ~1% of cells expressed SPF1 and ~3% expressed SPF3; in experiment #2 ~4% cells expressed SPF1 and ~8% expressed SPF3; in experiment #3 ~1% of cells expressed SPF1 and ~6% expressed SPF3.

When the ability to stimulate cholesterol synthesis (data from Fig. 3.4) is expressed relative to the level of expression of each SPF protein (data from Fig. 3.5), the "specific activity" of each SPF can be determined, as shown in Fig. 3.7. From this analysis it appears that SPF1 is slightly more effective that SPF3 in its ability to activate this pathway, although the difference is not statistically significant.



Figure 3.7: Specific activity of SPF1 and SPF3 proteins to stimulate cholesterol synthesis. A) Data from three separate experiments; activity of SPF1 protein in each experiment was set as 100% in order to enable comparison with SPF3 "specific" activity B) Average of the same data.

Several conclusions can be drawn from this data. The ability of SPF proteins to stimulate cholesterol synthesis appears quite robust; this conclusion is based on the 1.5- to 2-fold increase in radiolabel incorporation into cholesterol in cultures in which less than 10% of the cells are transfected with an expression plasmid. This suggests that the rate of

cholesterol synthesis in transfected cells is as much as 10-fold higher than that in untransfected cells. Secondly, the ability of SPF3 to stimulate cholesterol synthesis appears not to be dependent on a stimulation of squalene monooxygenase activity, as the recombinant protein was largely inactive in microsomal assays of squalene monooxygenase activity (Fig. 3.2). This is in marked contrast to SPF1, which is able to double the activity of this enzyme. This suggests that SPF3 acts at a second site in the cholesterolgenic pathway, likely HMG-CoA reductase, the well-recognized regulatory step in cholesterol synthesis. It has been shown by this laboratory that SPF1 increases the activity of this enzyme in cell culture and *in vitro*²³. Because HMG-CoA reductase is typically the rate-limiting step in cholesterol synthesis, stimulation of this activity is almost certainly necessary to increase the overall rate of cholesterol synthesis in whole cells, with stimulation of squalene monooxygenase activity, it may increase cholesterol synthesis by acting at HMG-CoA reductase to increase the overall activity of this pathway.

Finally, it is worth noting that SPF3 expression is approximately 20-fold lower than SPF1 in liver, based on the expression data presented in Chapter 2. Thus, in this highly cholesterolgenic tissue SPF3 is not likely to play a significant role. It may assume greater importance in other tissues, such as stomach or mammary gland, or during development.

Copyright © Elzbieta Ilona Stolarczyk 2009

Chapter 4 : INTRACELLULAR LOCALIZATION OF HUMAN SPF PROTEIN

INTRODUCTION

Supernatant Protein Factor (SPF) was originally purified from rat liver cytosol ⁶, and could not be detected in the microsomal fraction. Comparison to the database of known proteins revealed that SPF possesses a lipid binding domain (termed Sec14), and Golgi dynamics (GOLD) domain. This suggests that SPF might be an intracellular lipid transport protein and that it may interact with membrane components upon ligand binding or in response to certain stimuli.

In African green monkey kidney (Cos-7) cells, heterologously expressed SPF protein translocated into the nucleus upon the addition of α -tocopherol ³⁴. It was further shown by luciferase reporter assay that SPF, upon addition of α -tocopherol to the cells, acts as a transcription factor ³⁴. However, in cervical carcinoma (Hela) and mouse mast cells, heterologously expressed SPF protein localized to the cytosol and failed to move to the nucleus in response to α -tocopherol ^{31;47}.

Recent studies by Zingg et al. ⁴³ have demonstrated that in mastocytoma (HMC-1) and lung carcinoma (A549) cells, endogenous SPF1 protein partially co-localized with the Golgi protein giantin. In Hela and adrenocortical (H295R) cells SPF co-localized with a mitochondrial marker. Localization of SPF1 to the Golgi suggested a role in this secretory pathway, while association with mitochondria was suggested to have specific function in the transport of lipid molecules (vitamin E, squalene, phospholipids) into and out of mitochondria ⁴³. All these reports suggest that SPF localization events are cell-

type specific and may have different roles depending on cell type, ligand, or specific conditions.

Incubation of microsomes with the cytosolic fraction or recombinant SPF protein results in an increase of squalene monooxygenase activity. This effect was potentiated by addition of ATP to the cytosol, which suggested that secondary modification by phosphorylation may be necessary for full SPF activity²¹. In support of this suggestion, addition of certain kinase inhibitors blocked the ATP-induced increase in SPF activity, at the same time narrowing the pool of kinases to protein kinase A (PKA) and C (PKC). A decrease in cytosolic SPF activity was also observed upon addition of various protein phosphatases, which were able to reduce SPF activity by ~50%. To extend these studies, recombinant SPF protein was preincubated with PKA or PKC in the presence of ATP prior to addition to the squalene monooxygenase assay. In both cases there was ~2 fold increase in SPF activity²¹. The conclusion drawn from these studies was that SPF is activated by PKA and PKC δ by phosphorylation on one or more serine or threonine residues. The SPF sequence contains three consensus sequences for PKA and six for PKC. It was later found that rat SPF2 is also stimulated by PKA ³⁸. Sequence alignment of rat and human SPF proteins revealed a single conserved PKA consensus site; substitution of a serine in this consensus site with alanine resulted in a mutated protein (SPF1S289A) which retained basal SPF activity in the microsomal assay but could no longer be activated by PKA or C. These in vitro results were later confirmed in a cell culture system²³. Cholesterol synthesis was elevated in rat hepatoma cells upon transfection with SPF and it was further increased when dibutyryl-cAMP, a PKA activator, was added. Total loss of SPF stimulation was observed upon addition of a cell permeable PKA inhibitor, 14-22 amide. Morover, expression of the phosphorylation mutant (SPF1S289A) failed to result in stimulation of cholesterol synthesis in hepatoma cells, indicating that this serine residue (S289) has to be phosphorylated to stimulate cholesterol synthesis in whole cells.

72

Since GOLD domain stands for Golgi Dynamics domain, and the GOLD domain is thought to be involved in protein-protein interactions and intramembrane events, it was suggested that SPF associates with Golgi. One of the means to test this hypothesis was the construction of a GOLD domain deletion mutant (SPF1del111/SPF292). This truncated protein was expressed in rat hepatoma cells and indeed, was unable to stimulate cholesterol synthesis in these cells. This result revealed that the GOLD domain is necessary for the SPF stimulatory effect and suggested that interaction with Golgi may be required for SPF function. To determine if interaction with Golgi is required for stimulation of cholesterol synthesis by SPF1, studies with brefeldin A, which disrupts Golgi structures, were carried out ²². The stimulatory effect on cholesterol synthesis in SPF1-overexpressing cells was totally lost in brefeldin A-treated cells, which could be reversed by removal of the disaggregator, allowing reassembly of the Golgi bodies. These results indicated that SPF-mediated stimulation of cholesterol synthesis depends on intact Golgi and phosphorylation of SPF ²².

Experimental Rationale

SPF proteins belong to a family of lipid binding proteins and are thought to be involved in intracellular transport of small lipid molecules. The structure contains lipid binding domain and GOLD domain that is thought to be involved in bringing cargo from ER towards Golgi or in other protein-protein interactions. Previous studies have shown that the SPF1 protein is activated by phosphorylation and that Ser289 is required for this phosphorylation. Also, stimulatory the effect of SPF on cholesterol synthesis requires intact Golgi and the GOLD domain is thought to mediate this putative interaction.

SPF is presumably a transporter protein and therefore I hypothesized that in response to ligand binding or/and other stimuli it would redistribute within the cell. Two SPF mutants, one having serine 289 replaced by alanine, and the other missing the GOLD domain, are inactive, and therefore I hypothesized that, in contrast to the wild type protein, these mutant SPF proteins would fail to localize correctly in the cell during cholesterol synthesis or upon phosphorylation.

To test this hypothesis, immunolocalization studies on hepatoma cells transfected with an SPF expression plasmid or SPF mutants. Transfected cells were treated with inhibitory and activating stimuli which were shown earlier to affect SPF activity (dbcAMP, brefeldin A, PKAi, Vitamin E). Since these treatments and alterations have a significant effect on the ability of SPF to stimulate cholesterol synthesis, I hypothesized that they will also engender changes in SPF localization inside the cell. Identification of the subcellular compartments to which SPF localizes in response to these treatments would provide insight on the mechanism of SPF function.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Site directed mutagenesis by overlap-extension PCR

The PCR fragment (A-Mut-B) containing the desired mutation was obtained in a sequence of reactions depicted on the scheme in Fig. 4.1 and was used in the whole plasmid amplification reaction (WPA). A 50 μ l WPA reaction consisted of: 50 ng of template DNA (purified plasmid containing gene to be mutated, in this case pc3.1SPF1), a primer pair (1 μ l of A-Mut-B PCR fragment), 0.2 mM dNTPs, 1x *Pfu* buffer, and 2.5 U of *Pfu Turbo* DNA polymerase. Reaction conditions were: 95°C for 1 minute, followed by 18 cycles of: 95°C for 1 minute, 55°C for 1.5 minutes, and ending with 68°C for 9 minutes.

Cell culture

McARH7777 rat hepatoma cells were cultured in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (Gibco) supplemented with 1x Penicillin-Streptomycin mixture (Invitrogen) and 10% Fetal Bovine Serum (Invitrogen).

Plasmid transfections

The day before transfection, cells were plated on glass coverslips at a density of 5×10^4 cells per cm². On the second day plasmid DNA was transfected into the cells with use of LipofectamineTM (Invitrogen) or Fugene6 (Roche Diagnostics). *Lipofectamine transfections:* Plasmid DNA was pre-complexed with PlusTM Reagent (Invitrogen) in serum-free medium at the ratio 1 µg:10 µl and incubated at room temp for 15 min. Medium-diluted Lipofectamine was added (2.5 µl per 1 µg of DNA) to form complexes with the mixture and incubated at room temperature for 15 min. The media was replaced with half of the recommended volume of serum and antibiotic-free DMEM

medium. The transfection mixture was added dropwise to the cells and they were allowed to incubate at 37°C. After 3 h the volume of medium was increased to normal volume with DMEM containing 20% FBS and 2% penicillin/streptomycin solution. *Fugene6 transfections*: Plasmid DNA was mixed with Fugene 6 reagent in serum-free medium at the ratio 1 μ g:5 μ l and complexes were allowed to form for 30 min at room temperature. The media was replaced with antibiotic-free medium containing 10% FBS and the transfection mixture was added dropwise to the cells.

Immunofluorescence

To determine the cellular localization of the expressed SPF protein, cells were stained with primary antibody against the hemagglutinin epitope (rabbit polyclonal HA-probe Y11) followed by a secondary antibody conjugated to the fluorophore, which, upon excitation, emits fluorescence with a maximum at the specified wavelength. For colocalization studies antibodies for organelle-specific proteins were used. Cells, once immunostained and mounted on the glass slides, were analyzed by confocal microscopy. Efficiency of transfection was also confirmed through X-gal staining on cells transfected with plasmid containing the lacZ gene.

Isolation of primary hepatocytes

Hepatocytes were prepared from mice as follows: mice were anesthetized with Ketamine and the liver was perfused via the portal vein with 30 ml of liver perfusion solution (Ca²⁺ and Mg²⁺-free HBBS, 10 mM HEPES, pH 7.4, 0.1 mg/ml gentamycin sulfate, and 0.5 mM EGTA) followed by 30 ml of collagenase solution (Ca²⁺ Mg²⁺-free HBBS, 0.06% collagenase, supplemented immediately before use with CaCl₂, to final concentration of 0.5 mM) at 3ml/min. The liver was removed, transferred into a tissue culture plate with collagenase solution and the liver capsule was removed, the

hepatocytes were dissociated by shaking and filtered through a double layer of gauze. The cells were pelleted at low speed in a microcentrifuge, washed twice, counted, and viability determined by trypan blue exclusion. Hepatocytes were plated on coverslips coated with collagen in 35 mm dishes at 0.5×10^6 cells per 1 ml in DMEM containing 5% FBS. After 3 hr, the cells were washed and the medium was replaced with fresh medium. On the following day the hepatocytes were stained for immunofluorescent analysis.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Site-directed mutagenesis of SPF

The coding sequence for the hemaglutinin (HA) epitope (YPYDVPDYA) was inserted at the carboxy termini of the SPF cDNAs previously cloned into the pc3.1DNA(-) plasmid (SPF1, SPF1 mutants and SPF3). Insertion of the HA tags was carried out with sitedirected mutagenesis by overlap extension PCR, using the strategy depicted on the scheme below (Fig. 4.1). In brief, two fragments of a target sequence are amplified in two separate PCR reactions (A and B) by using, for each reaction, one universal (A or B) and one mutagenic primer, which contains desired insertion, deletion or point mutation (A-Mut, B-Mut). The two PCR products of these reactions were complementary at one end and they served as a new, overlapping template for the next reaction. DNA amplification on the overlapping template was performed with only the universal primers (A and B). The overlapped PCR product containing the desired mutation (A-Mut-B) was used as a primer pair for whole plasmid amplification of the original template. The product of this amplification contains mutated DNA; to eliminate the unmutated, original DNA template, digestion with the restriction enzyme DpnI was performed, taking advantage of its ability to cleave only methylated DNA. Unmethylated, mutated plasmid was used to transform competent cells. These cells were then grown on selective media, DNA isolated and sent for sequencing to identify positive clones. As a result, the following constructs were obtained: pc3.1SPF1-HA, pc3.1SPF1S289A-HA, pc3.1SPF1del111-HA, and pc3.1SPF3-HA.

78



Figure 4.1: Scheme for insertion of the HA tag into the SPF plasmids.

Cellular localization of heterologously expressed SPF protein

Rat hepatoma cells (McARH7777) were grown in 6-well plates and on glass coverslips and pc3.1SPF1-HA cDNA was transfected into the cells with use Fugene 6 Reagent (Roche). On the second day post-transfection, the expression of SPF protein was confirmed by immunoblotting using an antibody to the HA epitope, as follows. The cells grown on coverslips were fixed with ice-cold methanol and processed for immunofluorescence. Coverslips were incubated with primary antibody against the HA tag or against a marker of interest. To detect the signal, a secondary antibody conjugated to fluorochrome was used. The coverslips were mounted on glass slides and analyzed by fluorescent or confocal microscopy. Expressed SPF appeared to localize to the cytosol (Fig.4.2).



Figure 4.2: SPF1-HA protein expressed in McARH7777 cells. A) HA probe (red); B) Grp94 marker for endoplasmic reticulum (green); C) DAPI nuclear stain (blue); D) merge of A, B and C.

To determine whether the heterologously expressed SPF protein changes its intracellular location in response to phosphorylation, transfected cells were treated with dbcAMP, a PKA stimulator, or 14,22-amide, a PKA inhibitor. No change in localization was observed upon either of these treatments (Fig. 4.3 E-H).

Since disruption of Golgi resulted in loss of the SPF-mediated stimulatory effect on cholesterol synthesis ²², SPF-transfected cells were treated with brefeldin A for 3 hours prior to immunostaining. Disruption of Golgi was confirmed by immunostaining for the Golgi marker GM130 protein (Fig. 4.3 J). No change in SPF subcellular localization was observed upon disruption of Golgi (Fig 4.3 I-L). Upon treatment with α -tocopherol SPF protein was reported to translocate from cytosol into the nucleus in Cos-7 cells ³⁴. In transfected rat hepatoma cells SPF protein appeared to remain in cytosol upon addition of α -tocopherol (data not shown).



Figure 4.3: SPF1-HA protein expressed in McARH7777 cells, treated with dbcAMP and brefeldin A. Green - HA probe; red - Golgi marker (GM130); blue - DAPI nuclear stain.

Immunolocalization studies with mutant SPF proteins, previously shown to lose the ability to stimulate cholesterol synthesis, were then performed. Phosphorylation mutant (SPF1S289A) and GOLD domain deletion mutant (SPF1del111) were expressed in rat hepatoma and cells processed for immunofluorescence. Compared with wild-type

protein, no difference was observed in the subcellular localization of SPF1S289A mutant, as it remained in the cytosol (Fig 4.4 E-H). Interestingly, the Golgi domain deletion mutant, SPF1del111, localized to large vesicular formations around the nucleus, but which appear to be different from Golgi (Fig 4.4 I-L). A similar result was found for the protein-tyrosine phosphatase PTP-MEG2, in which a deletion mutant consisting of the Sec14 domain of this protein also associated with large vesicular structures surrounding the nucleus ¹⁵. This raises the possibility that the GOLD domain is not the only targeting signal on SPF, and that the Sec14 domain, assumed to be involved only in lipid binding, also contributes to the subcellular localization of these proteins. In support of this hypothesis, p45, the rat ortholog of SPF2, associates with large cytoplasmic vesicles, and this association is not disrupted by removal of the GOLD domain ⁴⁸. Together these findings suggest that SPF targeting in the cell is a complex function of multiple components of this multidomain protein.



Figure 4.4: SPF1 and it mutants expressed in McARH7777 cells. Green - HA probe; red - Golgi marker (GM130); blue - DAPI nuclear stain.

As mentioned earlier and shown in Fig. 4.3, heterologously expressed SPF protein localized to the cytosol and did not appear to move in response to any of tested treatments. Because expression from the transfected plasmid yields higher than normal levels of the protein in the cell, subcellular movement in response to various stimuli may not be evident, as the abundance of the protein may obscure the relocation of a small but important fraction of the protein. It is also possible that the very high levels of

expressed SPF protein overwhelm the cellular processing machinery, such as the phosphorylation pathway, resulting in a majority of protein that is not properly modified for activity. To address this possibility, I attempted to see where the endogenous SPF localizes. Unfortunately, McARH7777 cells express negligible amounts of SPF, which is undetectable by immunofluorescence with antibodies to SPF. Therefore, to assess localization of endogenous SPF the studies were carried out with mouse primary hepatocytes.

Antibody specific for SPF protein

Our custom-made chicken antibody against SPF was successfully used for immunoblotting, however the results from immunofluorescence studies were unsatisfactory. Various methods of fixation (4% paraformaldehyde, ice-cold methanol) and blocking (BSA, goat serum) were tested, as well as range of antibody concentrations. Despite these efforts, the background signal remained very high. The most likely reason for this appeared to be the purity of the antibody. Therefore, the antibody was purified by affinity chromatography.

Affinity chromatography takes advantage of specific binding between interacting molecules. The system for chromatographic purification is composed of a column with an immobilized ligand through which the mixture to be purified is passed. Only molecules having specific binding affinity to the ligand stay on the column and are later eluted. The appropriate ligand for antibody purification in this instance is SPF, and so large quantities of recombinant SPF1 are needed. As the previously purified protein exhibited some contamination when evaluated by SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis, the protein was further purified by gel filtration. Gel filtration, also called size-exclusion chromatography, separates molecules based on size. Multiple fractions were collected, analyzed by electrophoresis, and those containing only the 46-kD protein were pooled, resulting in significantly improved purity of the SPF1

preparation. For affinity chromatography the recombinant SPF protein was immobilized to a SulfoLink (SulfoLink, Pierce) column, taking advantage of free sulfhydryl bonds (cysteines) on SPF. The chicken SPF primary antibody was applied to the column, washed with several volumes of buffer, and eluted with a low pH glycine buffer and subsequently neutralized by addition of 1M Tris-HCl, pH 8.5, before use.

Affinity-purified chicken SPF antibody was tested by immunostaining of SPF-transfected cells. There was a marked increase in signal from transfected cells compared with signal obtained with non-purified antibody, however the background remained high in cells that did not express the transfected protein, and therefore unsatisfactory (Fig. 4.5).



Figure 4.5: Affinity-purified chicken SPF antibody shows significant background in **immunofluorescent staining.** Hepatoma cells transfected with SPF1-HA protein and stained with: A, affinity-purified chicken SPF antibody; B, HA probe; C, DAPI nuclear stain; and D, merge of A-C.

Subsequently new commercial antibodies to SPF became available. I tested goat polyclonal SPF α/β (N-18) and SPF α/β (N-14) antibodies (Santa Cruz Biotechnology, Inc.); however, they showed a very weak and not very specific signal on immunoblots. Fortunately, rabbit anti-human Sec14l2 antibody (GenWay Biotech, Inc.) yielded a strong and very specific signal on immunoblots as well as in immunofluorescent staining.

Before isolation of primary hepatocytes the expression of SPF in mouse and rat liver was confirmed by immunoblotting. A reasonable amount of protein was detected in both mouse and rat liver cytosol. This also demonstrated that the GenWay Sec14l2 antibody against human SPF detects proteins of the same size from mouse and rat (Fig. 4.6).



Figure 4.6: SPF protein is present in rat and mouse liver cytosol. Immunoblot developed with rabbit anti-human Sec14l2 antibody (GenWay Biotech, Inc.).

Mouse primary hepatocytes were prepared as described in the Materials and Methods section and plated on collagen-coated coverslips. The next day the cells were fixed and processed for immunofluorescent staining (Fig.4.7).

It should be noted that there was no negative control in studies on primary hepatocytes, as all were expected to express SPF. However, the conditions for immunofluorescence were optimized earlier on McARH7777 cells, where endogenous SPF protein could not be detected.



Figure 4.7: Endogenous mouse SPF protein (red) localizes to the cytosol. Red, Sec14l2 antibody signal; blue, DAPI nuclear stain.

It appeared that endogenous SPF protein, as anticipated, is present ubiquitously in the cytosol. To see if endogenous SPF protein moves in response to the treatments described earlier, cells were treated for 3 hours with dbcAMP, PKAi (inhibitor), brefeldin A, or α -tocopherol and processed for immunostaining.



Figure 4.8: SPF protein localizes to cytosol in mouse primary hepatocytes and does not relocate in response to various treatments. Treatments: A) none; B) 0.2 mM dbcAMP; C) 0.1 μ M PKAi; D) 100 nM brefeldin A; E) 50 μ M α -tocopherol. Green –Sec14l2 antibody signal; blue –DAPI nuclear stain.

Analysis by confocal microscopy showed no evident change in protein subcellular localization (Fig. 4.8).

Summarizing, I conclude that SPF either does not translocate in response to these treatments or that perhaps only a small portion of the protein was responsible for the effect on cholesterol synthesis and only this protein relocates within the cell, and that this limited movement cannot be detected by immunostaining. Perhaps subcellular fractionation and subsequent analysis of SPF content after these treatments would reveal relative changes in localization, as well as the membrane structures involved.

This finding was a bit surprising, as the effect of these treatments clearly affected the ability of SPF to stimulate cholesterol synthesis ^{21; 22}. It would appear that SPF is relatively highly expressed in hepatocytes, an observation consistent with early enzymology studies that demonstrated an abundance of this protein in cytosol. The abundance of this protein would obscure subcellular changes in a small proportion of the protein.

Copyright © Elzbieta Ilona Stolarczyk 2009

Chapter 5 : REGULATION OF SPF EXPRESSION IN RAT HEPATOMA CELLS

INTRODUCTION

*Shibata et al.*²⁴ found that plasma lipids levels were unchanged in SPF-null mice, despite elevated levels of HMG-CoA synthase and squalene monooxygenase in liver. However, during fasting plasma cholesterol levels decreased significantly in SPF-null mice, but not in wild-type mice. Fasting decreased hepatic cholesterol synthesis in both wild-type and SPF-null animals, with a greater reduction in SPF-null mice. The decrease in cholesterol synthesis likely resulted from a pronounced decrease in the expression of the cholesterolgenic enzymes HMG-CoA synthase, HMG-CoA reductase, and squalene monooxygenase in both wild-type and knockout mice. Notably, in fasted wild-type mice, expression of SPF mRNA and protein was elevated.

The data from SPF-null mice strongly suggests that SPF is upregulated upon fasting to compensate, at least partially, for the decrease in cholesterol synthesis. The reason for this compensatory increase is not clear. In agreement with these observations, previous data from our lab have shown that SPF activity was decreased by about 50% in rats fed high fat diet and returned to normal upon return to normal chow diet ²¹. The decrease in expression was suggested to explain the decrease in SPF activity in liver preparations from the high-fat diet animals, since activity could not be increased by *in vitro* phosphorylation ²¹, which this laboratory has shown to be able to activate SPF ^{21; 22}. These results are in agreement with studies from SPF-null mice and suggest that upregulation of SPF expression during fasting might be attributed, at least in part, to removal of lipids from the diet.
The gene that was deleted in SPF-null mice is a mouse SPF (mSec14l2), an ortholog of the human SPF1 gene (hSec14l2) with 93% identity. The studies described below were conducted in rat hepatoma cells, in which there are two established rat orthologs of SPF: rat SPF (rSec14l2, with 94% identity to human SPF1) and rat SPF-like protein (rSec14l3/p45, with 97% identity to human SPF2).

SREBPs, Sterol Regulatory Element Binding Proteins, are membrane-bound transcription factors that are master regulators of fatty acid and cholesterol biosynthesis. SREBP-1a regulates enzymes responsible for biosynthesis of fatty acids and cholesterol, SREBP-1c is specific for fatty acid biosynthesis, and SREBP-2 regulates cholesterol biosynthesis. While SREBPs activate the transcription of genes responsible for sterol and fatty acid synthesis in response to low levels of these lipids, the LXR-dependent regulatory pathway is activated in response to elevated cellular sterols. Oxysterols, which are oxidized derivatives of cholesterol, are the known endogenous ligands for the LXR nuclear receptor. The LXRα receptor increases the expression of cholesterol efflux genes and decreases cholesterol uptake and synthesis by suppressing SREBP activation, and accelerating HMG-CoA reductase degradation ⁴⁹.

The following studies were undertaken to gain insight into the mechanisms that govern the expression of SPF proteins.

Experimental Rationale

Fasting decreased hepatic cholesterol synthesis in both wild-type and SPF-deficient animals with a greater reduction in knockout mice ²⁴. The decrease in the cholesterol synthesis rate was accompanied by a pronounced decrease in the expression of cholesterolgenic enzymes: HMG-CoA synthase, HMG-CoA reductase, and squalene monooxygenase. Expression of the SPF transcript and protein was elevated in wild-type mice during starvation. I hypothesized that serum deprivation similarly will induce expression of SPF in a hepatoma cell line, mimicking starvation in mice, facilitating studies on the regulation of SPF in a cell culture system. Putative nuclear receptors regulating SPF expression also will be identified.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Materials

Cholesterol, hydroxypropyl-β-cyclodextrin, 25-hydroxycholesterol, 22(S)-hydroxycholesterol, and GW3965 were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich, Inc.

Preparation of cholesterol: cyclodextrin complexes. Cholesterol was dissolved in ethanol (5 mg/ml) and 1 ml of that solution was dried under liquid nitrogen. Two ml of 5% hydroxypropyl- β -cyclodextrin solution in water was added to the cholesterol and the mixture was sonicated in a water bath at room temperature until the solution was clarified.

Cell culture

McARH7777 rat hepatoma cells were cultured in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (Gibco) supplemented with 1x Penicillin-Streptomycin mixture (Invitrogen) and 10% Fetal Bovine Serum (Invitrogen), unless otherwise stated.

Preparation of Lipid-Deficient Serum. One volume of Fetal Bovine Serum (Invitrogen) was mixed with one volume of diethyl ether and vortexed vigorously. The ether fraction containing the lipids was removed and the delipidated serum was used for cell culture.

RT-PCR

Total RNA was isolated from cells with use of TRIzol reagent (Invitrogen) and the concentration of RNA was measured spectrophotometrically with use of the Nanodrop instrument (Thermo Scientific). The reverse transcriptase reaction and real-time PCR were performed as described in Materials and Methods in Chapter 2. Gene-specific primers for real-time PCR were designed using ABI Prism Primer Express software

(Applied Biosystems). The sequences of the primers are displayed in Table 5.1. Results were analyzed with use of Comparative C_t method ⁵⁰.

Gene	Primers
B actin	Fw: 5'-CCGTGAAAAGATGACCCAGATC-3'
	Rv: 5'-AATGCCAGTGGTACGACCAGA-3'
HMGcr	Fw: 5'- TCATCCTCACGATAACCCGGT-3'
	Rv: 5'- GGCCGGCAATACCCAAAAT-3'
rSec14l2	Fw: 5'- AATTCCCACATGGTCCCTGAG-3'
	Rv: 5'- ACTTTCTTGGCATGGATGAAGC-3'
rSec14l3	Fw: 5'- CAGTATGAGCACTCGGTGCAGA-3'
	Rv: 5'- GCTCCATCAGATGAGAACTGCC-3'

Table 5.1: Gene-specific primers used in real-time PCR.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

As fasting up-regulated the hepatic expression of SPF in mice²⁴, I wanted to generate an in vitro model using cultured hepatoma cells. To do this I started by changing the concentration of glucose in the media and looking at its effect on SPF and HMG-CoA reductase expression in treated cells. McARH7777 rat hepatoma cells are usually cultured in high glucose (4.5 g/L) media; I cultured these cells at a low concentration of glucose (1 g/L). After 48 hours RNA was isolated from the cells and the expression of HMG-CoA reductase and the two rat SPF genes (Sec14l2 and Sec14l3) was assessed by real-time PCR. Although I anticipated an increase in SPF expression when the glucose concentration was reduced (as is seen in fasting), lowering the glucose concentration in the media had no significant effect on mRNA levels for HMG-CoA reductase or either SPF gene; indeed, a trend toward a decrease in expression was seen (Fig. 5.1, orange bars). Since this data showed that a reduction in the glucose concentration does not result in the upregulation of SPF genes, I concluded that these conditions may not appropriately mimic the fasting state in mice. This led to the conclusion that fasting may alter other components of serum, including hormones and other nutrients; changes in the level of these components may be responsible for the changes seen in SPF expression in fasted animals. Since very little is known about SPF regulation, and serum has multiple components, I decided to explore the role of serum in SPF expression. When cultured hepatoma cells were maintained in serum-free medium for 48 h the expression of both rat SPF genes was increased while HMG-CoA reductase expression remained unchanged (Fig. 5.1, red bars). The increase in SPF transcripts was less than 100%, but statistically significant. Interestingly, when cells were cultured in low glucose and serum-free media the increase in both SPF transcripts was more dramatic (Fig.5.1, brown bars), indicating that removal of glucose potentiates the effect serum.

This result supported the hypothesis that the increases in SPF expression induced by fasting might be mediated by changes in serum components.



Figure 5.1: Serum removal results in an increase in the expression of SPF proteins in rat hepatoma cells; this effect is potentiated by removal of glucose. Cells were cultured for 48 h in high or low glucose, with or without FBS. HG, high glucose; LG, low glucose; FBS, fetal bovine serum; HMGcr, HMG-CoA reductase. Statistical analysis performed by ANOVA, (*) p<0.05; (**) p<0.0001; N, number of experiments run in duplicate.

To address this possibility, I have tried to identify the components of serum that could alter SPF gene expression. Since SPF is known to upregulate cholesterol synthesis, I hypothesized that a decrease in serum cholesterol levels might upregulate SPF expression. As expected, when hepatoma cells were cultured in medium containing serum from which the majority of lipids had been removed (lipid-deficient serum, LDS), the expression of both SPF genes and HMG-CoA reductase was increased, although the increase was not statistically significant (Fig. 5.2).



Figure 5.2: Effect of delipidated serum on HMG-CoA reductase and SPF gene expression. Cells were cultured for 48 h in high-glucose media in the presence of normal (FBS) or delipidated (LDS) serum; n = 5.

By the same logic, since high cholesterol levels inhibit cholesterol synthesis through negative feedback regulation, it was anticipated that SPF and HMG-CoA reductase expression would be suppressed upon supplementation of the media with a mixture of cholesterol:25-hydroxycholesterol (10:1 $\mu g/ml$). Both cholesterol 25and hydroxycholesterol downregulate cholesterol biosynthesis via inhibition of SREBP processing ⁵¹. Indeed, as shown in Fig. 5.3, supplementation of the media with a mixture of cholesterol:25-hydroxycholesterol resulted in a decrease in the expression of HMG-CoA reductase and both SPF genes by up to 50%. These results indicate that the expression of both SPF genes depends on cholesterol availability, and suggest that the upregulation of SPF gene expression upon serum deprivation may result, at least in part, from the loss of cholesterol in the medium.



Figure 5.3: Sterol supplementation decreases SPF expression. Cells were cultured for 48 h in high-glucose media in the presence or absence of FBS and a cholesterol/25-hydroxycholesterol mixture. FBS, fetal bovine serum; 25-HC, 25-hydroxycholesterol; n = 2.

As shown above, a mixture of cholesterol:25-hydroxycholesterol decreased the expression of SPF genes in the presence and absence of serum. Since both of these compounds inhibit the SREBP pathway but 25-hydroxycholesterol is also a ligand for LXR receptor⁵², these results raised the question as to whether SPF gene expression is regulated by SREBP or LXR. To test the role of the LXR in SPF regulation, a specific LXR agonist, GW3965, was added to cells cultured in the absence of serum. If LXR activation suppresses SPF expression the addition of an LXR agonist should prevent or reverse the induction of SPF gene expression by serum deprivation. However, as shown in Fig. 5.4, the LXR agonist was unable to prevent the increase in SPF expression in these cells. This

result suggests that cholesterol (and 25-hydroxycholesterol) act through the SREBP pathway, rather than the LXR pathway, to suppress SPF expression.



Figure 5.4: LXR ligand does not change the effect of serum and glucose removal on SPF expression. Cells were cultured in low-glucose media. FBS-fetal bovine serum; GW3965, LXR receptor agonist; n = 2.

Summarizing, my studies in rat hepatoma cells have shown that expression of both rat SPF genes is upregulated in response to serum removal, which is potentiated by removal of glucose. Also, my studies have shown that lipids, most likely cholesterol, are the likely components of serum whose absence contributes to the increase in SPF transcripts. These results are consistent with a role for SPF in upregulating cholesterol synthesis in hepatoma cells.

To further explore the effect of serum and glucose removal on SPF expression, I attempted to identify transcription factors that regulate the transcription of the SPF

genes. LXR, SREBP and/or PPARα were considered to be likely candidates. My studies show that LXR is most likely not the transcription factor governing expression of SPF genes in my cell culture system, as addition of an LXR agonist did not suppress SPF expression. The possibility of regulation via SREBP remains to be tested. Moreover, the possibility that SPF gene expression is regulated differently in cell culture than in a whole animal must also be considered.

Copyright © Elzbieta Ilona Stolarczyk 2009

Chapter 6 : SUMMARY OF RESEARCH

SPF is a cytosolic protein known to stimulate cholesterol biosynthesis. HMG-CoA reductase, squalene monooxygenase and oxidosqualene cyclase are the three enzymes of the cholesterol biosynthetic pathway that are known to be stimulated by SPF. The mechanism of SPF action is not yet well understood. More recent studies have revealed that there are three highly similar SPF genes in the human genome. They encode three homologous proteins: SPF1, SPF2 and SPF3. The protein that has been studied the most to date is SPF1. Little is known about the expression of the other two SPF proteins and nothing is known about their function. To gain insight into possible functions for these proteins, I utilized three different approaches to determine which tissues express SPF genes. In all, over 75 tissues were screened for expression of SPF mRNA, using highly sensitive probes designed to detect each SPF gene transcript with high specificity. SPF expression was most evident in liver, stomach, and mammary tissue, with levels in liver being at least 50-fold higher than those found in other tissues. My studies further show that, of the three SPF transcripts, SPF1 is the most abundant, followed by approximately 20-fold lower expression of SPF3 and negligible expression of SPF2. Although I had hoped to uncover differential expression of these genes in various tissues suggestive of functional differences, the expression patterns did not support this hypothesis. In all tissues where SPF was present, SPF1 expression dominated, suggesting that SPF2 and SPF3 were either non-functional, of marginal importance, or were expressed only in specific conditions or developmental stages. Further studies will be needed to identify any such conditions.

The SPF2 transcript could only be detected in human liver and its level was very low when compared with SPF1 and SPF3. Full-length SPF2 could not be cloned and

therefore I was unable to assess its ability to stimulate cholesterol synthesis. The fact that p45 protein, a rat ortholog of human SPF2, was able to stimulate cholesterol synthesis ³⁸, suggests that human SPF2 might have similar ability. This question remains to be answered in future studies. However, given the negligible expression levels in all tested tissues, it is reasonable to discount SPF2 as a factor contributing to the stimulatory effect of SPF on cholesterol biosynthesis in liver. The possibility remains that SPF2 is expressed in other, as yet untested tissues, or that its expression is induced in response to certain stimuli or conditions. Both of these possibilities remain to be My studies revealed that human SPF3 protein is capable of stimulating tested. cholesterol synthesis in cell culture, although it appears somewhat less effective than SPF1, and is unable to stimulate squalene monooxygenase activity in microsomal preparations. This finding suggests that SPF3 may act only on HMG-CoA reductase, in contrast to SPF1, which stimulates both squalene monooxygenase and HMG-CoA reductase, as well as oxidosqualene cyclase. The possibility that SPF3 activates HMG-CoA reductase in vitro remains to be determined. Overall, the limited expression of SPF3 in all tissues including liver suggests that, like SPF2, the protein does not play a significant role in regulating cholesterol synthesis, although it remains possible that its expression is upregulated, perhaps in select tissues, in response to environmental, hormonal, or developmental stimuli. In the absence of such data, I conclude that SPF1 should be considered as a main human SPF homolog responsible for stimulating cholesterol synthesis in liver.

SPF was shown to require phosphorylation and the presence of Golgi structures in order to stimulate cholesterol synthesis in rat hepatoma cells ²². It was hypothesized that, once activated by phosphorylation, SPF associates with some membranous compartment, perhaps the endoplasmic reticulum (ER), in order to stimulate the enzymes of the cholesterolgenic pathway, which are membrane-bound proteins. I anticipated that in response to protein kinase A-mediated phosphorylation induced by adding dbcAMP to rat hepatoma cells, SPF will associate with some membrane compartment and that this change in localization would be captured by my immunocytochemistry studies; by comparison, the phosphorylation mutant SPF1S289A, which cannot be phosphorylated, and the wild-type protein in cells treated with a PKA inhibitor, will fail to translocate. However, my studies in rat hepatoma cells revealed no noticeable change in protein localization inside the cell in response to these treatments.

Disruption of Golgi by brefeldin A in rat hepatoma cells was shown to abolish the stimulatory effect of heterologously expressed SPF protein on cholesterol synthesis ²². Similarly, SPF protein lacking the GOLD domain (SPF1del111), thought to mediate Golgi interactions, was also unable to stimulate cholesterol synthesis ²². I anticipated that these effects would be reflected by changes in protein cellular localization. Treatment with brefeldin A did result in disruption of Golgi structures, but no change in SPF protein localization was observed. Transfections with a GOLD domain mutant resulted in a protein localizing mainly to the large vesicular structures around nuclei, different from Golgi, suggesting that remaining Sec14 domain may contain signal targeting to these vesicular structures.

To rule out the possibility that the change in subcellular localization could not be detected due to the abundance of overexpressed protein in transfected cells, or because the recombinant protein behaves differently than the endogenous one, I decided to test the effect of the above treatments on the endogenous SPF. To do so I isolated primary hepatocytes from mice and performed these treatments on these cells; once again, however, I did not observe a change in the SPF subcellular location. These results led to the conclusion that SPF either does not translocate in response to these treatments or that perhaps only a small portion of the protein was responsible for the effect on cholesterol synthesis and only this protein relocates within the cell, and that is why the movement cannot be detected by immunostaining. Perhaps subcellular fractionation and subsequent analysis of SPF content after these treatments would reveal relative changes in localization, as well as the membrane structures involved.

SPF-null mice had previously been shown to develop normally, and their plasma lipids are unchanged ²⁴. However when tested by food restriction, plasma cholesterol levels decreased significantly in these mice, but not in wild-type mice. Interestingly, in starved wild-type mice expression of mouse SPF protein was elevated. These findings strongly suggested that SPF is a "buffering" protein, responsible for maintaining plasma cholesterol levels during short-term starvation²⁴. In my studies in rat hepatoma cells I found that expression of both rat SPF genes is upregulated in response to serum removal, which is potentiated by removal of glucose. This effect of glucose is puzzling; glucose removal potentiated the effect of serum removal on SPF gene expression, but glucose removal alone did not significantly increase SPF expression. My studies have shown that lipids/cholesterol are the likely components of serum whose absence contributes to the increase in SPF transcripts; first, when hepatoma cells were cultured in delipidated serum SPF transcripts were increased; and second, supplementation of media with a mixture of cholesterol:25-hydroxycholesterol decreased the levels of SPF and HMG-CoA reductase transcripts. These results are consistent with a role for SPF in upregulating cholesterol synthesis in hepatoma cells. I also investigated the possible role of insulin in SPF regulation, but media supplementation with insulin did not appear to alter SPF gene expression.

To further explore the effect of serum and glucose removal on SPF expression, I attempted to identify transcription factors that regulate the transcription of SPF genes. LXR, SREBP and/or PPARα were considered to be likely candidates. Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor alpha (PPARα) was recognized as critical regulatory element directing cellular responses to fasting ^{25; 26}. In fact, *Shibata at al.* ²⁴ showed that during starvation SPF expression is elevated in wild-type mice, but not in PPARα-null mice, suggesting that PPARα acts upstream of SPF expression. I have begun to test this hypothesis in our cell culture model by treating cells with PPARα agonists, which were expected to induce SPF gene expression. Preliminary data (not shown) did not support this hypothesis, but further investigation is needed to rule out this hypothesis

completely. The possibility that SPF gene expression is regulated differently in cell culture than in a whole animal must also be considered. My studies show that LXR is most likely not the transcription factor governing expression of SPF genes in my cell culture system, as addition of an LXR agonist did not suppress SPF expression. The possibility of regulation via SREBP remains to be tested.

The mechanism of the SPF stimulatory effect on cholesterol synthesis remains to be elucidated. The fact that this protein stimulates three different enzymes of the cholesterolgenic pathway implies some general mechanism. All three enzymes are membrane-bound proteins and it was demonstrated earlier that, at least for squalene monooxygenase, SPF does not stimulate the solubilized enzyme, but only the membrane-bound form, suggesting some membrane-dependent event ⁷. Notably, SPF has two relevant domains: Sec14, a lipid binding domain, and a GOLD domain, proposed to mediate protein-protein interactions involved in Golgi function. It is predicted that such two-domain proteins may serve as adaptor proteins in assembling protein complexes on membranes, or perhaps help in cargo packaging into membrane vesicles ⁴⁸. In fact, p45 protein, the rat homolog of human SPF2, was shown to be concentrated in secretory vesicles in COS-1 cells and secreted from the cell⁴⁸. In further support of this contention is the observation that the most likely ligand for SPF, phosphatidylinositol (PI), is a lipid that resides in the membrane, and therefore to bind this ligand SPF has to associate with phosphatidylinositol-rich membranes. Since PI was identified as the most likely ligand for SPF²⁷, and there are several phosphorylated derivatives of PI in the cell, it should be further explored whether one of these phosphorylated PIs has a higher affinity for SPF than PI. In support of this hypothesis lies the finding that $PI(3,4,5)P_3$ was identified as a lipid ligand of rat p45 protein ⁴⁸. Identification of a true physiologic ligand would be helpful in further investigations on the mechanism of action of SPF.

Also, the link of SPF protein with phosphatidylinositol-3-kinase (PIP3K) remains to be explored. SPF was earlier coprecipitated with PI3K and was shown to decrease the

activity of this kinase ³¹. Later, another study showed that SPF inhibits prostate cancer cell growth via inhibition of PI3K/Akt pathway ⁴⁰. It would be interesting to test whether overexpression of SPF in hepatocellular carcinoma cells would also result in inhibition of cell division. Indeed, SPF expression in rat hepatoma cells is very low when compared with normal liver tissue, which is consistent with this hypothesis. Presently it is unclear if the SPF inhibitory effect on the PI3K pathway is linked to its ability to stimulate cholesterol synthesis; further studies in this direction are warranted.

In the light of current knowledge on SPF, it is reasonable to think that SPF participates in the assembly or trafficking of some membrane vesicles, perhaps containing substrates for the enzymes it stimulates; or by influencing the properties of the ER membrane in such a way that it creates more favorable conditions for the catalyzed reactions to occur. It is also possible that the stimulatory effect on cholesterol synthesis is not the primary function of SPF, but rather a "collateral" effect of another action. Also, the stimulatory effect on cholesterol synthesis was shown so far only in liver-derived cells, making it possible that it is the only site of this type of SPF activity. Therefore, given the several different reports on SPF function, including its ability to inhibit the PI3K pathway ^{31;40}, its ability to retain vitamin E inside the cell ⁴⁰, and its ability to stimulate enzymes of cholesterol biosynthetic pathway, it would be reasonable to think that perhaps the function of SPF is cell-type specific, and depends on the availability of other proteins with which SPF interacts.

Copyright © Elzbieta Ilona Stolarczyk 2009

REFERENCES

- Bloom M, M.O., The evolution of membranes, in *Handbook of Biological Physics*, Vol. I: Structure and Dynamics of Membranes Amsterdam, Elsevier Science B.V., 1995, 65.
- 2. **Mouritsen, O.G. and Zuckermann, M.J.,** What's so special about cholesterol?, *Lipids*, 39(11), 1101, 2004.
- 3. **Tchen, T.T. and Bloch, K.,** On the conversion of squalene to lanosterol in vitro, *J Biol Chem*, 226(2), 921, 1957.
- 4. **Tchen, T.T. and Bloch, K.,** On the mechanism of enzymatic cyclization of squalene, *J Biol Chem*, 226(2), 931, 1957.
- 5. Yamamoto, S. and Bloch, K., Studies on squalene epoxidase of rat liver, *J Biol Chem*, 245(7), 1670, 1970.
- 6. **Tai, H.H. and Bloch, K.,** Squalene epoxidase of rat liver, *J Biol Chem*, 247(12), 3767, 1972.
- 7. **Ono, T. and Bloch, K.,** Solubilization and partial characterization of rat liver squalene epoxidase, *J Biol Chem*, 250(4), 1571, 1975.
- 8. **Caras, I.W. and Bloch, K.,** Effects of a supernatant protein activator on microsomal squalene-2,3-oxide-lanosterol cyclase, *J Biol Chem*, 254(23), 11816, 1979.
- 9. **Caras, I.W., Friedlander, E.J. and Bloch, K.,** Interactions of supernatant protein factor with components of the microsomal squalene epoxidase system. Binding of supernatant protein factor to anionic phospholipids, *J Biol Chem*, 255(8), 3575, 1980.
- 10. Friedlander, E.J., Caras, I.W., Lin, L.F. and Bloch, K., Supernatant protein factor facilitates intermembrane transfer of squalene, *J Biol Chem*, 255(17), 8042, 1980.
- 11. **Zimmer, S., Stocker, A., Sarbolouki, M.N., Spycher, S.E., Sassoon, J. and Azzi, A.,** A novel human tocopherol-associated protein: cloning, in vitro expression, and characterization, *J Biol Chem*, 275(33), 25672, 2000.
- 12. Shibata, N., Arita, M., Misaki, Y., Dohmae, N., Takio, K., Ono, T., Inoue, K. and Arai, H., Supernatant protein factor, which stimulates the conversion of squalene to lanosterol, is a cytosolic squalene transfer protein and enhances cholesterol biosynthesis, *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 98(5), 2244, 2001.
- 13. **Porter, T.D.,** Supernatant protein factor and tocopherol-associated protein: an unexpected link between cholesterol synthesis and vitamin E (review), *J Nutr Biochem*, 14(1), 3, 2003.
- 14. **Stocker, A., Tomizaki, T., Schulze-Briese, C. and Baumann, U.,** Crystal structure of the human supernatant protein factor, *Structure*, 10(11), 1533, 2002.

- 15. Saito, K., Williams, S., Bulankina, A., Honing, S. and Mustelin, T., Association of protein-tyrosine phosphatase MEG2 via its Sec14p homology domain with vesicle-trafficking proteins, *J Biol Chem*, 282(20), 15170, 2007.
- 16. **Sohda, M., Misumi, Y., Yamamoto, A., Yano, A., Nakamura, N. and Ikehara, Y.,** Identification and characterization of a novel Golgi protein, GCP60, that interacts with the integral membrane protein giantin, *J Biol Chem*, 276(48), 45298, 2001.
- 17. National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI online database).
- 18. **Anantharaman, V. and Aravind, L.,** The GOLD domain, a novel protein module involved in Golgi function and secretion, *Genome Biol*, 3(5), research0023, 2002.
- 19. Saito, K., Tautz, L. and Mustelin, T., The lipid-binding SEC14 domain, *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1771(6), 719, 2007.
- 20. **Goldstein, J.L., Glossip, D., Nayak, S. and Kornfeld, K.,** The CRAL/TRIO and GOLD domain protein CGR-1 promotes induction of vulval cell fates in Caenorhabditis elegans and interacts genetically with the Ras signaling pathway, *Genetics*, 172(2), 929, 2006.
- 21. Singh, D.K., Mokashi, V., Elmore, C.L. and Porter, T.D., Phosphorylation of supernatant protein factor enhances its ability to stimulate microsomal squalene monooxygenase, *J Biol Chem*, 278(8), 5646, 2003.
- 22. **Mokashi, V. and Porter, T.D.,** Supernatant protein factor requires phosphorylation and interaction with Golgi to stimulate cholesterol synthesis in hepatoma cells, *Arch Biochem Biophys*, 435(1), 175, 2005.
- 23. **Mokashi, V., Singh, D.K. and Porter, T.D.,** Supernatant protein factor stimulates HMG-CoA reductase in cell culture and in vitro, *Arch Biochem Biophys*, 433(2), 474, 2005.
- 24. Shibata, N., Jishage, K., Arita, M., Watanabe, M., Kawase, Y., Nishikawa, K., Natori, Y., Inoue, H., Shimano, H., Yamada, N., Tsujimoto, M. and Arai, H., Regulation of hepatic cholesterol synthesis by a novel protein (SPF) that accelerates cholesterol biosynthesis, *Faseb J*, 20(14), 2642, 2006.
- Kersten, S., Seydoux, J., Peters, J.M., Gonzalez, F.J., Desvergne, B. and Wahli, W., Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor alpha mediates the adaptive response to fasting, *J Clin Invest*, 103(11), 1489, 1999.
- 26. **Leone, T.C., Weinheimer, C.J. and Kelly, D.P.,** A critical role for the peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor alpha (PPARalpha) in the cellular fasting response: the PPARalpha-null mouse as a model of fatty acid oxidation disorders, *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 96(13), 7473, 1999.
- 27. Panagabko, C., Morley, S., Hernandez, M., Cassolato, P., Gordon, H., Parsons, R., Manor, D. and Atkinson, J., Ligand specificity in the CRAL-TRIO protein family, *Biochemistry*, 42(21), 6467, 2003.
- 28. **Stocker, A., Zimmer, S., Spycher, S.E. and Azzi, A.,** Identification of a novel cytosolic tocopherol-binding protein: structure, specificity, and tissue distribution, *IUBMB Life*, 48(1), 49, 1999.

- 29. **Stocker, A. and Baumann, U.,** Supernatant protein factor in complex with RRRalpha-tocopherylquinone: a link between oxidized Vitamin E and cholesterol biosynthesis, *J Mol Biol*, 332(4), 759, 2003.
- 30. **Kempna, P., Cipollone, R., Villacorta, L., Ricciarelli, R. and Zingg, J.M.,** Isoelectric point mobility shift assay for rapid screening of charged and uncharged ligands bound to proteins, *IUBMB Life*, 55(2), 103, 2003.
- 31. Kempna, P., Zingg, J.M., Ricciarelli, R., Hierl, M., Saxena, S. and Azzi, A., Cloning of novel human SEC14p-like proteins: ligand binding and functional properties, *Free Radic Biol Med*, 34(11), 1458, 2003.
- 32. **Kaempf-Rotzoll, D.E., Traber, M.G. and Arai, H.,** Vitamin E and transfer proteins, *Curr Opin Lipidol*, 14(3), 249, 2003.
- 33. IUPAC-IUB Joint Commission on Biochemical Nomenclature (JCBN). Nomenclature of tocopherols and related compounds. Recommendations 1981, *Eur J Biochem*, 123(3), 473, 1982.
- 34. Yamauchi, J., Iwamoto, T., Kida, S., Masushige, S., Yamada, K. and Esashi, T., Tocopherol-associated protein is a ligand-dependent transcriptional activator, *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 285(2), 295, 2001.
- 35. **Parker, R.A., Pearce, B.C., Clark, R.W., Gordon, D.A. and Wright, J.J.,** Tocotrienols regulate cholesterol production in mammalian cells by posttranscriptional suppression of 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-coenzyme A reductase, *J Biol Chem*, 268(15), 11230, 1993.
- 36. **Song, B.L. and DeBose-Boyd, R.A.,** Insig-dependent ubiquitination and degradation of 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl coenzyme a reductase stimulated by delta- and gamma-tocotrienols, *J Biol Chem*, 281(35), 25054, 2006.
- 37. Valastyan, S., Thakur, V., Johnson, A., Kumar, K. and Manor, D., Novel transcriptional activities of vitamin E: inhibition of cholesterol biosynthesis, *Biochemistry*, 47(2), 744, 2008.
- 38. **Mokashi, V., Singh, D.K. and Porter, T.D.,** Rat supernatant protein factor-like protein stimulates squalene monooxygenase and is activated by protein kinase *A, Biochem Biophys Res Commun,* 316(3), 688, 2004.
- 39. The effect of vitamin E and beta carotene on the incidence of lung cancer and other cancers in male smokers. The Alpha-Tocopherol, Beta Carotene Cancer Prevention Study Group, *N Engl J Med*, 330(15), 1029, 1994.
- 40. Ni, J., Wen, X., Yao, J., Chang, H.C., Yin, Y., Zhang, M., Xie, S., Chen, M., Simons, B., Chang, P., di Sant'Agnese, A., Messing, E.M. and Yeh, S., Tocopherolassociated protein suppresses prostate cancer cell growth by inhibition of the phosphoinositide 3-kinase pathway, *Cancer Res*, 65(21), 9807, 2005.
- 41. Wen, X.Q., Li, X.J., Su, Z.L., Liu, Y., Zhou, X.F., Cai, Y.B., Huang, W.T. and Gao, X., Reduced expression of alpha-tocopherol-associated protein is associated with tumor cell proliferation and the increased risk of prostate cancer recurrence, *Asian J Androl*, 9(2), 206, 2007.

- 42. Ye, X., Ji, C., Yin, G., Tang, R., Zeng, L., Gu, S., Ying, K., Xie, Y., Zhao, R.C. and Mao, Y., Characterization of a human Sec14-like protein cDNA SEC14L3 highly homologous to human SPF/TAP, *Mol Biol Rep*, 31(1), 59, 2004.
- 43. Zingg, J.M., Kempna, P., Paris, M., Reiter, E., Villacorta, L., Cipollone, R., Munteanu, A., De Pascale, C., Menini, S., Cueff, A., Arock, M., Azzi, A. and Ricciarelli, R., Characterization of three human sec14p-like proteins: alpha-Tocopherol transport activity and expression pattern in tissues, *Biochimie*, 2008.
- 44. **Gogarten, J.P. and Olendzenski, L.,** Orthologs, paralogs and genome comparisons, *Curr Opin Genet Dev*, 9(6), 630, 1999.
- 45. **Barnes, M.R.,** *Bioinformatics for geneticists : a bioinformatics primer for the analysis of genetic data*, John Wiley & Sons, Chichester, England ; Hoboken, NJ, 2007.
- 46. **Mokashi, V.,** Supernatant Protein Factor: insights into its regulation and ability to stimulate cholesterol synthesis *in vitro* and in cell culture, in *Department of Toxicology*, University of Kentucky, 2004.
- 47. **Ikeda, T., Murakami, M. and Funaba, M.,** Expression of tocopherol-associated protein in mast cells, *Clin Diagn Lab Immunol*, 11(6), 1189, 2004.
- 48. Merkulova, M., Huynh, H., Radchenko, V., Saito, K., Lipkin, V., Shuvaeva, T. and Mustelin, T., Secretion of the mammalian Sec14p-like phosphoinositide-binding p45 protein, *FEBS J*, 272(21), 5595, 2005.
- 49. **Gill, S., Chow, R. and Brown, A.J.,** Sterol regulators of cholesterol homeostasis and beyond: the oxysterol hypothesis revisited and revised, *Prog Lipid Res*, 47(6), 391, 2008.
- 50. Livak, K.J. and Schmittgen, T.D., Analysis of relative gene expression data using real-time quantitative PCR and the 2(-Delta Delta C(T)) Method, *Methods*, 25(4), 402, 2001.
- 51. Adams, C.M., Reitz, J., De Brabander, J.K., Feramisco, J.D., Li, L., Brown, M.S. and Goldstein, J.L., Cholesterol and 25-hydroxycholesterol inhibit activation of SREBPs by different mechanisms, both involving SCAP and Insigs, *J Biol Chem*, 279(50), 52772, 2004.
- 52. **DeBose-Boyd, R.A., Ou, J., Goldstein, J.L. and Brown, M.S.,** Expression of sterol regulatory element-binding protein 1c (SREBP-1c) mRNA in rat hepatoma cells requires endogenous LXR ligands, *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 98(4), 1477, 2001.

VITA

PERSONAL INFROMATION

Name: Elzbieta Ilona Stolarczyk

Date of Birth: July 6, 1975

Place of Birth: Jaworzno, Poland

EDUCATION

August 2002-February 2009

Department of Pharmaceutical Sciences

College of Pharmacy, University of Kentucky

Lexington, Kentucky

October 1995-July 2000

Masters of Science in Pharmacy

Poznan University of Medical Sciences

Poznan, Poland

PROFFESIONAL POSITIONS HELD

February-October 2001

Pharmacist, Retail Pharmacy,

Puszczykowo, Poland

PUBLICATIONS

Hammell DC, Stolarczyk EI, Klausner M, Hamad MO, Crooks PA, Stinchcomb AL. -Bioconversion of naltrexone and its 3-O-alkyl-ester prodrugs in a human skin equivalent. J Pharm Sci. 2005 Apr; 94(4):828-36.

"Isolation and identification of sesquiterpene lactones from *Hellenium hoopesii*"-Master's Thesis, University of Medical Sciences, Poznan, Poland 2000

PRESENTATIONS

Elzbieta I. Stolarczyk, and Todd D. Porter. *Characterization of three genes for Supernatant Protein Factor, a putative intracellular lipid transport protein that stimulates cholesterol synthesis and suppresses cancer cell growth*. Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology (FASEB): Lipid Signaling in Cancer; Indian Wells, CA; August 2007.

Elzbieta I. Stolarczyk, Rachel E. Chitti, Li Li, Edgardo R. Ortiz Flores, Rolf J. Craven, and Todd D. Porter. *Human membrane-associated Progesterone Receptor (Hpr6) is involved in the regulation of cholesterol synthesis*. American Heart Association (AHA) Scientific Sessions; Chicago, IL; November 2006. Audra L. Stinchcomb, Dana C. Hammell, Elzbieta I. Stolarczyk, Mitch Klausner, Mohamed Hamad, Peter A. Crooks. *Naltrexone and Naltrexone-3-O-Valerate Diffusion and Bioconversion in a Human Epidermis Equivalent.* American Association of Pharmaceutical Scientists (AAPS) Annual Meeting; Salt Lake City, UT; November 2003.